
 Did you know? All Peterborough City Council's meeting agendas are available 
online or via the modern.gov app. Help us achieve our environmental protection 
aspirations and view this agenda online instead of printing it.  
 

 

AB 
 
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY 29 JUNE 2021 
1.30 PM 
 

Sand Martin House, Bittern Way, Peterborough, PE2 8TY, meeting will be 
livestreamed here: Peterborough City Council Youtube Page 
 
 
 

AGENDA  

 Page No 

 
1. Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2. Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council.  

 
 

 

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor 
 

 

4. Development Control and Enforcement Matters 
 

 

 4.1 20/01026/FUL - Land South Of Lovers Lane Sutton To Nene 
Valley Railway Station At Stibbington Peterborough 
 

5 - 56 

 4.2 20/01746/LBC - Planning Application Nene Valley Railway 
Bridge Sutton Peterborough 
 

57 - 64 

 4.3 20/01070/FUL - 35 Westgate Peterborough PE1 1PZ 
 

65 - 82 

 4.4 20/01707/R4FUL - Nene Park Academy, Oundle Road, 
Peterborough PE2 7EA 
 

83 - 102 

 4.5 21/00170/FUL - 42 Sherborne Road Dogsthorpe Peterborough 
PE1 4RJ 
 

103 - 114 

 
 

Public Document Pack

1

https://www.youtube.com/user/PboroughCityCouncil


Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. Audio-recordings of 
meetings may be published on the Council’s website. A protocol on this facility is available at:  
 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recor
ding&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385 
 

Committee Members: 
 

Councillors: C Harper (Chairman), P Hiller (Vice Chairman), R Brown, Warren, Iqbal, Jones, Hogg, 
Bond, Dowson, Hussain and Sharp 

 
Substitutes: Councillors: B Rush, M Jamil, Bond and Yurgutene 

 
Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Dan Kalley on telephone 01733 
296334 or by email – daniel.kalley@peterborough.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385


CASE OFFICERS: 
 
Planning and Development Team:  Nicholas Harding, Sylvia Bland, Janet Maclennan, David 

Jolley, Louise Simmonds,, Amanda McSherry, Matt Thomson, 
Asif Ali, Michael Freeman, Jack Gandy, Carry Murphy, Mike 
Roberts, Karen Ip, Shaheeda Montgomery and Susan 
Shenston 

 
Minerals and Waste:   Alan Jones 
 
Compliance:   Jason Grove, Amy Kelley and Alex Wood-Davis 
 
 
NOTES: 
 
1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer, 

Head of Planning and/or Development Management Manager as soon as possible. 
 
2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  

Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.   
 
3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 

implications for that policy, except where expressly stated. 
 
4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 

specifically referred to in the report itself. 
 
5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
 received after their preparation. 
 
 
 

3



This page is intentionally left blank

4



Print Date: 14/06/2021

Planning Committee Location Plan-20/01026/FUL Footpath Sutton

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:10,000

0 100 200 300 40050
Meters

Scale

5



T
his page is intentionally left blank

6



Print Date: 14/06/2021

Planning Committee Location Plan-20/01026/FUL Footpath Sutton

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:5,000

0 40 80 120 16020
Meters

Scale

7



T
his page is intentionally left blank

8



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Planning and EP Committee              Item No. 1 
 
Application Ref: 20/01026/FUL  
 
Proposal: Construction of dual use cycle/pedestrian path and associated earthworks 

from Sutton village across the meadows to the Nene Valley Railway 
station at Stibbington, including cattle grids, a  new 3m wide timber 
cycle/footbridge over field drain and new flight of steps with wheeling 
channel to the footbridge across the River Nene 

 
Site: Land South Of, Lovers Lane, Sutton To Nene Valley Railway Station At 

Stibbington, Peterborough 
Applicant: Mr Andrew Nash 
  
Referred by:   Councillor John Holdich 
Reason: The application should be considered along with other cycling and walking 

plans for the area as they will not all be funded.  
Referred by: Sutton Parish Council 
Reason:   Road Safety concerns, loss of amenity, availability of superior routes 
 
Site visit: 06.09.2020 
 
Case officer: Mrs J MacLennan 
Telephone No. 01733 4501733 454438 
E-Mail: janet.maclennan@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and surroundings 
 
The application site is located to the south of Lovers Lane, Sutton comprising a 915m corridor of  
agricultural land leading to the Nene Valley Railway’s (NVR) footbridge across the river Nene at 
Stibbington.  Part of the site is the former Wansford to Stamford railway line, disused since 1931 and 
abandoned in 1959; the remains of which are clearly visible. Part of the line is a path which is tree 
lined on to the west with some trees on the east; access is not possible along its full length.  The line 
is safeguarded for walking and cycling Infrastructure under policy LP15 of the Adopted Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019).  The northern end of the site lies adjacent to the Sutton Conservation Area 
boundary and runs to the west and south of an existing ménage.  The southern end of the site  
includes as area of the Sutton Meadows County Wildlife Site (CWS). 
 
There is an existing public right of way leading from Lovers Lane further west of the field which leads 
to the railway line and then runs to the south of the railway line towards Castor. 
 
At present the footbridge is a permissive right of way, owned by the Nene Valley railway.  
 
Proposal 
 
The application seek permission for the construction of a shared-use path, providing access for 
pedestrians and cyclists, from the village of Sutton to the NVR station at Stibbington.  
 
The path would be accessed off Lovers Lane and would run to the west and south of the Menage 
and then follow the former railway line on the eastern side of the field.  An earthwork ramp would 
take the path from the field level to the old railway level.  The path would continue along the former 
railway line.   The proposal includes: 

9



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

• A 2.5m wide path with a tarmac surface with suitable access controls to maintain the adjacent 
land-use for livestock with cattle grids and gates. 

 

• A 3m wide timber cycle/footbridge crossing an existing field ditch. 
 

• Replacement steps with two landing sections leading up to the footbridge across the River Nene 
to the NVR station.  The steps include a ‘wheeling rail’ enabling cycles to be pushed up to the 
bridge.  

 

• 6 No Sheffield cycle stands will be provided at the bottom of the steps. 
 

• Proposed surfacing works to widen and level out the existing un-surfaced informal path 
between the pedestrian bridge over the River Nene and the edge the Old Great North Road. 

 
Revisions to the scheme and additional information including a Heritage Statement, Ecological 
Impact Assessment and Sequential Test Statement have been received since the application was 
submitted and a further re-consultation has been undertaken. 
 
A Listed Building application has also been submitted for the construction of new steps to Nene 
Valley viaduct ref.  20/01746/LBC which is also to be considered for determination by Members of 
the Planning Committee. 
 
A small section of the application site falls within Huntingdon District Council (HDC) Authority and 
therefore an identical application has been submitted to HDC for consideration. 
 
 
2 Planning History 
 
No relevant planning history 
 
 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions  
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. 
 
Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions.  
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the Conservation Area or its setting, or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) 
 
Paragraph 47 - Determination of Applications  
Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with 
the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Paragraph 91/92 -  Planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and 
safe places which enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would address 

10



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

identified local health and well-being needs.  To provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities 
and services the community needs, planning policies and decisions should take into account and 
support the delivery of local strategies to improve health, social and cultural well-being for all sections 
of the community. 
 
Paragraph 102 – Sustainable Transport 
Opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use are identified and pursued. 
 
Paragraph 155 - Flood Risk  
Inappropriate development in areas at risk from flooding should be avoided by directing 
development away from areas at highest risk. Where development is necessary in such areas the 
development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing the risk of flooding elsewhere. 
Development should be subject to a sequential test and if appropriate an exceptions test. 
 
Paragraph 175 - Biodiversity Enhancement  
Development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported. 
Opportunities to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be encouraged. 
 
Section 16 - Impact on Designated Heritage Assets  
Local Planning Authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining and enhance the 
significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation, 
the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable communities 
including their economic viability and the desirability of new development making a positive 
contribution to local character and distinctiveness. When considering the impact of development 
great weight should be given to the assets conservation. This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less then substantial harm to its 
significance. Any harm to or loss of the significance of the designated heritage assets should 
require clear and convincing justification. Where a proposed development will lead to substantial 
harm to the designated heritage assets permission should be refused unless it can be 
demonstrated that substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits 
that outweigh that harm. Where harm is less than substantial this harm should be weighed against 
the public benefits including securing an optimum use of the asset. 
 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (2019) 
 
LP01 - Sustainable Development and Creation of the UK's Environment Capital  
The council will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development within the National Planning Policy Framework. It will seek to approve development 
wherever possible and to secure development that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions in the area and in turn helps Peterborough create the UK's Environment 
Capital. 
 
LP07 - Health and Wellbeing  
Development should promote, support and enhance the health and wellbeing of the community. 
Proposals for new health facilities should relate well to public transport services, walking/cycling 
routes and be accessible to all sectors of the community. 
 
LP11 - Development in the Countryside  
 
Part F: Protecting the Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land- Proposals should protect this land 
to ensure the continuation of the agricultural economy. With the exception of allocated sites 
proposals affecting this land will only be accepted if there is lower grade land available, the impacts 
have been minimised through design solutions and where feasible the land is restored when the 
development ceases. 
 
LP13 - Transport  

11



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

LP13a) New development should ensure that appropriate provision is made for the transport needs 
that it will create including reducing the need to travel by car, prioritisation of bus use, improved 
walking and cycling routes and facilities.  
 
LP13b) The Transport Implications of Development- Permission will only be granted where 
appropriate provision has been made for safe access for all user groups and subject to appropriate 
mitigation. 
 
LP13c) Parking Standards- permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all 
modes of transport is made in accordance with standards. 
 
LP13d) City Centre- All proposal must demonstrate that careful consideration has been given to 
prioritising pedestrian access, to improving access for those with mobility issues, to encouraging 
cyclists and to reducing the need for vehicles to access the area. 
 
LP15 - Safeguarded Land for Key Infrastructure  
Permissions will only be granted on safeguarded land which does not threaten or hinder the ability 
to implement the identified infrastructure project. 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP17 - Amenity Provision  
LP17a) Part A Amenity of Existing Occupiers- Permission will not be granted for development 
which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, public and/or private green space or natural 
daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to 
minimise opportunities for crime and disorder. 
 
LP17b) Part B Amenity of Future Occupiers- Proposals for new residential development should be 
designed and located to ensure that they provide for the needs of the future residents. 
 
LP19 - The Historic Environment  
Development should protect, conserve and enhance where appropriate the local character and 
distinctiveness of the area particularly in areas of high heritage value.  
 
Unless it is explicitly demonstrated that a proposal meets the tests of the NPPF permission will 
only be granted for development affecting a designated heritage asset where the impact would not 
lead to substantial loss or harm. Where a proposal would result in less than substantial harm this 
harm will be weighed against the public benefit. 
 
Proposals which fail to preserve or enhance the setting of a designated heritage asset will not be 
supported. 
 
LP27 - Landscape Character  
New development in and adjoining the countryside should be located and designed in a way that is 
sensitive to its landscaping setting, retaining and enhancing the landscape character. 
 
LP24 - Nene Valley  
Within the Nene Valley area the council will support development that will safeguard and enhance 
recreation and/or bring landscape, nature conservation, heritage, cultural or amenity benefits. The 
proposal would need to be appropriate in terms of use, scale and character. Development which 
would increase flood risk or compromise the performance of flood defences will not be permitted. 
 
LP28 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation  

12



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

Part 1: Designated Site  
International Sites- The highest level of protection will be afforded to these sites. Proposals which 
would have an adverse impact on the integrity of such areas and which cannot be avoided or 
adequately mitigated will only be permitted in exceptional circumstances where there are no 
suitable alternatives, over riding public interest and subject to appropriate compensation.  
National Sites- Proposals within or outside a SSSI likely to have an adverse effect will not normally 
be permitted unless the benefits outweigh the adverse impacts. 
 
Local Sites- Development likely to have an adverse effect will only be permitted where the need 
and benefits outweigh the loss. 
Habitats and Species of Principal Importance- Development proposals will be considered in the 
context of the duty to promote and protect species and habitats. Development which would have 
an adverse impact will only be permitted where the need and benefit clearly outweigh the impact. 
Appropriate mitigation or compensation will be required. 
 
Part 2: Habitats and Geodiversity in Development 
All proposals should conserve and enhance avoiding a negative impact on biodiversity and 
geodiversity.  
 
Part 3: Mitigation of Potential Adverse Impacts of Development 
Development should avoid adverse impact as the first principle. Where such impacts are 
unavoidable they must be adequately and appropriately mitigated. Compensation will be required 
as a last resort. 
 
LP29 - Trees and Woodland  
Proposals should be prepared based upon the overriding principle that existing tree and woodland 
cover is maintained. Opportunities for expanding woodland should be actively considered.  
Proposals which would result in the loss or deterioration of ancient woodland and or the loss of 
veteran trees will be refused unless there are exceptional benefits which outweigh the loss. Where 
a proposal would result in the loss or deterioration of a tree covered by a Tree Preservation Order 
permission will be refused unless there is no net loss of amenity value or the need for and benefits 
of the development outweigh the loss. Where appropriate mitigation planting will be required. 
 
LP32 - Flood and Water Management  
Proposals should adopt a sequential approach to flood risk management in line with the NPPF and 
council's Flood and Water Management SPD. Sustainable drainage systems should be used 
where appropriate. Development proposals should also protect the water environment. 
Sutton Conservation Area Appraisal (2015). 
 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
 
PCC Conservation Officer – From a heritage consideration in principle the proposed works can be 
supported.   
 
Replacement of the staircase:  The existing staircase was presumably part of the 1977 restoration. 
Although important the existing iron staircase is not considered significant. It is incongruous with the 
decorative metal work on the bridge and does not reference the character of the Listed building.  
Further information was sought to determine if the proposed new staircase design would be 
acceptable. Following receipt of a revised Heritage Statement and Listed Building application there 
is no objection. Although a more detailed Heritage Statement would be welcomed, the revised 
Heritage Statement meets the requirements in NPPF paragraph 189, and this is deemed sufficient. 
 
Construction of the cycle way:  The Wansford to Stamford abandoned railway is safeguarded under 
the Peterborough Local Plan for a potential infrastructure routes.  The re-use of heritage assets is 
considered an important aim in conservation as it ensures their future use. In this instance the 

13



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

principle of conversion of the archaeological feature to a cycle track is welcomed because in addition 
to its re-use, it would also keep the transport use of the former line and allow the public to better 
appreciate the asset. In combination with the Heritage Railway Line at Wansford as a destination it 
would also allow for a more holistic approach to the use of the redundant railway infrastructure. 
 
The preference is for the former line to form the basis of the cycle route however the proposal only 
uses a section and appears to make full re-use of the line more difficult. In the future the cycle path 
should meet up with the Green Wheel in Southorpe, therefore allowing the entire of the abandoned 
line to be traversed from Wansford Station to Stamford. If the route is to be incorporated with the 
soon to be dualled A47 and beyond the cycle path should remain on the archaeological feature and 
be accessed directly from Lovers Lane. 
 
The second point of concern is where the proposed cycle way drops off the abandoned railway. 
There is a clear preference for as much of the route to be utilised as possible. However it is  
understood that due to the height of the bank closer to the bridge this would make access and egress 
difficult. 
 
Although the works will impact upon the former railway line through surface excavation, this is 
considered limited and as it is to be filled the form of the archaeological feature will be retained. As 
such the loss of some of the integrity of the remaining earthwork is an acceptable loss to bring the 
former railway route back in to use. 
 
There is concern regarding the asphalt surface. A softer hardened gravel should be used which 
would allow for the appreciation of the route to be of a more subservient arrangement and 
differentiate it as a former railway rather than a road. 
 
Impact of the proposals upon the Sutton Conservation Area:  The beginning on the route starts just 
inside the Sutton Conservation Area boundary but the presence of the route will also have an impact 
upon the general Conservation Area due to its presence and use.  
 
Although Sutton now appears relatively isolated with no through traffic, this is mostly a modern 
construct brought upon due to the increase in vehicle traffic. Historically there would have been 
access to Stibbington, Water Newton and Durobrivae, various accesses of which can still be 
discerned and are more explicit within the first OS Map. There is a clear preference for Sutton to be 
linked up on none motorised routes, bringing the village back in to the local historical environment 
connectivity. Indeed this will be of benefit to the appreciation of the many heritage assets within the 
village. As such there is no issue with the re-establishment of greater connectivity of Sutton with 
other local destinations. 
 
Lovers Lane is a verdant and pleasant access to the village centre from the south. It provides good 
views of various Listed buildings at the northern end, with some interesting buildings and features 
as your travers southward out of the village. These culminate of open views of elements of the 
‘Grange’ with glimpses of the historic and Listed buildings on Graeme Road before you arrive at the 
open countryside with its appearance of former village common and flood plain. 
 
The only impact to Lovers Lane positive serene character from the proposal would be through its 
increased use. This would be limited, to not be materially detrimental and more than balanced by its 
greater appreciation by the public. It is accepted that this benefit would be lost if as preferred the 
cycle path remained on the former railway feature. 
 
In general the proposal is considered to be of benefit to the Sutton Conservation Area, the 
archaeological feature of the former railway line which is considered a non-designated heritage 
assets and potentially depending upon details the Grade II Listed Bridge. 

 
PCC Ecologist - The survey was done in 2018; the badger survey needs updating to assess whether 
a licence is required and GCN survey results updated.  The applicant should consult with the Wildlife 
Trust. 

14



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

 
Having reviewed the updated ecological survey report I have no objection to the proposal, subject to 
conditions – Ecological measures in accordance with section 8.5.2 and 8.6.2 of the Ecology report. 
Section 8.2.2 of the ecology report describes how appropriate mitigation/compensation could be 
delivered.  The mitigation/compensation scheme should be conditioned to be carried out pre-
commencement in consultation with Wildlife Trust. 
 
PCC Tree Officer – No objection in principle.  An Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) and 
Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) with regards to the obvious tree root related issues and 
impact with the installation of a 2.5/3m wide cycleway/footpath, as proposed should be secured by 
condition. Please note all trees within 15m of any proposed development should be clearly and 
accurately marked on any submitted plan/s and included within any AIA/AMS, where appropriate. 
 
PCC Rights of Way Officer – No objection.  I support additional links and access to the countryside 
and welcome this project, However if possible I would like the route to be open to all NMU's including 
equestrians, this could be done relatively easily by changing some of the gates and surface, I 
appreciate that a tarmac path can be relatively easy to maintain but could be considered not in 
keeping with the surrounding countryside, an unbound alternative could be considered and this 
would also benefit equestrians should they be permitted on the route.   
 
Could I confirm that the route is to remain permissive with no intention to dedicate the route as a 
public right of way? And maintenance would be the responsibility of the individual landowners? 
 
PCC Pollution Team – No objection.  The submitted information is noted and accepted the Pollution 
Team has no objections to the proposal. 
 
PCC Peterborough Highways Services – No objection.  At the current time, very little highway is 
affected, but a discussion would need to be had if there is an overarching plan to take on sustainable 
routes such as these.  We understand the cycleway is not subject to adoption by the LHA, therefore 
our only concern is how the site connects to the existing public highway, and its associated 
infrastructure. This can be undertaken as part of a s.278 application during the detailed design stage.  
This will include visibility at the junction connection with Lovers Lane.  No fencing is to be installed 
on the public highway.  Ensure no materials are stored on the public highway - access to the site will 
also need to be covered by a CTMP to minimise and mitigate the impact on Lovers Lane.  
 
Lead Local Drainage Authority – No objection.  Further information is required on the party 
responsible for the maintenance and management of the proposed timber bridge and the ramp 
construction.   Further construction details of details including a cross section to show the length of 
construction and pipes, headwall details, backfill materials, bedding surround and fencing are 
required. The details may be secured by condition. 
 
PCC Archaeological Officer – No objection.  At the Stibbington end the remains of a Roman kiln 
were found under a railway track during maintenance work at Wansford Station in the mid-1980s. 
The kiln was used for firing grey wares and was probably one of those noted by 19th century 
antiquarian E.T Artis in the vicinity. Roman pottery was also found in the area. 
 
The proposed route crosses an area of medieval ridge and furrow visible on aerial photographs as 
cropmarks and partly surviving as earthworks. Remains may extend towards the proposed cycle 
route. The route will follow the existing embankment of the disused railway branch line which has 
already been dismantled. 
 
The heritage assessment submitted to support the current application has highlighted the positive 
contribution of the scheme. The scheme is not going to have a major impact on potential buried 
remains. However, details are needed with reference to the works compound and the 3m wide timber 
cycle/footbridge over field drain,  including type and depth of foundations, and any other groundwork 
associated with the scheme that has not been mentioned in the Design and Assess Statement. 
 

15



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 8 

Following receipt of further information the officer is satisfied that the proposed scheme is not going 
to impact on buried remains. Therefore, there is no need to secure a programme of archaeological 
work. Dr Upex's involvement is very welcome. 
 
PCC Sustainable Travel Officer – Supports the scheme. 
 
Highways England - No objection. 
 
The Wildlife Trusts (Cambridgeshire) - The report states that the cycle path will include 0.28km of 
The Nene Valley Railway Line CWS only.  However, the route of the path crosses the dismantled 
railway and into Sutton Meadows South CWS; the plans show the route along the north of the drain 
and pond and then heading south into Nene Valley Railway Line CWS.  The Trust would be keen to 
know the extent of permanent loss of habitat within Sutton Meadows CWS, additional temporary loss 
during construction, and what mitigation measures are proposed, including those to protect other 
areas of the CWS during construction activities and to protect the remainder of the CWS once the 
cycle/pedestrian path is operational (for example from litter or public access). 
 
The Ecology report also states the occurrence of unimproved herb-rich grassland, tall fen and semi-
improved riverside pasture along other parts of the route of the cycle path.  These habitats are given 
no evaluation in the subsequent Impact Assessment, with only nesting birds and reptiles highlighted 
as potential significant receptors.  Whilst the reports says that areas of habitat loss will be small, 
there are no calculations provided as to the areas of loss of habitat types, with some of these (those 
mentioned above) potentially qualifying as Habitats of Principal Importance.  We would encourage 
a further consideration of these habitats within the Impact Assessment, with thought provided as to 
how the project can ensure no net loss of biodiversity, in keeping with National Planning Policy 
Guidance. 
 
Discussion have taken place with Nene Park Trust (land owner) and Wildlife Trust have agreed on 
an appropriate approach to compensation for the impact of the proposed cycleway on the Sutton 
Meadows South CWS.  This would be implementing a plan to harrow (or similar) an area of currently 
poorer grassland, in the CWS or fields immediately adjacent to it, and spreading locally sourced 
green hay.   As per the ecologist’s report this area should be 0.8ha. I would suggest that this is the 
minimum size and any additional can count towards the scheme’s delivery of a net gain for 
biodiversity (BNG). 
  
An outline statement is required for planning purposes, with sufficient detail to ensure the 
fundamental points are committed to, with the details being conditioned, subject to planning 
approval. A survey of the areas available should be carried out at the right time of year, to identify a 
suitable area for the compensatory measures and monitoring surveys of the enhanced area of 
grassland should form part of the compensation package and a commitment to these be made in 
the statement for planning and include details of Biodiversity Net Gain.   
 
A statement has been provided by the applicant with is acceptable to the Wildlife Trust. 
 
Natural England -  No objection.  Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the 
proposed development will not have likely significant effects on statutorily protected sites and has 
no objection to the proposed development. 
The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
requires local planning authorities to consult Natural England on "Development in or likely to affect 
a Site of Special Scientific Interest" (Schedule 4, w). Our SSSI Impact Risk Zones are a GIS dataset 
designed to be used during the planning application validation process to help local planning 
authorities decide when to consult Natural England on developments likely to affect a SSSI.  
 
Environment Agency - The proposed development will only meet the National Planning Policy 
Framework's requirements in relation to flood risk the development is carried out in accordance with 
the submitted flood risk assessment (November 2019) and the mitigation measures it details. 
 

16



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 9 

British Horse Society - Objection.  Whilst we support the creation of safe off road Active Travel 
routes for all non motorised user groups, the construction of restrictive cycle / pedestrian routes is 
contrary to the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Local Plan which defines Active Travel as 
pedestrians, cyclists and equestrians.  It is socially and environmentally right that public money 
should be spent to benefit the most users possible. 
 
The creation of cycle paths rather than bridleways give precedence to potentially very fast moving 
cyclists over the more vulnerable NMU's - the most vulnerable being pedestrians followed by 
equestrians.  On bridleways cyclists are required to give way to pedestrians and horse riders and 
horse riders are required to give way to pedestrians.  Therefore we would support the creation of 
bridleways which meet the requirements of equality rather than cycle paths. 
 
The construction of restrictive paths further fragments the existing inadequate bridleway network. 
This path not only restricts which NMU groups can use the path but also restricts users within the 
groups.  The bridge with its steps and cycle gulley is an obstruction for those with mobility challenges, 
Mums with prams and any cyclist who simply cannot wheel a bike up the steps. 
There appears to be conflicting information supporting this application.  On the one hand it is deemed 
to be a leisure route and therefore would be lightly used to avoid the objection that it would increase 
traffic on the Bridleway Ailsworth 3 and Bridleway Sutton 3.  On the other it is claimed it would attract 
heavy use in order to justify creation of the route. 
Reference is made within the application to the Green Wheel cycleway - we would point out that the 
Green Wheel is not a cycleway but a multi user route available to equestrians as well. 
 
‘Desire line’ is often referred to in discussions about cycle routes – cyclists seek the most direct line 
to achieve their destination therefore it is highly likely that anyone travelling from Ailsworth to the 
proposed path would use the Bridleways. The paucity of bridleways in this area means that local 
horse riders only have use of Bridleways Ailsworth 3 and Sutton 3 or the highway. Whilst horse 
riders and cyclists can and do share the PROW network safely and mostly considerately, as this 
bridleway network is extremely limited, there is no option to dissipate any increased traffic over other 
routes.  
We do not support the use of tarmac in the countryside creating roadification. There are other 
surfaces available more suitable for a rural environment. Whilst tarmac creates a suitable surface 
for speeding cyclists, it is not a preferred surface for horse riders, joggers, pedestrians nor dog 
walkers. 
Whilst we appreciate the desire for a new route in this area and that the terrain presents significant 
challenges, this route does not meet the requirement for a multi user path available to the widest 
group of users therefore we must object to this application. 
 
Peterborough Civic Society – Support - The proposal will provide a safe and convenient route from 
the village streets and lanes of Sutton into the open countryside to the west of Peterborough and 
more immediately to Wansford Station on the Nene Valley Railway. It will help to encourage cycling 
and walking on a safe, convenient and attractive route.  
Concerns have been expressed, from the Sutton Parish Council and a number of individuals, 
regarding the potential conflict between cyclists and pedestrians, horse riders and motor vehicles on 
the highways leading to the proposal from an easterly direction. There are also concerns about 
impact on wildlife and general amenity level enjoyed by the villagers.  
The proposed scheme has been developed by the applicant and Sustrans over a number of years 
involving a substantial amount of local and wider public consultation. It has the support of a large 
number of the general public and interested organisations such as; Nene Park Trust, Nene Valley 
Railway, The Langdyke Trust, a number of local cycling clubs, and East Northants District Council.  
 
Peterborough Local Access Forum - On behalf of the Peterborough Local access Forum I support 
this excellent application that will enhance and encourage public access to the countryside. 
 
Ramblers (Central Office) - I have frequently walked on the existing public footpath between Sutton 
and Wansford station which at times can be quite difficult to traverse because of flooding in parts. 
Therefore on behalf of Peterborough Ramblers I fully support this plan. 

17



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 10 

 
Huntingdon District Council - It would appear that the proposal includes development within the 
District of Huntingdonshire. Therefore, in accordance with paragraph 11 of the National Planning 
Practice Guidance an identical application should also be submitted to Huntingdonshire District 
Council.  It doesn't appear that the works within the District of Huntingdonshire would require an 
application for listed building consent. 
 
Peterborough Cycling Forum - Supports application however the following requests are made: 
Animal Grids - The Cycle Forum therefore requests confirmation of bar diameter and spacing. (grid 
with closely-spaced (100mm) threaded rod bars can be crossed by cycles without undue difficulty) 
Recommends the grids incorporate a design feature to allow a small animal to escape in the  
unlikely event it has fallen down between the bars.  
 
Cycle Parking - requests the Sheffield stands are placed no less than 1m apart, to enable easy 
access for cycles fitted with panniers or child seats and to minimise the risk of damage caused by 
inadvertent contact between cycles. 
 
Wheel channels - Where possible, wheeling ramps should be provided on both sides of steps, so 
that ascending and descending cyclists do not have to wait for each other, and because most 
cyclists prefer to push their bike on their right side. 
 
A width of 2m is insufficient for a second channel to be located 300mm from the left hand edge but 
the Cycle Forum requests the Applicant considers the possibility of providing an L-section on this 
side. 
 
Instead of the standard 'shared path' sign (TSRGD 2016, Schedule 3, Part 2, Diagram 956) the 
Forum recommends that signs are installed which include simple, concise wording to encourage 
consideration and respect between users. Recommends additional signage that alerts all users to 
the fact that the road is shared by pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders. The route will appeal to 
families/leisure riders and will be in addition to a new cycle route between Sutton and Stibbington. 
 
Network Rail - Eastern - Network Rail has no observations to make. Please note that the Nene 
Valley Railway is not operated or maintained by Network Rail. The line is operated by Nene Valley 
Railway Ltd who should be contacted in relation to this scheme if you haven't done so already. 
 
Cllr Holdich - In the absence of Cllr Lamb I have been asked to handle the residence concerns 
regarding this application of which there are many and I believe have been listed to you so I will not 
repeat them.  What I would ask you to do is to look at what is going on around this application. It is 
my understanding that the highways Agency are proposing a cycle track alongside the A47 upgrade 
which I and others have been pushing for ,also it is my understanding that Nene park are doing 
similar things along the Nene valley railway . 
It is my view their needs a cycling and walking plan for the area and this application should be at the 
very least put on hold and told to come up with others a master plan for the area because they will 
not all be funded and in the end nothing will happen at all. Should you not have the well laid out 
objections from Sutton Village I am happy to forward them to you . 
If you are mindful to approve the application I would request it goes to committee for discussion. 
 
Sutton Parish Council – Objection.  Sutton Parish Council strongly opposes the above application 
and irrespective of the officer recommendation, requests the application is determined by Planning 
Committee. 
 
There is strong local opposition. A survey carried out in January 2020 -  71 (79 % of respondents) 
were opposed or strongly opposed to the scheme; 18 (20%) were supportive or strongly supportive.  
Road safety - Sutton's roads have a Quiet Lane status with blind sharp bends, a hump-back bridge, 
four junctions with poor visibility, no footways, some blind driveways (visibility mirrors used on some) 
and pedestrian gates connecting directly to the highway all giving rise to safety concerns for all road 
users including walkers, families with young children and horse-riders.  

18



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 11 

Fast riding and larger group cyclists are already an ongoing issue. 
Horse-riding is a common and popular activity on Sutton's roads. Sutton itself has 3 active stable 
yards and 7 paddocks. Safety incidents with other road users is already an increasing danger to 
horse and riders both locally and nationally. The inevitable increase in cyclists and car traffic will 
only exacerbate the problem.  
Although the proposed route does not advocate the short cut using the narrow Sutton Crossways 
bridleway, as is the case now a large proportion of cyclist do and will use this problematic bridleway 
endangering cyclists, horse riders and pedestrians alike.  
General cycle traffic is projected to increase, adding to safety concerns. 
 
Loss of Tranquillity and Amenity:  
• No consideration has been given to Sutton Conservation Management Plan in line with  
policy PP17. 
• Sutton will no longer be, in effect, a cul-de-sac for cyclists which, in itself, has managed the cycle 
traffic levels, and will become a through route attracting more cyclists and other motorised traffic. 
These include powered-cycles, which are particularly attractive for commuting, and vehicle traffic 
using the village as an alternative parking space to visit Nene Valley Park and Wansford Railway, 
which the village already experiences especially during special events in the winter months. 
• No surveying nor valid consideration has been given to wildlife habitat especially protected species 
such as badgers and bats given they are regularly seen within and around the village.  
• Special cattle grids have been included at two points on the proposed route which are cycle friendly 
but will certainly be a risk for horse entry and exit to the ménage only a few metres away, endanger 
riders due to the ‘spooking’ of horses using the ménage and endanger roaming wildlife. 
 
A Better Credible Way Forward 
• PCW scheme was originally devised a decade or so ago as a means of improving access to 
Wansford and the countryside west of the A1 and avoiding the dangers of cycling on the narrow 
section of the present A47 between Sutton roundabout and Wansford. Sutton Parish Council strongly 
supports that objective. 
• However, since then green travel and awareness of the environment has dramatically increased, 
Peterborough continues to expand and needs room to breathe. So, a far more inclusive and joined 
up approach is needed involving Parish Councils and integrating the work of the various bodies 
putting forward cycling and leisure routes. 
• Nene Park Trust’s (NPT) strategy document 2017-2050 highlights far better and less intrusive 
alternative routes, one being an upgrade to the footpath from Station Road Ailsworth to Nene Valley 
Railway (NVR) station at Wansford, by-passing Sutton altogether and giving NPT access to their 
land to the west and NVR station. 
• The major change affecting PCW scheme is Highways England’s project for dualling the A47 
between Wansford and Sutton. This includes safe full disabled friendly WCHR (Walkers, Cyclists 
and Horse Riders) routes for both East/West and North/South travel away from the main 
carriageway. It addresses all the primary objectives that PCW raised and is a ‘live’ funded scheme 
expected to be the subject of a Development Consent Order later this year. We have been given a 
preview of the new scheme design which we are advised will be formally released in mid October, 
which we believe the parishes of Stibbington, Wansford, Upton and Sutton will overwhelming 
support. 
 
Submitted Planning Documentation Errors and Inaccuracies 
• Peterborough Cycle West (PCW) have consistently ignored the negative impacts on Sutton and 

have not included any safety or traffic survey analysis. 
• PCW have actively downplayed the significant benefits to all leisure users of the A47 WCHR 

routes. It is noted that many of the supporters of the application seem to be unaware that an 
alternative more direct route is planned.  

• PCW/Sustrans have misquoted Highways England representatives more than once to support 
their narrative that PCW route is complementary to their route. We have documented evidence 
from HE. 

• Sustrans Design and Access statement completely misrepresents the Parish Meeting on this 
proposal and the strength of argument against it by Parishioners and have not made any change 

19



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 12 

of significance suggested at the time. 
• PCW have consistently implied Sutton was the only parish against the proposal when they 

were explicitly told neither Wansford or Stibbington supported their proposal but along with 
Sutton were fully behind Highways England’s A47 WCHR scheme. 

• PCW fail to advise that the route is currently a permissive footpath and along with the existing 
footpath across Sutton Meadows and rail bridge access gives the same views and vistas of the 
landscape and heritage so is not unique to their proposal. 

• PCW openly quote supporting partners and organisations that they have presented to but we 
are advised that no impacts on Sutton nor the duplication of the A47 route nor other 
alternatives were conveyed thus giving a false impression to the value of the scheme. 

 
Sutton Parish Council – following re-consultation – Any proposal should give the utmost 
consideration to the need of this route, design and construction details, and the impact on residents, 
amenity and environment. Sutton Parish Council stands by its original objection and all the previous 
comments submitted. The following comments should be read in conjunction with those previously 
submitted as they build the argument against the proposal and reasons for objecting. 
 
Additional comments to the application and revisions: 
1.  Highways England have recently released their latest proposals for the A47 dualling project 
between Sutton and Wansford which it anticipates to submit to the Planning Inspector in May 2021. 
The walkers, cyclist and horse riders (WCHR) routes have been confirmed within the proposal giving 
safe access to the West from Sutton roundabout to Wansford for all types of non motorised leisure 
and commuter users. We also welcome the additional safe access to the North of the existing A47 
under the new dual carriageway.  The WCHR ROUTES within the A47 upgrading provide all the safe 
and functional needs for cyclists and make the proposed route redundant. 
2.  Flood Risk- A major part of the application is within a Flood risk 3 area and is subject to a 
Sequential Flood test. The applicant states “I would argue that in this case the exception test should 
be applied because grounds exist as described in paragraph 160 of the NPPF, that is a) The 
development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh the flood 
risk: The development provides no additional benefit to the community than the route provided by 
the A47 dualling, therefore does not outweigh the flood risk. b) The development will be safe for its 
lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood risks elsewhere and, 
where possible, will reduce flood risk overall:  It is very likely that the proposal will increase flood risk, 
will not reduce flood risk- A sequential flood test should be carried out. 
3.    Flood Risk - Serious flooding has been recorded at least six times during the last 20 years along 
the Nene valley from Northampton to Peterborough. Upstream from the Nene Valley Rail bridge 
flooding has affected Sutton, Stibbington, Wansford, Yarwell and beyond. The area around the rail 
bridge and Sutton meadows floods every year making the lower part of the proposed route 
impassable, over a month so far this year and counting! The bridge is a pinch point for flood waters 
and any addition structures, as part of the cycleway construction, will collect more debris affecting 
the rapid dispersal of flood water.   The applicant ignores the current flood risk conditions in an 
attempt to circumvent the need for a sequential flood test.  Given the likelihood of more severe 
weather conditions in the future this makes a mockery of the flood planning management. 
 
4.    Ecological Assessment - This confirms that the application will have a negative impact on the 
flora and fauna. Mitigation improvements and monitoring during construction is recommended. We 
note that the investigation has been made during the autumn and early winter and as we understand 
it is not in line with best practice and not able to give an indication of seasonal changes.  Mitigation 
proposals should be part of the application and should be subject to independent scrutiny.                                               
5.    Nene Park Trust Master Plan - the majority of the planning proposal is over an existing permissive 
footpath and on land which is part of the NPT estate. As a charity NPT should ensure that any 
proposal on their land is in line with their published strategic objectives. All routes should be for all 
leisure uses. This route ignores horse riders, despite our effort and discussion with NPT and the 
applicant no attempt has been made to take this into consideration.  As supporters of this application 
NPT should be held accountable for their plan for the Peterborough City and Rural Community. 
6.    Surfaces -The response from the Conservation Officer makes reference to the tarmac surface 
being incompatible with a rural aspect and typical rural footpaths. The Conservation Officer 

20



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 13 

recommends that a ‘softer, hardened gravel’ should be used to ‘allow for the appreciation of the route 
to be of a more subservient arrangement:  SPC totally agrees with this statement. 
7.    Surfaces - Transport Guidance note L TN 1/20 which we believe has been adopted by PCC 
refers to the range of surfaces which can be used and what is fit for purpose for the range of users. 
The applicant makes reference to the durability of tarmac and lower maintenance costs: SPC believe 
the surface should be loose bound porous material the same as lovers lane and compatible with the 
surrounding area.  Whilst tarmac may be suitable for higher speed cyclists it may not be a preferred 
surface for horse riders, pedestrians nor dog walkers.  Increasingly hot summers and tarmac melt is 
especially dangerous for dogs.  Icy in the winter and a slip hazard for all.                                       
8.    Heritage statement - this refers to all heritage aspects within the area, on that we would defer to 
the expert. However, it also makes note to Heritage benefits: a) Increased access to the western 
part of the Nene park trust’s rural estate which has a wealth of natural and historic interest: The 
proposed route adds no community benefit as a network of rural footpath already exists.                                                                                                                             
b) Increased access to the Nene Valley Railway with similar benefits: Access already exists from 
Sutton to NVR by two footpaths which cyclists can walk with their bicycles as some already do. 
9.    Cattle grids? - cattle grids can be dangerous, particularly in this open rural setting, to wildlife, 
children, horse riders and dogs exercising with their owners. Lovers Lane is used by visitors and 
residents alike many of whom walk their dogs off lead as it is currently very safe to do so. Cattle 
quite frequently escape onto the proposed route and in a stressed situation could attempt to cross 
cattle grids. SPC has queried this on numerous occasions with the applicant and NPT with no specific 
response.  If appropriate fencing were erected there would be no need for a cattle grid as is the 
current circumstance.                                              
10.  Route and Construction site access - Roads leading into and around Sutton hold Quiet Lane 
status, they are narrow , single track in many places, there are blind bends, blind drive exits and no 
footpaths. Little or no attention has been given to the impact of increased traffic and parking in the 
village nor to transportation of bulk construction materials.  This is especially important with the 
narrow entrance to Lovers Lane which is totally unsuitable for heavy vehicles.  Despite numerous 
requests the applicant has made no information available as to the potential numbers of users and 
to the amenity and safety impact upon the village.  Sutton already becomes an overflow car park for 
the NVR at peak times.  SPC believes all transport of bulk materials should be from the NVR end of 
the route and not through Sutton  NVR has the space, facilities and rolling stock for this purpose.                                   
11.   Route and Construction site access- details have been released by the applicant regarding the 
positioning of the site compound. The positioning is particularly inconsiderate to residents along 
Lovers Lane and users of the Menage facility.  The Menage will be rendered unusable during 
construction and the amenity value significantly impacted with cyclists riding along 2 sides of the 
facility let alone the cattle grids. 
12.  Users - Many villagers and visitors use the permissive rail bed footpath towards NVR station 
and suitable improvements to the path surface would be welcomed to accommodate other less able 
users. NPT currently does very little to maintain the path which cyclists could already use to walk the  
300m with their bicycles.  SPC would readily provide a suitable secure cycle rack at the end of Lovers 
Lane.  This would be an ideal compromise for all leisure users especially as the A47 proposals 
accommodate all the primary cycling needs. 
13.  Alternative route - The land owners, NPT, state in their Master Plan - Cycle West Sutton: “By 
2032 cyclists will follow a route across our fields connecting the Green Wheel with Sutton and beyond 
with the possibility of opening a route alongside NVR from Station Road Ailsworth to Wansford 
Station. which is why it considers PCW proposal part of its future links”.  SPC has challenged the 
applicant and NPT as to why this is not the preferred route only to be informed its too difficult, fraught 
with engineering problems and is expensive.  However the route would be far better value to the 
community and facilitate an off main highway route from Ferry Meadows to NVR. 
14.  The Green Wheel - the applicant promotes the route as an extension of the Green Wheel. The 
Green Wheel is for all non motorised users: Therefore the proposal is not as extension to the Green 
Wheel whereas the A47 proposals would. 
15.  General observations -   Many of the supporting comments to this application focus on the issue 
of safe routes west, to Northamptonshire villages and towns with the respondents seemingly totally 
unaware of A47 dualling and what significant value it will add for all non motorised users. 
16.  General observations - The route cannot be considered as a reliable commuter route due to the 
flooding which historically is between 1 and 8 weeks per year.   

21



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 14 

 
Given the safety concerns, loss of tranquillity and amenity, the availability of superior alternatives, 
weight of inaccuracies, lack of detail and misrepresentation we urge Peterborough City Council to 
reject this proposal. 
 
Wansford Parish Council -  Does not like the idea of use of tarmac and Cattle Grids therefore we 
are generally opposed to this proposal although we are sympathetic with what Cycle West are trying 
to do. 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 50 
Total number of responses: 119 
Total number of objections: 40 
Total number in support: 74 
 
The representations received are summarised below: 
 
Comments Objecting 
 
The principle of development 
 

• This is a commendable project, however it should be done in a way that protects cyclists / 
pedestrians and residents. 

• Safe cycle access west avoiding the A47 is being provided by the A47 dualling between Sutton 
and Wansford for Walkers, Cyclists and Horse Riders (WCHR). 

• The A47 project have routes for both East/West and North/South travel away from the main 
A47 carriageway.  

• The A47 scheme means that cycles will be better placed to then cycle on to all villages 
including Wansford, Yarwell, Nassington, Elton and Stibbington. 

• The A47 scheme make this proposal unnecessary and a duplication in purpose and function 
and a waste of public funds. 

• The A47 cycle route is more important and must proceed without impediment as encouraging 
all cyclists through the village will be a hazard to all. 

• The route will be of no additional benefit to cyclists. 

• As part of the A47 project there is a newly constructed route under the A1 from the picnic area 
into Wansford.  

• The A47 route will not impact Sutton in any way and the end-goal is the same. 

• According to the applicant this route will complement the A47 planned route, this is a 
distraction route, and is unsafe.  

• The route is ill thought-out, dangerous folly by a group of leisure cyclists. 

• It is not a multi user route due to the restrictions on the old railway bridge and detrimental to the 
environment. 

• There is a more appropriate, safer and accessible route on NPT land from the bottom of 
Station Road Ailsworth to NVR (NPT Master Plan). Increased cycling traffic would aid to reduce 
the anti social behaviour and theft from cars parked at the end of station road near Castor Back 
Waters. 

• A route that continues the dedicated cycle path that runs alongside the NVR from Ferry 
Meadows and currently terminates at Mill Lane Castor would be a far safer route for cyclist / 
pedestrians and residents alike. 

• Concern that with funding from Highways England's designation funds we will end up with a lack 
of funding on the route all cyclists want.  

• How many potential cyclists will also actually be using the route. Evidence is needed to assess 
the impact on a range of environmental issues.  

• The applicant has chosen a route that is the worst of the options in terms of environmental 
damage and road safety. 

22



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 15 

• No formal assessment has been made to gauge potential traffic increases both vehicle and 
cycle. 

• The national and local policy is to improve and expand non-motorised routes for the safety, 
health and wellbeing for all not just for cyclists.  

• The application fails to make any provision for the implications of the infrastructure of Sutton,  
fails to make any proposals to deal with issues of safety, contrary to LP14 and LP16 

• The proposed cycle route into Sutton involves a two mile ride along a 60 mph stretch of country 
road which is not only unsuitable, but highly dangerous.  

 
Highway Implications 
 

• Cyclists coming through the village, with no pavements it will make it even more dangerous to 
walk around especially for the elderly.  

• The tarmac cycleway/footway will encourage more traffic into the village which has limited 
parking. 

• A tarmac surface track provides a fast route for cyclists entering into a village.  

• Bikes already pass through Sutton at speed and without consideration of pedestrians. 

• Because of the quietness of Lovers lane, cyclists assume that there is no danger they are 
much more focussed when negotiating busier roads. 

• It is difficult to walk when cars are parked on the verges. 

• The majority of roads in Sutton are less than 3.8m wide and in places only 2.7m.  

• The roads in and around Sutton have ‘Quiet’ Lane status and subject to 20mph speed 
restriction applying to all except cyclists!!! 

• Inconsiderate road users regularly violate the speed and quiet Lane restrictions. 

• Changes in shopping habits have led to a marked increase in vehicle traffic within the village. 

• There is a blind corner from Manor Road onto Nene Way. We have already had some near 
misses with cyclists especially Sunday mornings. 

• Lovers Lane exit onto Nene Way is at a 90 degree and completely blind. 

• Living on Nene Way/Lovers Lane junction my gate opens directly onto the lane.  It is already a 
concern with cyclist and cars coming round the blind corner. 

• Parking at the front of the Church will cause problems when there are functions. 

• There are already issues with the footpath crossing the railway bridge; it is not wide enough for 
a bicycle and a pedestrian to cross in opposite directions. 

• As NVR lacks car parking during peak periods there is a high risk the village becomes an over 
spill car park.  

• NVR needs to consider and sort out the parking issues which it causes before supporting this 
application. 

• Sutton is not equipped to act as a bikers’ car park. 

• The volume of cars will increase as people will want to walk from Sutton to the NVR.  

• Out-of-town commuters will leave their cars before travelling on into Peterborough by bike or 
train. 

• Unless the council is prepared to invest in footpaths through Nene Way there is a possibility of 
a serious accident. 

• The application fails to make any provision for the safe, convenient and sustainable access by 
all user groups, and to address highway safety, contrary to Peterborough Local Plan (LP13). 

• This increase in traffic of all types will increase the risk of accident to cyclists, pedestrians, vehicle 
drivers and horse riders.  

• The proposal represents an additional, acute risk to horse riders. LP13 refers to the need for 
provision for safe movement of all modes of transport. 

• A mixture of pedestrians, horse riders, cars, vans, lorries increased cyclists using the narrow 
Nene Way is a recipe for increased accidents, confrontation, and road rage.  

• Cyclists will not confine themselves to the official route, but spread throughout the village. 

• Horses and cycles don't mix as horse see the cycles as a threat will increase safety issues. 

• The drives on many residential properties have limited visibility and pedestrian gates direct 
onto the highway. Safety mirrors are used on some. 

23



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 16 

• Once over the NVR bridge a cyclist then has to negotiate numerous HGV trucks over the 
Stibbington A1 junction and up New Lane past Bradshaws.  

 
Impact on character 
 

• This will make an unwelcome change both in character and life living in the village. 

• The grass verges are protected as part of the village's Conservation status. 

• The village of Sutton is a conservation area and the need to safeguard its unique character is 
therefore well-recognised.  

• The application fails to consider Sutton's conservation plan adopted by PCC and subject to 
policy LP19. 

• Part of this uniqueness arises from the village being a cul-de-sac to wheeled vehicles.  

• Sutton is a tranquil and unique conservation village ideally suited for walkers and should be a 
jewel in the crown for Peterborough. 

• As indicated in Sutton Conservation Plan, Sutton is characterised by its quiet tranquil nature 
giving way for safe and relaxed walking and horse riding. 

• The footpath is a country trail, provides views across fields and flood meadows and perfect for 
viewing nature; this will be greatly diminished. 

• The existing beautiful and natural footpaths provide peaceful and unhurried access to NVR and 
NPT land without the need for a change of use.  

• The character of the village and of Lovers lane will be altered by this cycle path. It will become  
hazardous, noisy and potentially litter-strewn area whose rural character will be destroyed.  

• During a survey in 2019 NPT said they have no intention of this part of the park becoming 
suburbanised. However, this cycle route and their support of it is in direct contradiction. 

• The prospect of a swathe of tarmac across Sutton Meadows is unattractive.  

• The track should be a grey/brown hardcore track (as used in many other rural cycle and 
walking routes) and not as wide as the 2.5 metres proposed. 

• The route should start from the southern end of Lovers Lane straight onto the old railway track, 
and not take a route through the field to minimise the impact on the environment and screen 
the track from the nearby menage. 

 
Impact on Amenity 
 

• We need to safeguard the tranquillity and amenity of our village life. 

• Increase in cycle traffic will result in loss of amenity to our young and all who walk or ride 
around the village. 

• There is no risk assessment on the impact of amenity, safety, health and welfare of residents 
and visitors. 

• The health and well-being of residents and visitors should not be impacted upon when there 
are alternative safe routes. 

• Object on grounds of loss of amenity and safety when a perfectly viable route west has been 
procured through locals' sustained effort in ensuring it goes ahead with Highways England. 

• The majority of the residents would say they moved to the village for what it is and not what 
PCW are trying to turn it into, namely a through route for cyclists. 

• The proposal will make leaving my drive and the lane extremely dangerous. 

• My gate opens directly on to Lovers Lane and it is already a concern when cyclists and cars 
come round the blind corner faster than I can get out of the way. 

• Cyclists turning into Lovers Lane at any speed will not be able to see my vehicle and I will have 
little chance of avoiding them. 

• Over 40% of the adult residents are retired and of those almost 60% are over 70 and 20% over 
80 years of age. The vast majority walk as a safe and enjoyable way to exercise for health and 
wellbeing.  

• As the parent of two young children, one of whom is a wheelchair user, any increase in traffic, 
vehicular or cyclists, presents additional risks for residents.  

• The national Nene Way footpath runs through the village and attracts many of walkers. 

24



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 17 

• Most of the remaining younger members of the village and those with children also regularly 
use the roads for walking or gaining access to the recreation field. 

• A number of walkers/visitors have reported of issues and altercations with cyclists and 
motorists during lockdown due to increases in traffic.  

• The new "through traffic" will make Sutton more vulnerable to crime and the potential for anti-
social behaviour. 

• Lovers Lane is closed when there is a funeral – will it be possible to close of the cycleway for a 
funeral? 

• The route takes in the shaded areas cattle use to stay cool in the summer. These cattle also 
have a habit of chasing pedestrians across the meadow. 

• The bridge access at NVR renders its easy use difficult for ''family'' cycling.  

• Horse riding/horse management activities will become more dangerous due to increase in 
speed related traffic (cyclists & motorised vehicles). 

• The route will result in a loss of amenity for the stables/yards; simply leaving private yards will 
become extremely dangerous. 

• Increased traffic will deter horse riders, due to the increased threat to their safety. 

• The cycle path will have a serious impact on horse ménage at the end of Lovers Lane; no 
attempt has been made to protect the interest and safety of horses and riders using the facility. 

• Putting a cattle grid immediately adjacent to our manege/arena entrance would be dangerous 
to the well-being of any horse. 

• The cycle way would run immediately adjacent to the existing manege/arena which would 
render it unfit for purpose due to noise and distraction and the noise of tyres going over the 
cattle grid would frighten horses during concentrated practice. This would result in the loss of 
an existing amenity we enjoy all year round. 

• Cyclists speeding from Graeme road over the old railway line to the route will spook horses 
leaving and entering this area potentially into the cattle grid (broken legs for horse). 

• Lovers Lane is the only access to our horse manege/arena located at the bottom of Lovers 
Lane.  This is a blind entrance so the horse and rider have no time to correct or move. 

• If a horse that becomes out of control and ends up near a cattle grid it could have a unthinkable 
outcome.  

• We have a narrow high hedged bridleway which will be a more desirable line/short cut. There is 
little room to allow safe passing and is used by a large number of horse riders. 

• Cyclists do not understand the risks they pose to horses. 

• In order to access the countryside, including the Nene Valley Park, horse riders must use the 
route through Sutton which traffic will have to use to access the proposed route.  

• I am a horse rider and need to be able to safely use the village roads and the Sutton 
Crossways bridleway to exercise my horses.  

• Concern that cyclists will not access the village via Nene Way but will cross the well-used 
bridleway (Ailsworth 3) and lead to conflict cyclists and horse riders. 

• The majority of cyclists ride directly at horses on our small lanes or come up from behind 
silently and seek to overtake.  

• On wider roads this is not an issue as a horse, being a creature of flight, knows it has space to 
avoid what it sees as an oncoming "threat".  

• Horses are flight animals and can react badly to suddenly being confronted by a group of 
speeding cyclists a bolting horse has no regard for its own or anyone else's safety. 

• We already have problems with cyclists who see no reason to slow down and are abusive 
when asked to slow down or stop to let a horse pass safely.  

• Many cyclists need educating and who ride at us at high speed with their ear-phones in so they 
cannot even hear our calls for them to stop. The proposal will exacerbate the issue.  

• The proposal will encourage more cyclists into the area and the bridleway provides a short 
cut/desire line to Sutton, so will be subject to increased usage.  

• Impeding rather than encouraging the access of Sutton's horse riding community to the Park 
should not be permitted. 

• Objects to the proposed footpath/cycle path along the A1 and clearing of trees and its impact 
on my privacy and Sutton. 

25



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 18 

• Cyclists coming round the blind corners will impact on the safety of children who are currently 
able to walk and play unattended – cars can be heard but cyclists are silent.  

• Additional cars parking will affect residents’ amenity and privacy.  

• We can choose to walk in the main Nene Park with easy walkways, but we also need to be 
able to choose to walk on grass, soil and mud, through puddles, floods and cowpats.  

• I do not understand the need for cattle grids. Cyclists would have to stop to use the steps at the 
railway bridge and also at the level crossing gates should they be down 

• Increase noise and disturbance with significantly more cycle and pedestrian access through the  

• Village. 

• Concern the users will cut across the footpath linking Graeme Road to Lovers Lane causing 
conflict with pedestrian users. 
 

Flood Risk 
 

• The submission fails to properly consider and assess flood risk. 

• The proposed route cannot be used throughout the year due to flooding. 

• I do not see that an additional route through Sutton village and then across a major flood plain 
can be considered ‘’complementary’’.  

• The site lies within flood zone 3 and the applicant is required to undertake a sequential and 
possibly the exception test as set out in the NPPF. 

 
Wildlife Implications 
 

• The application refers to a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (“PEA”) but has not attached the 
report. 

• The PEA was carried out 2 years ago. Ecology reports have a useful lifespan of only 18 
months-2 years. 

• Any ecological report should be carried out in the most recent spring in order to properly 
assess the likely impact. 

• The PEA apparently identified 8 recommendations, but the application has not stated what 
these are. 

• Fails to consider protected species, veteran trees and general habitat. 

• The use of cattle grids is a risk to the abundant wildlife in the Nene valley. 

• The routes across Sutton Meadows and along the disused railway bed are wildlife corridors 
and havens. 

• It is noted that the DEFRA Magic website identifies the site as priority habitat -floodplain 
grazing- and the rail line as part of a habitat enhancement zone. 

 
Landscape Impact 
 

• No arboricultural impact assessment is provided to assess the impact the mature tree 
belt/nature corridor which runs alongside the former rail line. 

• It is not clear how the proposal will cross the rail embankment onto the rail bed without 
impacting on trees. 

 
Heritage Implications 
 

• The Heritage Statement fails to report on the impact on two listed structures within the 
proposed route.  

• The heritage statement does not address the impact of the proposed stairs and walkway on the 
Listed railway bridge. 

• There is no statement of significance or HIA to address the impact on the setting of the bridge 
or the signal box. 

• The Heritage Statement has not addressed paras. 189 and 196 of the NPPF. 

• A listed building application is required. 

• There is no consideration of the cumulative impact of increased cycle usage through the village 

26



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 19 

and consequent impact on the character and setting of heritage assets within the village of 
Sutton. 

• When the ménage was approved in 2016 a full archaeological condition was imposed; 
presumably the routing of the proposal in this northern portion is of similar sensitivity.  This is 
not identified in the Heritage Statement. 

 
Public Consultation 
 

• No proper consultation has been carried out by PCW with the villagers of Sutton.  

• The meeting that was held in Sutton church in January 2020 was far from consultative.  

• PCW advised Sutton villagers who expressed concerns that their proposal would be pursued 
regardless of those concerns. 

• Sutton Parish Council carried out a consultation exercise. The results were overwhelmingly 
against the proposal: 71% of adults responding were opposed, as were 79% of Sutton 
households.  

• 38 issues raised by the survey were published by the Sutton Parish Council on its website, but 
PCW has made no attempt to consult further with Sutton or to address the issues.  

• The presentation (not consultation) to the residents of Sutton completely downplayed the value 
of the Walkers, Cyclists and Horse-riders route embedded within the A47 dualling project. 

• The consultation was no more than an explanation/ presentation of what is being proposed and 
there was no provision for, or intention to amend the proposal following this presentation. 
 

Environment 
 

• I agree with Peterborough Council Plans to be an environmental capital, to provide all its 
citizens with safe leisure facilities and sustainable commuting routes. However I am sure it did 
not intend to create a winners and losers (Sutton and its residents will certainly be big losers). 
 

Disabled access 
 

• I cannot see any provision for disabled access to the proposed new footbridge? 
• The route is not suitable for cyclists with mobility issues as the steps are the only access up to 

and across the bridge. 

• The proposed steps to the rail bridge do not make provision for people with mobility issues, 
using pushchairs or in wheelchairs and so will prevent usage by certain groups, contrary to 
access for all principles. 

 

Further comments 
 
• The application has serious errors of fact, omissions and misleading statements to sway 

opinion, particularly related to HE and Stibbington Parish Council opinions. 

• Inaccuracy of the Application. 

• The application refers to "letters of support" from Parish Councils - no such letters are attached.  

• Stibbington Parish Council comments that it was totally unaware that it had been included as 
agreeing with the proposal until it saw the application itself. 

• The applicant claims that highways England considers that the application proposal is 
complementary to the planned cycle way along the A47 works; this is incorrect.  

• I have written to the Chairman of the Nene Park Trust and to Peterborough Cycle West 
expressing concerns regarding safety, but have received no acknowledgement or reply. 

• A reply on the PCW Facebook page makes for worrying reading: "You need not worry...horse 
riders are in no danger from cyclists. Any one of us cyclists can assure the villagers that we 
won't make the ewes and cows miscarry, or frighten the horses! ..." 

• I should like to invite the Planning Officer to visit the site and Sutton in order that she/he may 
understand the risks that the application poses. 

• There is lack of clarity towards the funding and upkeep of the path. 

• PCW partners NPT and NVR have done very little to maintain the existing permissive footpath. 

27



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 20 

• The vast majority of respondents are supporters of access to the west and not specifically to 
this application. 

• In the absence of documents the application is technically incomplete having regard to the 
national and local list for validation and should not therefore progress to determination. 

• All but one of the comments of support are from outside the village of Sutton and as such the 
writers are not directly impacted by it. 

 
Sibson-cum-Stibbington Parish Council - We were totally unaware that we have been included 
as agreeing with this proposal until it was seen on the Planning Application/Portal. We have not 
and do not endorse this application. 
 
Comments supporting 
 
The principle of development 
 

• Excellent connecting route; giving valuable access to rural facilities.  

• I see no reason for not going ahead on this project; it should be built as soon as possible.  

• The path is well thought out and will be well used. 

• This is the most welcome proposal for walkers, cyclists and horse-riders in years, providing a 
scenic and safe route East West across the A1 and river Nene.  

• As a keen cyclist in Ailsworth I would love to avoid the A47 in order to get out to the cycling 
routes west beyond the A1. 

• There is currently no link to follow the valley west bound without using the A47.  

• An excellent plan to get cyclists away from the A47 corridor. 

• It will remove the need for cyclists to make extremely hazardous journeys on stretches of the 
A1/A47 and will be a much safer option.  

• As a family of cyclists I welcome the means of safe access across to the west of the A1 and the 
countryside beyond. 

• If the path is not built, people will cycle along the A47 from Sutton/Upton roundabout to 
Wansford and then along the A1. 

• This will allow improved access on foot, to Stibbington and Wansford.  

• It will provide access for cyclists to the delightful lanes of East Northants avoiding the A47. 

• This is the final part of creating a safe route from the villages north of Peterborough and 
Marholm to the south of the A1 without having to pass through the busy shared use paths of 
Ferry Meadows.  

• Currently cyclist are instead using the busy A47 from Langley Bush road to the Wansford 
roundabout which is highly dangerous and actively discourages younger and less confident 
riders from cycling in the area, and effectively splits the region in half for cycling.  

• This would create a clear route across the A47 through Castor, Ailsworth and Sutton and on to 
Stibbington, where the A1 can easily be crossed safely. 

• It could one day form part of a larger scheme linking us to Stamford and or Oundle.  

• Leisure cyclists can approach Sutton on existing cycle friendly routes, and connect with Green 
Wheel routes. 

• Living in the nearby village of Castor the only route west is to use the A47 which his dangerous  
and members of our family have now declined from cycling this route because of the near miss 
situations.  

• At present it is not possible safely and realistically to reach Sibson and its Nene Valley Railway 
Depot, nor Wansford village, without the use of private motor transport.  

• It is provide safe access from the south. 

• The bus service from Peterborough to Wansford and beyond was also withdrawn recently. 

• The distance to Sibson from South Bretton, Longthorpe and nearby areas is roughly 7km, an 
easy cycling distance. 

• This will provide a valuable link for the community. 

• The current option to cycle down the A47 is not safe and to cycle from Elton is a long detour. 

• A cycle/footpath to Wansford would mean that I and many others could safely utilise the path 

28



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 21 

along the west side of the A1 to Wittering.  

• There is a large housing development starting on the edge of Wittering. 

• I live in Wittering and would love to have a safe cycle way that my children could use between 
Sutton and Stibbington. The proposed route would bridge the gap between Ailsworth and 
Wansford. 

• The new underpass to the South between the A47 picnic spot and Wansford is particularly 
dangerous for cyclists or horse riders who want to turn right (towards Peterborough) which 
necessitates a very dangerous right turn across 2 lanes of bust A47 traffic that point. 

• It will improve safety of cyclists, pedestrians and horse riders and keep them away from a very 
busy road. 

• I am pleased to note some cycle parking will be provided at the foot of the bridge across the 
river as I would be physically unable to push my heavy cycle up a wheeling channel. 

• There is the possibility of extending the route to Nassington, King's Cliffe etc. 

• The route extends safe cycling beyond the Green Wheel, into the most attractive parts of 
Peterborough's historic county of Northamptonshire. 

• I hope good access will be given in the dual carriageway scheme linking Castor and Wansford. 

• It would be an excellent use of the disused railway line between Sutton and Wansford Nene 
Valley station. 

• In keeping with the rural setting and will complement the heritage railway. 

• Cycling in the direction of Castor and Peterborough which currently means dragging my bicycle 
across half flooded meadows.  

• It would open up the Nene Way to walkers and cyclists all year round; it is sometimes 
impossible to walk across the flooded fields. 

• Pedestrians and cyclists will no longer be toiling across the fields and disturbing the livestock.  

• The cycle route will complement the NVR as passengers could cycle one way and take the 
train back. Cycles can be accommodated in the traditional "guard's van".  

• This (or the same trip in reverse) makes a day of adventure for youngsters who may not have 
cycled beyond the urban area.  

• It will increase business for the railway, which is currently managed by volunteers. 

• The attractions around Wansford are valuable components of the City’s visitor economy.  

• It will have positive financial impact on the surrounding areas. 

• The City Council encourages access to the countryside and the Nene Valley as a major 
attraction to locals and tourists.  

• This cycle route will enable exploration to a raft of people in West Peterborough and visitors to 
Ferry Meadows camp site etc. 

• The Nene Valley is a beautiful area that is not easily accessed by cycle due to the lack of safe 
roads. 

• As more visitors will be attracted by a safe bike route it will help improve the parking situation, 
which is always dire at busy times of year. 

• As a resident of the surrounding villages it has my full support. 

• It will improve connectivity between the local villages for social cyclists and walkers.  

• It will improve connectivity for workers who wish to cycle or walk to work. 

• Faster cyclists would rather stay on the A47, than have to dismount at either end of the new 
cycle west route.   

• The off-road link will be valuable to many cyclists with no significant damage to the interests of 
any others.  

• The only safe way our family has been able to cycle West from Sutton to Wansford, Oundle 
and beyond, has been to take the lengthy, circuitous detour through Ferry Meadows. 

• This direct, safe route, would be a fantastic asset to both the local and wider community and 
would be of particular benefit to young families. 

• I am very nervous of riding on roads with motor traffic; the new path enable me to once again 
visit the lovely area around Sutton.  

• Due to health problems I am no longer comfortable walking even relatively short distances 
across rough ground. 

 

29



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 22 

Alternative route 
 

• It is not an alternative to the proposed cycleway which is planned as part of the A47 
improvements. 

• I disagree that the A47 scheme negates the need for the cycle West project. 

• This is an important part of the infrastructure and will complement the road development of the 
A47 following a separate route to a different destination - the NVR station and Sibbington. 

• The A47 cycle route is expected to be a different faster 'through route' east to west – this will 
be suited to longer distance cyclists.  

• I am heartened to hear that Highways England have given their assurance that the Cycle West 
route will not influence their decision regarding their own provision of a cycle route.  

• The A47 route will still be a road for cars but the proposed route here would be traffic free 
making it suitable for families or mountain bike users rather than large pelotons of road bikes.  

• This would be an alternative greener route, free of car and lorry fumes, particularly for children 
and those with respiratory health problems.  

• The cycling and horse-riding route as part of the A47 scheme will result in a cycle-path 
adjacent to the upgraded busy road with no enhanced scenic value with the associated noise, 
fumes and safety risk. 

 
Health and lifestyle 
 

• It will benefit the entire community and encourage people to become more active and improve 
people's health. 

• The city encourages cycling this sits well with Peterborough's aims. 

• It will help support people of the city to live a more sustainable lifestyle and encourage a health 
means of transport. 

• It will provide health positive opportunities and reduce demands on the NHS. 

• The provision of a safe route meets the Government's strategy to promote cycling. 

• We are trying to encourage more people to cycle to work/pleasure/physical well being this a 
much needed route. 

• Covid has highlighted the importance of getting fitter, using greener methods and opening up 
our green spaces.  

• During lockdown there was a significant increase in families cycling and this should be 
capitalised upon.  

• As traffic picks up again after lockdown it is vital to have suitable traffic free routes. 

• This is a question of safety and would make a huge difference to many.  

• It would hopefully encourage people to cycle to work from the villages to the west; all in line 
with government policies.  

• We need to support all endeavours to encourage people to cycle and cycle tracks are the 
obvious thing.  

• It will encourage both cyclists and pedestrians to further enjoy our countryside safely. 

• This proposal would enable me to commute to work, saving CO2 emissions benefiting my 
health but reducing the negative effect that driving every day has to the health of others. 

• As a doctor I can confirm that Peterborough is in a very unfortunate position regarding health 
inequalities. We have a very high local rate of illnesses such as coronary heart disease. 
General life expectancies are much lower than the national average for both males and 
females. 

• In illnesses such as diabetes and coronary heart disease, lifestyle changes make more 
difference than nearly any medical intervention.  

• Ninety-nine cyclists died on British roads in 2018. Just over 4200 suffered serious injury. 
Despite these sad figures, the public health evidence is that the benefit of cycling more than 
negates this risk in terms of reduced disease morbidity and increased life expectancy, in those 
who cycle regularly. 

• The very pressing challenges of health inequalities, COVID and global warming should make 
any cycling initiatives difficult to refuse.  

 

30



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 23 

Environment and Pollution 
 

• It will encourage active travel and sustainable leisure, in keeping with Peterborough's 
Environment City status and overall policies for climate change and sustainability.  

• It is consistent with the principles and themes of Peterborough's Environmental Capital Action 
Plan.  I trust that it will be viewed as part of that agenda and passed.  

• This is a fabulous opportunity for PCC to show commitment to Environment Capital. 

• It will reduce the number of road users, reduce congestion, reduce pollution and improve the 
environment. 

• The City Council has an ambitious carbon neutrality target date, as part of its Climate 
Emergency statement. It applies the Road User Hierarchy, i.e. gives walking and cycling 
preference over motor vehicles in all matters relating to highway design and planning. 

• It would also give my children the option of cycling to school safely, thus cutting down on the 
very 'ungreen' twice daily 40 minute round trip car journey. 

• It will encourage visitors to the City and with electric bikes and scooters encourage a green 
commuting into the City and around. 

• The mixed green transport agenda is central to Peterborough City Council 'Green Capital' 
ambitions and will not compromise our village character, as long as motorised transport 
becomes secondary to non-motorised. I would argue that this is long overdue and will be 
welcomed when it happens. 

• Cycle transport in place of public transport is now government policy as witnessed by the 
introduction of 'pop up cycleways' in Peterborough and many other cities around the world. The 
introduction and promotion of new local cycle routes that are easy to access and away from 
traffic is a national imperative that Peterborough City Council will support by approving this 
planning application. 
 

Amenity 
 

• There is no evidence that the increase in walking and cycle traffic through the village would be 
excessive, or that accident risk will increase in Sutton because of cycling, any more than within 
any other village in this area.  

• The cyclists have always been courteous and respectful, and signage is already there to 
indicate there may be walkers and horse riders on the road.  

• Cyclists are considerate this access will not deter from the pleasure and enjoyment of others.  

• The proposed route will provide a pleasant, safe green route to these areas east of the A1 and 
vice versa for local residents in those areas.  

• We have a 20 mile an hour speed limit and in my experience it is the local car users and 
delivery vans that pose the biggest risk.  

• The serious fast riding peloton road cyclist will avoid the proposed route because it doesn't 
provide a 'fast track'. 

• The horses and their riders add much to the character of the village. Our tranquillity is only 
really threatened by inconsiderate motorists who break the speed. 

• My drive is on the very narrowest part of the road that leads to Lovers Lane where the route will 
start from, and I strongly support this proposal. 

• There will always be negative anecdote about drivers and cyclists, even horse riders, but we 
know that the vast majority are courteous and accommodating. 

• In general, in the vast majority of collisions, cyclists do not cause these accidents. They do not 
in general ride into each other or cause motorists to run into them.  

• Increased cycling tends to reduce accident rates.  

• Cycling and horse riding should take precedence over motorised transport in Sutton, which is 
already limited to 20mph, as are all road users.  

• I appreciate concern regarding large groups of cyclists, which his unlikely. 

• Clearer signage through the village might be a good option to consider, as would the inclusion 
of a gate at the new route entrance instead of a cattle grid.  

• PCW have listened to Sutton village views. The original plans did include the Crossways 
bridleway, but this has been changed due to local concerns, even though the actual evidence 

31



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 24 

for risk to horse riding, separate from local anecdote, is small. 
• Horse riding and cycling already co-exist locally and all over the country. Sutton is no different 

to other villages in this respect.  
• BHS has confirmed that over the last 10 years recorded 88 injuries to horse riders where 

cyclins was contributory.   This ten-year statistic needs to be set against the popularity of horse 
riding. In the UK approximately 1.8 million people ride horses at least once a month. Therefore, 
according to BHS statistics, the national risk of injury related to cycling is about one in two 
million. This is about the same annual UK risk of being struck by lightning. 

• The statistical evidence therefore suggests that the chance of horse rider injury due to cycling 
in Sutton is minimal, and is far less than other risk factors which face riders of horses on a daily 
basis such as equestrian competition or motorised road vehicles which currently cause 2 
horses die per week on a national level.  

• The anxieties expressed by horse riders in Sutton is a matter that is driving much of the 
opposition to cycling in the village, but we need to keep this in proportion. This is Sutton, not 
Newmarket. Excluding cycling from Sutton will not make a material difference to the very real 
risks horse riders face and accept every day.  

• It has been suggested that a small increase from already low number of cyclists will somehow 
pose a significant special risk situation for Sutton. There is no evidence anywhere to support 
this.  

• Non-motorised transport, walkers, cycling, and horse riding together need to have priority over 
cars and vans in our 20mph zone. This will reduce the risk that we already face every day.  

• The risk of pedestrian injury due to cycling in terms of journeys undertaken in cities is tiny, and 
in rural settings there is no statistically significant risk. There is no reason or evidence to 
consider Sutton village as different in any way as compared to other villages in respect 
pedestrian risk and cycling on the village road network.  

• The village of Sutton is speed limited to 20mph. Walkers already share the highway with 
vehicles which are statistically of significant risk to pedestrians. This 'risk to pedestrians' is not 
true of cyclists when the evidence is examined. 

 
General comments 
 

• It should be adequately signed to ensure clarity that it is a shared route. 

• It is a pity the design requires the use of stairs and wheeling of bicycles up to a bridge which 
will limit the use to those more fit and active and deter family use. 

• I am aware of the concerns of horse riders so would urge that full consideration is given in that 
regard. 

• I would suggest that gated access across Sutton meadows rather than using cattle grids would 
help keep fast road cyclists away from the route and would remove the chance of horse injury. 

• Adequate separation should be made for cyclists in connection with the new A47 dual 
carriageway between Wansford and Sutton. 

• At the time when Peterborough Cycle West began its work for a cycle route through Sutton 
(2010) there was strong village support.  

• It may be difficult to persuade some who have strong personal perceptions against additional 
walkers and cycling in Sutton, but anecdote, while important to acknowledge and review, 
should not direct policy over evidence and social priority.  

• Sutton is already part of the Nene Way, a famous long-distance walking route. The route 
across the fields to the Nene Valley Railway already exists and is useable in all but the wettest 
months. The proposed walking/cycling route to Nene Valley Railway and beyond builds upon 
this and enhances year-round accessibility as well as disabled access to the wider Nene 
Valley. 

• I do not think that Sutton village can reasonably set itself apart from other rural villages in the 
region which have already embraced walking and cycling as a priority for health fitness and the 
Green Agenda. 
 

 
Nassington Parish Council - The parish council is supportive of this proposal and the benefits it 

32



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 25 

will bring to allow people to safely cycle from Northamptonshire to the northern part of Peterborough. 
 
Ailsworth Parish Council -  Supports this proposal by  the Peterborough Cycle West Project. 
 
East Northamptonshire Greenway Programme Board -  Our  vision is to link East 
Northamptonshire with Wellingborough and ultimately Northampton, through to Peterborough with a 
series of interconnecting green routes. We have worked closely with cycle West Peterborough and 
have copied Warmington Parish Council into this who are delivering a link from Warmington, through 
Elton to join the Peterborough Green Wheel. Cycle West were also active in the project development 
of this. Our Greenway Forward Plan can be found at www.east- northamptonshire.gov.uk/greenway 
and includes Cycle West as one of our partners. We would be delighted to see the project succeed 
to increase off road, safe green travel in the area. 
 
Nene Park Trust – Support.  Creating recreation opportunities for the people of Peterborough is 
central to the Trust’s purpose and this project represents an important connection, enabling visitors 
to safely explore the western reaches of Nene Park and venture further beyond.  The cycle path will 
run through a section of our land that we would like to make more accessible for visitors as stated in 
our Strategy and Master Plan. Indeed, we have an obligation under our charitable aims to ensure 
our land is provided for the benefit of the people of Peterborough. The Peterborough Cycle West 
Project will undoubtedly contribute towards our aspirations in this area. 
Based on expected usage we see no reason to predict an excessive number of users of the cycle 
path. We are working with Peterborough Cycle West Project to ensure that maintenance of the path 
network is appropriately managed in future. 
We are seeing a rapid growth in cycling currently which has every chance of being sustained long 
term. The Cycle West Project is therefore ideally timed to respond and build on this enthusiasm by 
providing infrastructure that is safe and enjoyable for families as well as individual cyclists. We look  
forward to seeing this project taking forward to fruition. 
 
Elton Parish Council - supports this application. It will provide the only safe and segregated from 
the city of Peterborough to the surrounding countryside to the west and south of the city and provides 
an important link to the wider sustainable transport system, notably the Northamptonshire Nene 
Valley green lane system. 
 
Langdyke Countryside Trust: The cycle west project fits very neatly into our broader vision for the 
countryside west of Peterborough and indeed we had factored it in to our thinking already.  We 
launched the vision for John Clare Countryside last September and have been steadily gaining 
support, indeed Peterborough City Council formally voted to support the project at its recent Full 
Council meeting. Creating improved access to the countryside through improved and expanded 
cycle, walking and horse riding routes is an important part of that project. 
 
  
Following re-consultation  
 

Comments objecting 
 

The Principle of Development 
 

• The proposal is unnecessary as the new A47 road (Highways England) construction has a new 
cycle track with better access to west lying villages. 

• Since the establishment of the A47 route, the route is nothing more than an indulgence by the 
applicant – the main reason for the route being no access to the west, a concern which we 
know no longer exists. 

• A North-South route under the new highway and safe onward transition to Sacrewell Farm has 
been added. 

• The A47 project will also provide multi user use north south connectivity using part of the old 
rail bed at Sutton station. 

• Bringing cyclists into a village like Sutton with cars and horses is an unnecessary risk when 

33



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 26 

there is this safer alternative. 

• The only value is supporting the commercial aspirations of NPT and NVR. 

• Where exactly are the benefits with this scheme compared those already in the delivery 
pipeline? 

• The proposed route is environmentally damaging contrary to The Peterborough Transport 
Plan's stated goal to "protect and enhance our environment". 

• The proposed route fails to meet The Peterborough Transport Plan's Assessment Objectives 
(1) to enhance and improve accessibility and connectivity for all; and (2) to increase the 
proportion of journeys made by Active Travel Mode. 

• As pointed out by the British Horse Society, Active Travel Mode is defined as "physically active 
modes such as cycling, walking and horse riding". The route excludes horse riders.  

• The Nene Park Trust is contemplating opening a route along side the Nene Valley Railway 
from the level crossing at Ailsworth to Wansford station in 2032.  

• The Peterborough Green Wheel, already links to National cycle routes 21 and 53, which 
provide a safe route to villages such as Elton and Warmington and others to the west of the A1. 

• Concerns around visitor parking needs which already affects Sutton and Stibbington. A 
separate application scrutinising these commercial needs should be undertaken prior to any 
consideration being given to this cycle route.  

• The Nene Way footpath running through the village and other walking routes in and around 
Sutton make it a walkers paradise. Nothing is being added to the current accessibility to NVR 
or NPT footpaths in the area. Cyclists can already dismount and take the short walk from 
Lovers Lane to NVR where they would have to dismount anyway to climb the stairs and cross 
the rail bridge. 

• This application, although highlighting the need for safe green transport, has so many negative 
impacts to the environment, people and amenity that it adds no net value to the community.  

• The A47 cycling proposals add far more community benefit, will not be prone to flooding and 
therefore will be a reliable "green" commuter link to the West. 

• If Nene Park Trust were to follow the objectives as stated within their plan, this route should 
cater for recreational use by all leisure users.  

• Within their own plan they refer to a route from Station Road, Ailsworth to NVR. This route 
would provide a link from Ferry Meadows to NVR and if desired (as stated within the 
application data) a rail trip back to the carparks at Ferry Meadows. This would completely 
bypass the problematic route through Sutton. 

 
Highway Implications 
 

• The village cannot sustain additional traffic. The existing volume of traffic is hazardous, at 
times, at all junctions. 

• PCW have not addressed the safety issue of cyclists coming around the single track village 
street with 5 x 90 degree blind bends. 

• Walkers, including elderly residents would be placed at significant risk by speeding cyclists.  

• Horse riders are daily users of the village roads and additional traffic, cycles and vehicles, 
could be potentially hazardous to them. 

• Grass verges, some of which are protected, are already significantly damaged from vehicular 
parking.  Addition vehicles cannot be accommodated other than roadside parking. 

• This new route will mean a large increase of cyclists within the village of Sutton, rendering a 
village much more dangerous.  

• The Nene Valley Railway have not made proper provision for cars that frequent it at peak times 
causing unsafe parking and litter issues. Congestion of cyclists will only cause further 
problems.  

• The village will become an overspill car park to NVR. 

• The tarmac track, desirable for speeding cyclists on circuit loops, next you Lovers lane  
covered in tarmac, presently an unmade track. 

• With existing traffic issues, litter, parking issues, mud on the paths, HGV parking, verge erosion 
at the Nene Valley Railway, this development will add to a difficult situation. 

• The entrance to Lovers Lane from Nene Way has already been the scene of several 'near 

34



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 27 

misses' involving cyclists.  

• The extra cycling and walkers would cause congestion through the village, with cycles and 
walkers moving in 2 directions, considering the width of road, along Nene Way and Lovers 
Lane and villagers gateways. This must have a negative impact from a health and safety and 
congestion viewpoint. 

 
Impact on village character 
 

• Increased pedestrian/cycle activity will have an adverse impact on the quiet character of the 
village.  

• This is a rural area and I and Peterborough residents enjoy it for this reason.  

• The peaceful and tranquil nature of the village would be lost. 

• Will spoil an existing rural footpath. 

• A tarmac surface is completely wrong in a countryside/rural setting.  

• The earthworks would add to the cycle way/ footpath looking more of an eyesore.  

• Possible congestion at each end of the route will result in cycling on the grassland causing 
mess and damage. 

• Why are so many existing quiet and tranquil walking routes being spoilt when purpose made 
routes specific for cyclists are being introduced. 

 
Impact on Amenity 
 

• The freedom of the villagers to go about their day to day lives, such as dog walking, horse 
riding, horse schooling, exercising and general socialising is compromised.  

• Sutton and particularly Lovers Lane and beyond is a very safe and tranquil leisure amenity for 
walkers and especially those with dogs. 

• Amenity impact will be significant along Lovers Lane by encouraging more cyclists. 

• The proposal significantly reduces the amenity value for walking routes in the vicinity of the 
application.  

• The proposal completely ignores the concerns, needs and impact on residents, other leisure 
users and the environment.  

• Ignoring public safety shows total ignorance and lack of empathy of the losses and hazards to 
other users. 

• An asphalt surface, and an entrance incorporating a cattle grid will make equestrian use 
impossible.  

• During busy times at NVR cyclists crossing the narrow bridge will create more safety hazards. 

• Horse riders are completely excluded from this proposal. 

• With blind entrances and exits from Graeme Road between exiting manage users and cyclists 
there is a high increase in risk of scaring horses.  

• The inclusion of a cattle grid 10 metres from the manège riding school entrance is unsafe - 
horses that spook are highly likely to move onto this grid, as it will be seen as an 'open way' to 
the field - seriously injuring them. Such an eventuality would present great danger to both 
horse and rider's safety and wellbeing. 

• The noise and speed of cyclists close to the menage would significantly increase the risk of 
horses being spooked.  

• The cycleway as proposed would run immediately adjacent to the manege!! 

• The increase in activity and speed of cyclist and bright clothing will unsettle horses and make 
the Manege facility unusable contrary to policy LP17. 

• In considering the planning application for the Manege the case officer  was concerned at the 
potential impact the manege would have on neighbours and concluded that the quiet location 
on the edge of the village was appropriate and acceptable. 

• Cattle grids are dangerous for young children, dogs, horses and wildlife; deer around the 
railway cutting and not great for hedgehogs either. 

• The footpath across the meadows is enjoyed by walkers and dogs alike. A tarmac surface 
which becomes very hot in summer is detrimental for dogs and icy conditions make it 
dangerous for all. 

35



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 28 

• Due to constant surface damage, regular maintenance needs will add to the ongoing negative 
amenity and environmental impact. 

 

Flood Risk 
 

• The proposed route is unsuitable as a result of flood risk and subject to annual flooding. 

• Why is it necessary to construct a tarmac path over flood plane to end up at steps limiting who 
can actually use?  

• The field between Sutton and Wansford rail station has been under water now for about a 
month and is impassable to the railway bridge. 

• The A47 project would have no affect to the floodplain.  

• Flooding will get worse with climate change.  

• Any structures that diminishes the dispersal rate of the flood water will only make matters 
worse.  

• The flood plain gives a natural escape for water, which may well give rise to other problems. 

• As a green commuter route it is unreliable due to seasonal flooding. 

• Tarmacking over a flood meadow and the loss of habitat that goes with it is unnecessary.  

• The chair of PCW claims a sequential test is not required. 

• Trying to avoid scrutiny of a sequential flood risk assessment verges on neglect by the 
applicant.  

• The additional sequential test statement has misunderstood the requirements of the NPPF and 
the requirement for a sequential test, and reference to NPPF para 160 is incorrect in the 
context of the argument put forward. 

• Para 160 of the NPPF does not exempt the proposal from the requirement to undertake a full 
sequential test as set out in paras 158-9, but does enable any wider sustainability benefits to 
be taken into account in the exception test- if (and only if) the sequential test is passed can 
para 160 be taken into account in the exception test. 

• The submission made is not a sequential assessment of the site, the proposal and the 
available alternatives as required by Para 158. 

• As a funded alternative footpath /cycle way would be provided in the A47 scheme, this 
proposal fails the sequential test and as a consequence, the NPPF does not enable an 
exception test to be undertaken (Para 160).  
 

 
Wildlife Implications 

 

• This is the degrading of a wildlife zone to satisfy the desire of cyclists when a better alternative 
route is becoming available.  

• The Peterborough Transport Plan states that one of its three goals is to "protect and enhance 
our environment". This application does neither. It contemplates putting in place an asphalt 
path where currently there is a grass path.  

• The ecological impact assessment refers, inter alia, to "permanent loss" of more than 300sqm 
of grassland habitat, a "loss" of suitable nesting habitat, and "general loss" of reptile habitat. 
The timing of the ecological report has meant that further potential damage has not been 
assessed.  

• Given the time of year the Ecology report was conducted it fails to give a full picture and hence 
mitigation proposals by this fact alone are likely to be inadequate.  

• It is very unusual to carry out an ecological survey in December- the conclusion is in the report 
confirm that additional surveys would be necessary (in spring), particularly in respect to GCN 
and reptiles- it is questioned if the report conclusions are sufficiently robust to meet the 
provisions of NPPF section 15. 

• The mitigation proposed is only an attempt to reduce damage and its impact.  

• Given Peterborough's aspirations as an Environmental City, there should be a very good and 
unavoidable reason for inflicting any damage in the first place. No such reason exists here.  

• Unnecessary damage to the environment of this kind is diametrically opposed to how  
Peterborough CC is trying to position itself as an environmental capital, stating its intention to 

36



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 29 

"enhance and protect the environment", talk is easy, action is needed to stop this kind of 
creeping damage to our environment. 

• Leave our existing green habitat alone. 

• The inevitable reduction and cutting back of bushes and trees to accommodate the width of the 
route will reduce the overall area of habitat for birds, insects and invertebrates.  

• Root damage to trees and bushes will impact their growth and or survival and no mitigation can 
compensate for that. 

• Otters can now be seen along this stretch of the River Nene, there is no mention of the 
disturbance construction and cyclists may cause to their habitat.  

• It cuts across a piece of rare grassland, which is old pasture land rich with flora and fauna.  

• Worryingly this proposal will disturb badgers during construction and ongoing with the 
introduction of cyclists. 

• The recommended mitigation measures would need to be implemented on third party land.  
presumably a S106 (legal agreement) would be necessary as it cannot be conditioned as it lies 
outside of the application site. 

 
Heritage Impacts 
 
• Heritage statement - the additional information is still somewhat sparse in terms of its 

description of the site, and heritage assets therein. 
• The report does not address the heritage impacts in any significant detail having regard to 

NPPF section 16 and in particular paras 193-197. 
• The balancing exercise required by NPPF paras 195-196 has not been explicitly undertaken.  
• A comprehensive statement of significance and heritage impact assessment in accordance 

with NPPF section 16 should be required. 
 

Construction 
 

• Disruption to Lover`s Lane during construction and afterwards is unwelcome in such a peaceful 
village lane with graveyard. 

• The positioning of the site compound, material transportation and equipment will have a 
serious impact on amenity and safety within the village.  

• The Ménage at the end of Lovers Lane would be totally unusable during construction. 

• If this route cannot be safely built then it should be rejected. 

• Heavy construction traffic through the village is a great concern to many. 
 

 

Further comments 
 

• This cycle way has the backing of NPT and NVR why? It will help their commercial objectives.  

• While NPT are developers with green credentials; a 200 year old ash tree, had its limbs lopped 
back due to risk of branches falling on footpath, consequently killed it, and a few years ago left 
it as a monumental stump.  

• NPT advised there were no plans for this to be used for cycle based events - but we know this 
is a potential income stream. 

• It’s a desire to turn these Victorian disused feats of engineering into cycle tracks, but some 
have been reclaimed by wildlife and are very active wildlife corridors. I have still retained some 
of the original historic fencing from 1867. NPT have ripped theirs down including some of my 
boundary fence and replaced with nice wildlife friendly barb wire!!!  

• This application has been given backing by various groups to extend commercial and grant 
funding incomes against environmental and safety issues. Please reject this planning 
application. 

• The application fails to take into account the concerns of residents and Sutton and Stibbington 
Parish Councils. 

• The amendments fail to answer the numerous and genuine concerns raised in objection to the 
plans.  

37



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 30 

• NPT currently do very minimal maintenance to the route, the majority of which is done by 
caring, local users. I have no confidence that the route will be adequately maintained. 

• The additional reports submitted have not addressed the statutory requirements of the NPPF or 
the substantive concerns expressed in relation to the planning merits of this proposal. 
 

 

Comments Supporting 
 

• The proposal will link with the proposed cycle/equestrian/pedestrian route alongside the 
planned A47 dualling.  

• It will give easy cycle access to the NVR at Wansford Station from the centre of Peterborough, 
thus increasing tourism turnover and using the former Stamford branchline railway cutting will 
keep it largely out of sight of Sutton properties. 

• It will enable cyclists to cross the field between Sutton and the NVR more easily. 

• It will help more people access and appreciate the countryside west of Peterborough, in line 
with the vision and ambitions of the John Clare Countryside project, which Peterborough City 
Council is officially supportive of. 

 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
a) The principle of development 
 
Proposed Route: 
As stated in section 1 above most of the cycleway/footway would follow the former Wansford to 
Stamford railway line which is safeguarded for walking and cycling infrastructure under policy LP15 
of the Local Plan.  The principle of the conversion of the former railway line to a cycleway/footway is 
therefore acceptable. 
 
The preference would be for the cycleway/footway to follow the former railway line in its entirety to 
allow the path to meet up with the Green Wheel in Southorpe, therefore allowing the entirety of the 
abandoned line to be traversed from Wansford Station to Stamford. Instead the path would 
commence off Lovers Lane and would circle around the ménage before re-joining the former railway 
line.  Access to the former line could also be gained from Graeme Road.  
 
However, apart from the section the subject to this application, most of the former discussed line is 
in private ownership and the resources needed to open it up are not available to the applicant.  The 
proposal would however, tie in to the existing road and cycle network enabling access for cyclists 
and pedestrians from Peterborough and elsewhere to an important local leisure destination – the 
Nene Valley Railway and the surrounding countryside of Northamptonshire.  
 
The applicant would prefer the route to access the portion of disused line that is directly south of 
Lovers Lane, however as that piece of land is in private ownership and it has not been possible to 
acquire the land.  The proposed route for the first section around the horse ménage is on land owned 
by Nene Park Trust (NPT) who are the applicant’s main partner. 
 
It is acknowledged that the cycleway/footway only follows the safeguarded land designated under 
policy LP15 in part, however this does not make the scheme unacceptable. 
 
Sustainable Transport Modes: 
 
Policy LP1 of the local plan advises that when considering development proposals the council will 
take a positive approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development. It will 
seek to secure development which improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in 
the area and in turn helps Peterborough create the UK's Environment Capital.  The proposal is in 
line with the council’s Carbon Management action plan in that it would encourage alternative means 
of transport to car use. This mixed sustainable transport addresses the national agenda that is 

38



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 31 

central to Peterborough City Council ambitions to be the Green Capital of the UK. 
 
One of the overarching issues identified in the Local Plan is that there are opportunities to improve 
walking and cycling networks.   The vision for Peterborough over the Local Plan period is to provide 
a range of high quality attractions and facilities making it a distinctive place to live, work and visit. A 
walkable, liveable city, with a network of footpaths and cycleways, providing safe, efficient and 
enjoyable ways to move around. Sustainable transport options will link all parts of the city, including 
the railway station and the River Nene, to the wider regions beyond. 
 
Policy LP13 of the Local Plan supports opportunities to improve sustainable transport links to travel 
hubs from rural areas and improve walking and cycling links between villages.  The application 
proposal will provide a safe and convenient route from the village of Sutton into the open countryside 
to the west of Peterborough and more immediately to Wansford Station on the Nene Valley Railway 
(NVR).  It would provide both a cycleway/footway for leisure purposes as well as a commuter route 
and help encourage more sustainable means of travel. 
 
Highways England (HE) are soon to submit a Development Consent Order to the Secretary of State 
to dual a section of the A47 from Sutton to Wansford.  As part of that scheme it is proposed to provide 
a route for walkers, cyclists and horse riders (WCHR).  The applicant considers that the scheme, the 
subject of this application, would complement the HE scheme by creating a possible route west into 
Leicestershire and north into Lincolnshire. 
 
Sutton Parish Council and others consider this cycleway/footway to be unnecessary and a 
duplication in terms of purpose and function of an alternative safe and convenient cycleway/footway 
being provided by HE.  Objectors consider the proposed route will be of no additional benefit to 
cyclists to the route proposed by HE which will allow access to the west, suitable for all leisure and 
non-motorised commuter users and for those with mobility issues. Also that there is a lack of 
evidence as to how many would actually use this route. 
 
It is also stated that the proposed HE route will allow access to all villages including Wansford, 
Yarwell, Nassington, Elton and Stibbington rather than having all cycles converge on the tiny hamlet 
of Stibbington alone. 
 
Objectors have also stated that there is a more appropriate route on Nene Park Trust (NPT) land 
from the bottom of Station Road Ailsworth to NVR (NPT Master Plan) which would be much safer.  
This route would also provide greater access for all users to NVR station. Far better value for money 
and for all leisure and commuter users. 
 
Others suggest a route that continues the dedicated cycle path that runs alongside the NVR from 
Ferry Meadows and currently terminates at Mill Lane Castor would be a far safer route for cyclist / 
pedestrians and residents alike. 
 
Whilst the suggestions for alternative routes are noted these are not for consideration under this 
planning proposal. 
 
There have been substantial number of comments in support of the scheme.  Supporters state that 
the proposed route would be a complementary route to a to the A47 scheme, following a separate 
route to a different destination - the NVR station and Stibbington.  The route would be traffic free 
making it more family friendly and would not be used by large ‘pelotons’ of road bikes.  The A47 
scheme would also lack the scenic value and would have associated noise, vehicle fumes and so 
on. 
 
The applicant has also stated that whilst the A47 route would provide a WCHR route from Sutton to 
Wansford this route is a substantial distance from Stibbington and the villages beyond and therefore 
the cycleway/footway would provide an alternative route. 
 
The proposal is assessed on its planning merits and whilst the A47 WCHR route is noted this does 

39



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 32 

not make the proposed alternative route unacceptable.  It is considered that the proposal would 
provide a sustainable cycleway/footway and would accord with policies LP13 and LP15 of the 
Adopted Peterborough Local Plan and para 102 of the NPPF. 
 
Concerns are also raised regarding funding from HE’s designation funds we will end up with a lack 
of funding on the route all cyclists want.   However, the funding of the scheme is not a material 
planning consideration. 
 
Equestrian Use: 
 
An objection has been received from the British Horse Society commenting that the proposal would 
be contrary to the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Local Transport Plan which defines Active 
Travel as pedestrians, cyclists and equestrians and that public money should be spent to benefit the 
most users possible. The route does not meet the requirement for a multi user path available to the 
widest group of users. 
 
It is accepted that new paths should encourage equestrian access, however in this instance once 
on the path there would be no access over the bridge at Stibbington as no changes to the bridge are 
proposed as part of this application.  Access over the bridge for equestrians would require significant 
improvements including a gradient access, increase in height of the hand rail to 2.5m and would not 
be a pleasant environment for a horse close to the railway track. 
 
At the southern end of the proposed cycle/footway there is currently no bridleway/no access for 
equestrians into the adjacent field.    This is something that could be pursued with the land owner 
(NPT), however this is not for consideration as part of this application.  There is a permissive right of 
way, a 1m wide path, to the south of the railway line which is accessed by galvanised steps up a 
steep embankment which is not an accessible route for equestrians.   
 
In addition, whilst there is a public right of way from Lovers Lane further to the west of the proposal 
cycle/footway, the field is also grazed by cattle and therefore not ideal for equestrians and would 
need a confident rider to negotiate. 
 
Therefore the lack of access for equestrians does not make the proposal unacceptable. 
 
Replacement steps: 
 
Concerns have also been made regarding the bridge with its steps and cycle gulley is an obstruction 
for those with mobility challenges, Mums with prams and any cyclist who simply cannot wheel a bike 
up the steps.  However, there are no changes to the bridge other than replacement steps and a 
wheeling tunnel which will be an improvement on the existing situation. 
 
Health and Wellbeing: 
 
Policy LP7 of the Adopted Local Plan is supportive of development which facilitates “participation in 
sport and physical activity”. The proposal would improve sustainable travel and promote healthy and 
active lifestyles for the local population encouraging a greater use of the outdoor environment and 
the subsequent benefits to health. 
 
Para 91 of the NPPF advises that planning decisions to aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe 
places which, among other thing, enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would 
address identified local health and well-being needs – for example layouts that encourage walking 
and cycling. 
 
Comments received from a local GP confirms that Peterborough is in a very unfortunate position 
regarding health inequalities; having a very high local rate of illnesses such as coronary heart 
disease and life expectancies are much lower than the national average for both males and females. 
In illnesses such as diabetes and coronary heart disease, lifestyle changes make more difference 

40



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 33 

than nearly any medical intervention. The very pressing challenges of health inequalities, COVID 
and global warming should make any cycling initiatives difficult to refuse.  
 
Comments supporting the proposal argue the proposal is one way of encouraging more active 
lifestyles and subsequent improvement in health and well-being thus reducing demands on the NHS.  
Covid has highlighted the importance of getting fitter, using greener methods and opening up our 
green spaces and the lockdown period has witnessed a significant increase in families cycling and 
this should be capitalised upon.  
 
The proposal would provide a means to encourage more active lifestyles and subsequent benefit to 
health and well-being and would therefore accord with policy LP7 of the Local Plan and paras. 91 
and 92 of the NPPF. 
 
Nene Valley 
 
The site is located within Nene Valley as designated under policy LP24 of the Adopted Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019).   The Nene Valley area is identified as having high amenity, landscape, ecological 
and heritage value. The supporting text to policy LP24 advises that ‘there is still scope for further 
action to enhance the Nene Valley's role for recreation, whilst having due regard to enhancing the 
natural environment’.  
 
Policy LP24 advises that the Council will support development that will safeguard and enhance 
recreation and/or bring landscape, nature conservation, heritage, cultural or amenity benefits 
provided the proposal is appropriate in terms of use, scale and character within its townscape or 
landscape setting. Development will be supported where, amongst other things, it will enable greater 
public access to the waterspace and the achievement of continuous publicly accessible paths and 
cycle routes through the valley. 
 
The proposal would provide an important connection, enabling visitors to safely explore the western 
reaches of Nene Park and venture further beyond and to the NVR where, as supporters have stated 
passengers could cycle one way and take the train back.  NPT has advised that the route will run 
through a section of their land which would be more accessible for visitors as stated in their Strategy 
and Master Plan.  
 
The proposal would therefore accord with policy LP24 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019). 
 
b) Highway Implications 
 
There is very little adopted highway that would be affected by the proposal however the Local 
Highways Authority require further details of how the cycleway/footway would link into the existing 
highway and include visibility at the junction connection with Lovers Lane.  These details would be 
secured by condition and through a S278 agreement.  No fencing is to be installed on the public 
highway.   
 
A number of concerns have been raised by Sutton Parish Council (SPC) and local residents with 
regard to the potential increase in cyclists going through the village.  There is limited parking 
provision, the roads are narrow, there are a number of blind corners and parking on the verges 
makes it difficult to walk around the village, especially for the elderly. 
 
Bikes already pass through Sutton at speed and without consideration of pedestrians.  There is 
concern that the tarmac provides a fast route for cyclists entering into a village.  
 
Whilst it is accepted that the proposed cycleway/footway would result in an increase in cycles and 
pedestrians in the village it is very unlikely that the numbers would be high. It is considered that most 
road users are considerate to pedestrians however it is accepted that there is always an exception 
to the rule. 

41



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 34 

 
It is considered that the proposal would not result in significant numbers of cyclists/pedestrians 
through the village thereby not unduly impacting upon the road network of Sutton. 
 
Concerns have been raised by Sutton Parish Council regarding the construction route and site 
access.  There are concerns regarding the ‘Quiet Lane’ status of the roads in Sutton and that the 
roads are narrow and there are blind bends.  Also no attention has been given to the impact of 
increased traffic and parking in the village nor to transportation of bulk construction materials.  The 
Parish Council considers the narrow entrance to Lovers Lane is totally unsuitable for heavy vehicles.  
They believe all transport of bulk materials should be from the NVR end of the route and not through 
Sutton as NVR has the space, facilities and rolling stock for this purpose.    This is something that 
could be suggested to the applicant. 
 
The Local Highways Authority has requested a construction traffic management plan should be 
secured by condition to ensure construction traffic does not impact on Lovers Lane and that 
associated materials are not stored on the highway.   
 
The LHA has raised no objections to the scheme. 
 
Sutton Parish Council also considers the positioning of the site compound is inconsiderate to 
residents along Lovers Lane and the users of the Menage facility. It is accepted that there will be 
some disturbance caused to these occupants during the construction period however, this would be 
for a relatively short period and would not make the proposal unacceptable. 
                             
The cycleway/footway is not proposed to be adopted by the Local Highways Authority and the 
maintenance would be the responsibility of NPT as land owner. 
 
The Peterborough Cycle Forum supports the proposal and considers the cycleway/footway would 
appeal to families and leisure riders and will certainly be of no interest to high speed peletons of 
lycra-clad 'roadies'.  It would be in addition to a new cycle route proposed in the A47 scheme.  The 
Forum recommends that signs are installed which include simple, concise wording to encourage 
consideration and respect between users.  Signage should alert all users of the fact that the road is 
shared by pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders.  These details would be secured by condition. 
 
The Cycle Forum recommends that the cycle stands are placed no less than 1m apart, to enable 
easy access for cycles fitted with panniers or child seats and to minimise the risk of damage caused 
by inadvertent contact between cycles. These details would be secured by condition. 
 
In addition they advise that wheeling ramps should be provided on both sides of steps, however 
accepts that a width of 2m is insufficient for a second channel to be installed.  Further details of the 
wheeling ramps would be secured by condition. 
 
The proposal would therefore not unduly impact on the highway network and hence the proposal 
accords with policy LP13 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
c) Wildlife and Biodiversity Implications 
 
A preliminary ecological appraisal report (PEA) was submitted in support of the application.  The 
PEA was completed in 2018 and the Ecologist recommended the survey be updated.  It should be 
noted that the PEA was not available for public access due to the document containing sensitive 
information regarding Badgers. 
 
Thereafter an Ecological Impact Assessment was subsequently submitted which provided an 
assessment of the likely impacts the proposed scheme might have upon notable and/or protected 
species and habitats and mitigation where required. 
 

42



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 35 

The proposed route runs through the area designated as the Sutton Meadows South County Wildlife 
Site (CWS) and is adjacent to three further County Wildlife Sites, including Sutton/ Sibson Flood 
Meadows, Nene Valley Railway and River Nene. The proposal is therefore assessed against Local 
Plan policy LP28 which states that development likely to have an adverse effect on designated sites, 
including CWSs will only be permitted where the need and benefits of the development clearly 
outweigh the loss and the coherence of the local ecological network is maintained; and para 175 of 
the NPPF which states that if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot 
be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, 
or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning permission should be refused. 
 
Whilst no impacts are anticipated on Sutton / Sibson Flood Meadows, Nene Valley Railway and  
River  Nene CWS,  there  would  be  a  permanent  loss  of  approximately  308m2 neutral semi 
improved  grassland habitat  within  the  Sutton Meadows CWS.  There would also  be  589m2  of 
temporary impacts within the CWS during works. The proposed works will also impact upon 
improved grassland, hedge/treeline, a small area of unimproved neutral grassland and an area of 
neutral semi-improved grassland outside of the CWS.  The  total  area  to  be  impacted  (permanent  
and  temporary)  amounts  to approximately 0.7ha. None of the species recorded in these habitats 
are considered rare or vulnerable. 
 
The applicant has been working with the Wildlife Trust and the land owner Nene Park Trust (NPT) 
and have agreed on an appropriate approach to compensation for the impact of the proposed 
cycleway on the Sutton Meadows South CWS.  This would be implementing a plan to harrow (or 
similar) an area of currently poorer grassland, in the CWS or fields immediately adjacent to it, and 
spreading locally sourced green hay.   As per the ecologist’s report, this area would be a minimum 
of  0.8ha to count towards the scheme’s delivery of a net gain for biodiversity (BNG). 
 
An outline compensatory statement has been submitted outlining the measures to be taken; this 
includes surveys of the areas available to identify suitable areas for the compensatory measures  
and monitoring surveys of the enhanced area of grassland.  The Wildlife Trust is satisfied that the 
details can be secured by condition. 
 
NPT, as land owner, has confirmed that this approach is acceptable.  As the land, the subject of the 
compensatory measures in not in the control of the applicant it will be necessary to append a 
Grampian condition to ensure that these measures are implemented prior to the commencement of 
development. 
 
As stated in section a) above the majority of the site is designated under policy LP15 for the provision 
of walking and cycling infrastructure and therefore there is no alternative site which would provide 
this purpose and the loss of the CWS can be compensated for which would include a net gain for 
biodiversity.   
 
It is considered benefits provided by the cycleway/footway including improved sustainable travel 
promoting healthy and active lifestyles, environmental benefits and improved access to the western  
areas of Nene Park would outweigh the loss of the CWS. 
 
The proposal therefore accords with policy LP28 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) 
and para. 175 of the NPPF (2019). 
 
Nesting Birds:  The proposal would result in the loss of suitable nesting habitat, such works should 
be undertaken outside of the bird nesting season unless a bird nesting survey is undertaken.  An 
informative would be appended to the decision notice.  The Ecology Report recommends the 
provision of nesting habitats in the form of nest boxes. 
 
Bats:  A very small section of the tree / hedgerow belt is to be removed to allow the cycle route to 
cross the dismantled railway into the floodplain. There are roosting opportunities for bats however, 
no trees are to be directly impacted by the proposed works and no trees are proposed to be removed. 
The  entire  site  was  considered  suitable  to  support  foraging  /commuting  bats,  particularly along 

43



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 36 

the dismantled railway line. There is the potential to enhance the site for bats through the installation 
of bat boxes on mature trees within the dismantled railway line.  
 
No lighting is proposed to be installed as part of the proposal and a condition would be appended to 
ensure that no lighting is installed without the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Badgers:  It is not anticipated that any tunnels would be impacted by the development.  The Ecology 
Report recommends that a pre-commencement badger check is carried out to ensure no new 
setts/burrows have been created within the zone of influence of the works during the intervening 
time, following which further recommendations may follow.  It is advised that Trenches/pits created 
during the works will be covered/fenced nightly to prevent badgers from becoming trapped.  
Alternatively, ramps  may  be  installed to allow badgers  to  escape freely.  
 
Great Crested Newts:  The Ecology Report advises that the impact on potentially present great 
crested newts by the proposed development/works is assessed as negligible. However, as a pre-
cautionary  measure,  all working  areas  subject  to  vegetation  removal  will  be  fingertip  searched  
by  an  experienced ecologist and all vegetation removal will be subject to a watching brief under the 
supervision of an ecologist. At the end of construction works, the ‘roll out road’ to be installed at the 
northern end of the route will be lifted under the supervision of an experienced ecologist. To mitigate 
for the loss of suitable habitat it is proposed that log piles, and, or brash piles are created within the 
tree/hedge line of the dismantled railway.  
 
Reptiles:  The dismantled railway line is noted for its suitability for reptiles and the prevailing habitats 
are potentially suitable. However, the dismantled  railway  line  is  a  well-used  permissible footpath,  
the  ground is  very  compacted resulting in suitability for basking reptiles only, and mainly confined 
to the peripheries of the railway line. The Ecology Report recommends site clearance is undertaken 
under supervision and to mitigate for the loss of suitable habitat it is proposed that log piles, and, or 
brash piles are created within the tree/hedge line of the dismantled railway.   
 
Hedgehog:  It is recommended that onsite vegetation considered suitable to support hedgehogs 
would be avoided. If this  is  not  practicable  then  clearance  will  be  carried  out  by  hand  or  under  
supervision, avoiding frosty days when hedgehogs may be hibernating. As with badgers, 
pits/trenches will be fenced/covered to avoid hedgehogs from becoming trapped/injured. If this 
mitigation is followed, then no significant effect on hedgehogs is anticipated.  
 
European Rabbit:  Active rabbit warrens were identified within areas of improved grassland and the 
treeline / hedgerow during the walkover survey (TN3). Rabbits are protected under the Wild 
Mammals (Protection) Act 1996 which makes it an offence to cause unnecessary suffering. It is 
recommended that works to rabbit burrows will be avoided, and care will be taken when excavating 
close to the rabbit  burrows  to  reduce  risk  of  injuring  individuals.  A  banksman  should  be  
provided  to reduce the risks of encountering rabbits when excavating. 
 
Having reviewed the updated ecological survey report the Ecologist raises no objections subject to 
the details within sections 8.5.2 (badgers) and 8.6.2 (great crested newt) of ‘Ecological Impact 
Assessment’ being secured by condition. 
 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest – Natural England Based on the plans submitted, considers that 
the proposed development would not have likely significant effects on statutorily protected sites and 
so has no objection to the proposed development. 
 
Concerns have been made regarding the risk the cattle grid poses for wildlife.  The Cycle forum has 
suggested that the cattle grids incorporate a design feature which will allow a small animal to escape 
from under the grid in the unlikely event it has fallen down between the bars.  These details would 
be secured by condition. 
 
The proposal would avoid any adverse impact on the biodiversity within the site, including protected 
species and biodiversity enhancements would be provided.  Hence the proposal accords with 

44



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 37 

policies LP24, LP28 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and para 175 of the NPPF 
(2019). 
 
d) Landscape Implications 
 
There are a number of existing trees within close proximity to the cycleway/footway that would be 
impacted upon as a part of the proposed works.  No trees are proposed to be removed. No 
Arboricultural Information supports the application. The Tree Officer has been consulted on the 
proposal and raises no objection in principle, subject to further information being secured by 
condition with regards to root protection of trees including an Arboricultural Impact Assessment  (AIA) 
and Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS).  The method statement will confirm the construction 
methods used, both to limit the impact on the root protection area of any affected trees, and also to 
limit root damage over the long term to the surface of the cycle/pedestrian way. This will involve the 
use of ‘cellweb’ or similar geogrid with the subbase, in any areas where it is necessary. 
 
The removal of a small section overhanging branches, scrub understory of the tree/hedgerow belt 
along the dismantled railway line is not considered likely to disrupt the connectivity and thus 
functionality of this corridor.  
 
It is considered that appropriate methods would be implemented to protect the existing trees 
surrounding the site and therefore the proposal would accord with policy LP29 of the Adopted 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
e) Flood risk and drainage 
 
The Environment Agency’s indicative flood map shows that the majority of the proposed path route 
is located in Flood Zone 3 and partly within Flood Zone 2.  
 
Para 155 of the NPPF advises that inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be 
avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk. Where development is necessary 
in such areas, the development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere.  In this case, the land is allocated within the Local Plan for walking and cycling 
infrastructure to enable the provision of a sustainable walking and cycle link to the west. It is therefore 
considered that there is no reasonable alternative route or better site at lesser risk of flooding. 
 
Para. 159 of the NPPF advises that if it is not possible for development to be located in zones with 
a lower risk of flooding (taking into account wider sustainable development objectives), the exception 
test may have to be applied. The proposed land use (amenity open-space, outdoor sports and 
recreation) is categorised as ‘Water-compatible development’ as defined in Table 2 of NPPF-TG and 
as such is assessed to be appropriate development for both Flood Zone 3 and Flood Zone 2 (Table 
3 of NPPF-TG).  Therefore the Exception Test is not required. 
 
The majority of the proposed path route is located within the floodplain of the River Nene. There is 
therefore a risk of fluvial flooding to the path. Comments have been made about the principle of the 
development in an area which is at risk of flooding at certain times.  It is accepted that there will be 
times when the path will be impassable.   
 
A public flood warning service is in operation by the Environment Agency, for areas near the River 
Nene in Peterborough including Sutton, Water Newton, Thorpe Meadows and Woodston. 
 
The new path would have a finished surface flush with the surrounding existing ground levels for the 
main part and therefore will not result in any loss of flood plain storage capacity. Where the path will 
be raised up, alongside the existing railway embankment, it will tie into the embankment in a way 
which does not impede flows across the flood plain. The size of the loss of floodplain caused by 
raising the path level is very minimal in relation to the overall flood plain volume. All new or 
replacement boundary fencing will be timber post and wire and will therefore be permeable flood 
water flows. 

45



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 38 

 
The construction of the path through the existing underpass is to be gabion boxes to allow the 
permeability of the flood water. Where levels allow, a new drainage system will be installed to allow 
for a more effective dispersal of flood waters following a flood event into the surrounding field drain 
network.    
 
The proposed development will result in an overall increase in the impermeable area of the site, 
however this will occur as a very narrow linear strip, which will be profiled to drain to infiltrate into the 
existing permeable ground to either side of the path. The risk of flooding occurring from the site 
drainage is therefore considered to be insignificant, and able to be mitigated through good surface 
water management practices. 
 
The Drainage Team has considered the proposal and raises no objections subject to further 
clarification being submitted on the maintenance and management of the proposed timber bridge  
and the ramp construction which includes a cross section to show the length of construction and 
pipes, headwall details, backfill materials, bedding surround and fencing.  The details would be 
secured by condition. 
 
It is considered that the proposal would not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere and the site can 
be appropriately drained and would accord with policy LP32 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019) and paras.  155, 158, 159, 163 and 165 of the NPPF (2019). 
 
f) Impact on Heritage Assets 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019) sets out high level policies to conserve and 
enhance the historic environment. The approach set out in paragraphs 189-202 is of particular 
relevance.   
 
Considerable weight and importance should be given to the avoidance of harm to conservation areas 
and the significance of a listed building and its setting.  The presumption against the avoidance of 
harm is a statutory one, and can only be outweighed if there are material considerations strong 
enough to do so.  
 
Policy LP19 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) places emphasis on the protection of 
designated heritage assets and their settings.  All proposals that would directly affect any heritage 
asset should be accompanied by a Heritage Statement. 
 
Sutton Conservation Area 
 
The beginning on the route starts just inside the Sutton Conservation Area boundary, close to listed 
and locally listed buildings.  The presence of the route will also have an impact upon the general 
Conservation Area due to its presence and use. Section 72 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 places a duty on the LPA to pay ‘special regard’ to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the special character or appearance of conservation areas.  
 
The Conservation Officer considers that although Sutton now appears relatively isolated with no 
through traffic, this is mostly a modern construct brought upon due to the increase in vehicle traffic. 
Historically there would have been access to Stibbington, Water Newton and Durobrivae, various 
access of which can still be discerned and are more explicit within the first OS Map. There is a clear 
preference for Sutton to be linked up on none motorised routes, bringing the village back in to the 
local historical environment connectivity.  This will be of benefit to the appreciation of the many 
heritage assets within the village. As such there is no concern with the re-establishment of greater 
connectivity of Sutton with other local destinations. 
  

Lovers Lane is a verdant and pleasant access to the village centre from the south. It provides good 
views of various Listed buildings at the northern end, with some interesting buildings and features 
as your traverse southward out of the village. These culminate in open views of elements of the 

46



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 39 

‘Grange’ with glimpses of the historic and Listed buildings on Graeme Road before you arrive at the 
open countryside with its appearance of former village common and flood plain. 
 
The only impact to Lovers Lane positive serene character from the proposal would be through its 
increased use. However as this would be relatively limited, it would not be materially detrimental and 
more than balanced by its greater appreciation by the public. It is accepted that this benefit would 
be lost if as preferred the cycle path remained on the former railway feature. 
 
The Conservation Officer considers there is a clear preference for the route to remain on the former 
railway, however, as discussed above this would require land which is outside the applicant’s control. 
 
The Conservation Officer raises concerns in respect of the proposed tarmac surfacing and advises 
that a softer hardened gravel be used as this would allow for the appreciation of the route to be of a 
more subservient arrangement and differentiate it as a former railway rather than a road.  The 
applicant has responded that tarmac/asphalt is far more durable than softer surfaces and the 
maintenance costs are significantly lower.  In addition the Transport Guidance LTN 1/20 
recommends the use of harder sealed surfaces for cycle routes.  However the applicant has 
confirmed that consideration will be given to rolling chipped gravel into the surface to make it seem 
less like a roadway and perhaps more suitable to the rural setting. These details would be secured 
by condition. 
  
Former railway line and construction of the cycle way 
 
The abandoned railway is a non-designated heritage asset due to its history, its importance to the 
development of district and the completeness as a line which is easily appreciable within the 
landscape. The Local Planning Authority has a duty under the NPPF when considering whether to 
grant permission for development which affects a non-designated heritage asset or its setting to 
have regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.  As stated in 
section a) above under policy LP15 of the Local Plan part of the route along the discussed railway 
line is safeguarded for a walking and cycling route.  The Conservation Officer’s view is that the re-
use of heritage assets is considered an important aim in conservation as it ensures their future use.  
In this instance the principle of conversion of the archaeological feature to a cycle track is welcomed 
because in addition to its re-use, it would also keep the transport use of the former line and allow the 
public to better appreciate the asset. In combination with the Heritage Railway Line at Wansford as 
a destination it would also allow for a more holistic approach to the use of the redundant railway 
infrastructure. 
 
As set out above there is a preference for the former line to form the basis of the cycle route however 
the proposal only uses a section and appears to make full re-use of the line more difficult. In the 
future the cycle path should meet up with the Green Wheel in Southorpe, therefore allowing the 
entire of the abandoned line to be traversed from Wansford Station to Stamford.  
 
The second point of concern is where the proposed cycle way drops off the abandoned railway. 
There is a clear preference for as much of the route to be utilised as possible. In this instance there 
is potential for the route to continue further. It is however understood that due to the height of the 
bank closer to the bridge this would make access and egress difficult. 
 
The former railway lines have been removed and only the archaeological feature remains. Although 
the works would impact upon the former railway line through surface excavation, this is considered 
limited and as it is to be filled the form of the archaeological feature will be retained. As such the loss 
of some of the integrity of the remaining earthwork is an acceptable loss to bring the former railway 
route back in to use. 
 
The applicant has advised that because it is only possible to cross the river by using the NVR 
footbridge, any route must emerge on the south side of the NVR line. It is not possible to continue 
much further on the existing line to the point where it meets the existing NVR line because of the 
difference in ground levels and there would need to be a way of crossing the NVR. An earlier design 

47



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 40 

considered continuing along the disused line then through an underpass to the south side of the 
NVR line. It then ran alongside the embankment before going up to the level of the current floodspans 
and footbridge by means of a ramp on steel stilts built into or beside the embankment. This design 
was not acceptable to the NVR.  Using more of the disused line would therefore be impracticable. 
 
Replacement Steps to NVR Bridge 
 
The NVR bridge is Grade II listed and therefore the Local Planning Authority has a duty under the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 Section 66.1 when considering 
whether to grant permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting to have a 
special regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings, their special features and their setting, 
with the latter often an essential ingredient of its character.   
 
The Heritage Statement submitted with the application did not include an assessment of the impact 
the development would have on the listed building as required by para 189 of the NPPF. A revised 
Heritage Statement has now been received and the Conservation Officer considers a sufficient 
assessment has been made.  In addition a separate Listed Building Consent application is also under 
consideration. 
 
The only change to the listed structure will be the replacement of the existing steel steps, which are  
themselves not part of the original nineteenth century structure and not in keeping with it. The new 
steps will be built up to the existing footbridge, with a wheeling channel for bicycles and a waiting 
area. Cyclists will thus be able to go up to the footbridge and wheel their bikes across more easily. 
Although the new steps would have an impact, being larger than the current staircase and extending 
further along the length of the floodspans, they will be more in keeping with the historic structure 
because the balustrade of the stairs will match the existing ‘lattice work’ design of the bridge parapet 
both in style and colour. They will offer much greater ease of access to cyclists and pedestrians. 
 
The staircase is split in to two parts, a stone staircase for the bottom third and a cast iron staircase 
rising from the stone element to the bridge. The railings which form the upper element continue down 
the stone element providing the enclosure.  The Conservation Officer considers that the existing 
staircase was presumably part of the 1977 restoration and is incongruous with the decorative metal 
work on the bridge and does not reference the character of the Listed building and raises no 
objections to the replacement staircase.  The details of materials and finishing would be secured by 
condition under the Listed Building Consent. 

 

Comments have been submitted regarding acceptability of the heritage statement. The Conservation 
Officer’s view is that although a more detailed Heritage Statement would be welcomed, the applicant 
meets the requirements in NPPF paragraph 189, and so this is deemed sufficient.  

 

Comments have also been made regarding the requirement of a balancing exercise required by 
paras. 195-6 of the NPPF. The proposals are not considered ‘less than substantial’ harm and as 
such no balancing exercise is required.  

 
It is further suggested that a “comprehensive statement of significance and heritage impact 
assessment in accordance with NPPF section 16 should be required”. The Conservation Officer’s 
view is there is no justification for this requirement. The proposal would impact upon a Grade II Listed 
building and two NDHA’s and there is no suggestion that the impact would be anything more than 
minimal. 

 

In general the proposal is considered to be of benefit to the Sutton Conservation Area, the 
archaeological feature of the former railway line which is considered a non-designated heritage 
assets and the Grade II Listed bridge. 
 
It is considered that the work will not have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of 
the listed building and would accord with section 66(1) Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, It is considered that the work will preserve the character and appearance of the 

48



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 41 

Sutton Conservation Area in accordance with Section 72(1), of the Town and Country Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) and is in accordance with policy 
LP19 of the adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019), and the National Planning Policy Framework 
(Heritage considerations).  
 
g) Archaeology 
 
The proposed route crosses an area of medieval ridge and furrow visible on aerial photographs as 
cropmarks and partly surviving as earthworks. Remains may extend towards the proposed cycle 
route. The route will follow the existing embankment of the disused railway branch line which has 
already been dismantled. 
 
The Archaeologist considers that the scheme is not going to have a major impact on potential buried 
remains however requested further information on the works compound area and the new 3m wide 
timber cycle/footbridge over the field drain, including the type and depth of foundation. 
 

The applicant has provided a revised drawing showing the location of the works compound which 

will provide parking and material storage provision.  This would be served by a 5m wide access track 

from Lovers Lane.  Matting such as ‘Tufftraks’ or ‘Groundmatz’ will be used, both for the access track 

and the compound to protect the existing ground surface. If any infilling is needed over uneven 

ground then sharp sand or something similar will be used to create a level base area. The matting 

and any in-fill material will be removed once construction is completed.  

The site for the compound is outside the area of historic ridge and furrow shown in recent Lidar plots 

and commented within the Heritage Statement. 

Further information have been submitted detailing the groundwork and foundations for the new 

cycle/footbridge. We are proposing that a concrete bankseat approx. 1.0m X 0.7m is used although 

the final dimensions will be determined at the final design stage using geotechnical survey 

information.  

Other groundworks associated with the construction are the cycle grids and ramps at the exits from 
the disused railway line and the construction of new steps adjacent to the NVR railway bridge. None 
of these elements encroach on known historic features recorded in the Heritage Environmental 
Record. 
 
In order to provide additional safeguarding of previously unknown historic features,  Dr Upex, the 
author of the report has offered to visit the site during the construction phase and examine any new 
groundwork. 
 
Our Archaeologist is satisfied that the proposal would not impact on buried remains and that a 
programme of archaeological work would not be required. 
 
The supporting heritage statement advises that the proposal would bring benefits from a ‘Heritage’ 
perspective; it would provide access to the western part of the Nene park trust’s rural estate which 
has a wealth of natural and historic interest and increased access to the Nene Valley Railway. 
 
In addition the future provision of leaflets and other material Nene Park Trust with information about 
this locality, could provide much additional background information about the historic features which 
will allow visitors  to  increase  their  understanding  and  appreciation  of  the history of the area. 
This is accepted. 
 
The proposal would not result in any impact on archaeological remains and therefore accords with 
policy LP19 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paras. 189 and 190 of the NPPF 
(2019). 
 
h) Impact on Amenity 

49



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 42 

 
A number of objections have been received regarding the potential increase in walkers and cyclist 
passing through the village which will affect the peace and tranquillity and impact on the amenity of 
residents.   Whilst it is accepted that the number of visitors to the village would increase it is not 
considered that this would be to an unacceptable level, and would be no different to many other 
villages across the country. 
 
Concerns have also been raised regarding the risk of serious injuries resulting from speeding cyclists 
through the village.  As stated above in the report a Walking, Cyclist and Horse Riding (WCHR) is to 
be provided within the scheme to dual the A47 and it is likely that cyclists wishing to travel at speed 
would be more attracted to this route given that the village has a 20 mph speed limit and the proposed 
cycleway/footway would not provide a 'fast track'.  Like all road users, most are respectful however 
there is always the exception to the rule. 
 
As some commenters have stated in many cases it is the local car users and delivery vans that pose 
the biggest risk to users of the highway.  
 
Whilst some residents refer to the existing increase in vehicle traffic through the village.  The 
proposed cycleway/footway may actually reduce the number of vehicles coming to the village 
through the provision of this pedestrian/cycleway route, allowing people the option to use more 
sustainable travel modes other than the car. 
 
A number of objections have been received regarding the impact on horse riders which is part of the 
character of village life.  Horse riding and cycling already co-exist locally and all over the country. 
Sutton is no different to other villages in this respect. In fact many routes, including the proposal to 
dual the A47 propose shared routes for walkers, cyclists and horse riders, as they are considered 
compatible users. 
 
Comments received by a local resident refer to statistics regarding accidents between cyclist and 
horse riders. The risk of a horse rider being injured as a result of cycling or cyclists is one in two 
million.  The resident has received information from the BHS advising that they have recorded 88 
injuries to horse riders over the last ten years where cycling was contributory. This ten-year statistic 
needs to be set against the popularity of horse riding. In the UK approximately 1.8 million people ride 
horses at least once a month. Therefore, according to BHS statistics, the national risk of injury related 
to cycling is about one in two million.  
 
The resident goes on to say that the statistical evidence therefore suggests that the chance of horse 
rider injury due to cycling in Sutton is minimal, and is far less than other risk factors which face riders 
of horses on a daily basis such as equestrian competition or motorised road vehicles which currently 
cause 2 horses die per week on a national level. If there is risk to horses and riders in Sutton this is 
where it lies. 
 
Turning to the Menage there is concern that this facility would be significantly impacted by the 
cycleway/footway.  The Menage is enclosed and there is a separation of approximately 2m between 
the Menage and the proposed cycleway/footway.  A group of trees bound the southern boundary. 
 
On a recent visit to the site by the case officer, it was apparent that the existing permissive footpath 
is a popular route for walkers.  However walkers do not always stay on this route and take a route 
adjacent to the Menage and through to the route along the former railway line.  These include dog 
walkers.  Whilst the proposal would result in more visitors to this part of Sutton both walkers and 
cyclist this is not likely to be excessive and given the existing recreational use it is not considered 
that the proposal would unduly impact on the Menage facility. 
 
A number of objections have been raised regarding the danger posed by the installation of the cattle 
grids to horses.  The cattle grids are intended to provide a continued route for cyclists along one side 
of the route; access for pedestrians would be through a 1.2m wide gate.  Cattle grids are part of the 
rural character and it is not considered that they would be of any more danger in this location than 

50



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 43 

elsewhere.  The applicant’s preference is for the cattle grids to remain and it is considered 
unreasonable to insist that they are removed. 
 
Concern has been raised that the route would cause the increased use of the Bridleways Ailsworth 
3 and Sutton 3 or the highway by cyclists. Whilst horse riders and cyclists can and do share the 
PROW network safely and mostly considerately, as this bridleway network is extremely limited, there 
is no option to dissipate any increased traffic over other routes. 
 
It is accepted that some cyclists may use these routes however it is more likely that cyclists would 
prefer to cycle on a road or cycle route in preference to the bridleways. 
 
The proposal would result in additional visitors to the village of Sutton however, it is not considered 
that the increase would be significant and would not unduly impact on the amenity of residents.  
Hence the proposal accords with policy LP17 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
i) Impact on character 
 
The character of Sutton village is well recognised for its quiet and tranquil character.  There is 
concern that the cycleway/footpath would result in a significant increase in visitors; cyclists, 
pedestrians and vehicles.  The purpose of the route is to provide better access by cyclists and 
pedestrians to the NVR and beyond and therefore it is likely that the number of visitors would not 
substantially increase.  There is already a permissive right of way across the field which draws people 
to the village and whilst it is accepted that visitor numbers would increase it is not considered that 
this would be to a degree which would harmfully alter the village character. 
 
The purpose of the route is to provide access for cyclist and pedestrians linking up existing routes 
and in the most part this is unlikely to result in significant numbers of vehicles parking on the 
narrow village lanes. 
 
A number of concerns have been raised regarding the tarmac surface which is out of keeping with 
the rural setting and this is accepted.  As stated above the applicant is in agreement for gravel to 
be rolled into the surface which would address the maintenance of the route and at the same time 
soften its appearance and respect the rural character.  These details would be secured by 
condition. 
 
It is therefore not considered that the proposal would be unsympathetic to the character of the village 
and would accord with policies LP16 and LP19 of the adopted Peterborough Local Plan. 
 
j) Items not covered in the above report 
 
• The application has serious errors of fact, omissions and misleading statements, particularly 

related to Highways England and Stibbington Parish Council opinions. Officer response: 
Representations have been received as part of the planning application. 

• The applicant claims that Highways England considers that the application proposal is 
complementary to the planned cycle way along the A47 works; this is incorrect. Officer 
response:  HE have been consulted on the application and have raised no objection. 

• I should like to invite the Planning Officer to visit the site and Sutton in order that she/he may 
understand the risks that the application poses.  Officer response:  Site visits have been 
undertaken. 

• There is lack of clarity towards the funding and upkeep of the path. Officer response:  The 
funding of the path is not a material planning consideration. 

• In the absence of documents the application is technically incomplete having regard to the 
national and local list for validation and should not therefore progress to determination.  Officer 
response:  The information submitted was sufficient to validate the application.  Further 
updates/information have been received during the application process. 

 
 

51



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 44 

 
6 Conclusions 
 
Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically: 
 
 

• The proposal would provide a sustainable cycleway/footway along a route which is safeguarded 
for such provision in accordance with policies LP1, LP13 and LP15 of the Adopted Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019); 

 

• The proposal would provide an accessible cycleway/footway enhancing the recreational offer 
within the Nene Valley promoting active and healthy lifestyles in accordance with policies LP7 
and LP24 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paras.  91 and 92 of the NPPF; 

 

• The proposal would not unduly impact on the surrounding highway network in accordance with 
policy LP13 of the adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019); 

 

• The proposal would provide appropriate compensatory measures for the loss of the Sutton 
County Wildlife site in accordance with policy LP28 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan and 
para. 175 of the NPPF (2019). 

 

• The proposal would avoid any adverse impact on the biodiversity within the site, including 
protected species and biodiversity enhancements would be provided.  Hence the proposal 
accords with policies LP24, LP28 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and para 175 
of the NPPF (2019); 

 

• Appropriate methods would be implemented to protect the existing trees surrounding the site and 
therefore the proposal would accord with policy LP29 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019). 

 

• The proposal has demonstrated that there are no sequentially preferable sites available at a 
lesser risk of flooding and that the development would not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. 
The proposal therefore accords with policy LP24 and LP32 of the Adopted Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019) and paras  155, 158, 159 of the NPPF (2019). 

 

• The proposal has demonstrated that the site can be suitably drained, will incorporate SuDS into 
the proposal to reduce surface water run-off.  The proposal therefore accords with policy LP32 
of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paras. 163 and 165 of the NPPF (2019). 

 

• The proposal would have a negligible impact on the Listed Bridge and would not harm the setting 
of the Listed Buildings and Conservation Area within the village of Sutton hence the proposal 
accords with policy LP19 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paras.   189, 190 
and 192 of the NPPF (2019). 

 

• The proposal would not result in any impact on archaeological remains and therefore the 
proposal accords with policy LP19 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019 and para. 189 
of the NPPF (2019). 

 

• The proposal would not unduly impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers and therefore 
accords with policy LP17 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan in respect of neighbouring 
amenity. 

 

• The proposal would not unduly impact on the character of the village of Sutton and hence the 
proposal accords with policy LP16 of the adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

52



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 45 

 
 
 
7 Recommendation 
 
 
The Executive Director of Place and Economy recommends that Planning Permission is 
GRANTED subject to the following conditions: 
 
  
C 1 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the following approved plans 

and documents: 
 

• Location Plan (Planning Red Line Drawing) drg. no. 11965-PAPP-PCW-01 Rev B 

• Proposed route between Sutton and Wansford Station sheet 1 of 5 drg. no.  11965-
DWG-PCW-FC-01 Rev C 

• Proposed route between Sutton and Wansford Station sheet 2 of 5 drg. no. 11965-
DWG-PCW-FC-02 Rev B 

• Proposed route between Sutton and Wansford Station sheet 3 of 5 drg. no. 11965-
DWG-PCW-FC-03 Rev B 

• Proposed route between Sutton and Wansford Station sheet 4 of 5 drg. no. 11965-
DWG-PCW-FC-04 Rev B 

• Proposed route between Sutton and Wansford Station sheet 5 of 5 drg. no. 11965-
DWG-PCW-FC-05 Rev B 

• Typical Details drg. no.  11965-DWG-PCW-FC-06 Rev C 

• Proposed route from Green Wheel to Wansford NVR station 

• Proposed cycle / pedestrian route through Sutton 

• Heritage Statement – November 2020 

• Ecological Impact Assessment – December 2020 

• Proposed compensatory work on Sutton Meadows South CWS 

• Sequential Test Statement – January 2021 

• Archaeological Statement – November 2020 

• Flood Risk Assessment – November 2016 
 
  
 Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  
 
C 2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted flood risk 

assessment (ref Sustrans, dated November 2019) and the following mitigation measures it 
details: 

  

• The northern section of the new path to have a finished surface flush with the 
surrounding existing ground levels. 

• The path will be raised up, alongside the existing railway embankment, it will tie into the 
embankment in a way which does not impede flows across the flood plain. 

• Any arisings generated by the path construction will either be removed and disposed 
off-site or where suitable will be deposited on ground that is outside of Flood Zones 2 
and 3. 

• All new or replacement boundary fencing to be timber post and wire. 
 

 These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently 
in accordance with the scheme’s timing/phasing arrangements. The measures detailed 
above shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the 
development. 

  

53



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 46 

 Reason:  To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants 
in accordance with policy LP32 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and para.  
155 of the NPPF. 

  
 
C 3 All ecological measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations contained in section 8.3.2 (nesting birds), 8.4.2 (bats), 8.5.2 (badgers),  
8.6.2 (great crested newt), 8.7.2 (reptiles), 8.8.2 (hedgehogs) and 8.9.2 (rabbits) within the 
‘Ecological Impact Assessment Peterborough Cycleway Wansford Station to Sutton’ by 
Greenwillows Associates Ltd and dated December 2020. 

  
 Reason:  In  order  to  ensure  that  the  development  does  not  have  an  adverse  ecological 

impact in accordance with policy LP28 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
   
C 4 The development hereby approved shall not commence unless and until the following 

measures as described in the ‘Proposed compensatory work on Sutton Meadows South 
CWS’ have been completed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority:- 

 
• A survey of the CWS and fields immediately adjacent to it to be made at the appropriate 

time of year, to identify an area of poorer grassland  where compensatory measures 
would be most effective. This area shall be at least 0.8ha.  

• This area shall then be harrowed and spread with locally sourced green hay from a 
nearby local provenance species-rich site. 

 
The area shall be monitored annually for a period of at least 3 years, to record its 
continuing diversity as part of the conservation aims of the CWS. 

 
The applicant shall submit a single annual monitoring report to the Local Planning Authority 
for written approval for the first three years following the commencement of development. 
 
If,  after  evaluating  the  submitted  monitoring  results,  the  Local  Planning  Authority 
considers  remedial  measures  are  necessary,  it  will  serve  notice  on  the  applicant 
requiring a scheme of remedial measures. The remedial measures shall be fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development. Within one month of 
receiving such written notice, the applicant shall submit such a scheme of remedial measures  
(including  a  timeframe  for  implementation)  and  the  approved  remedial measures  shall  
be  implemented  in  accordance  with  the  approved  scheme  and programme. 
 
Reason:  To ensure appropriate compensation for the impact of the proposed 
cycleway/footway on Sutton Meadows South Country Wildlife Site and in accordance with 
policy LP28 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and para. 175 of the NPPF 
(2019). 

 
C 5 No lighting shall be installed along the proposed cycleway/footway unless otherwise agreed 

by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
 Reason:  In the interests of amenity and to avoid impact on ecology and in accordance with 

policy LP16 and LP28 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
  
C 6 Prior to the commencement of development the following details shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority :- 
  
 * An Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) 
 * An Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) 
 

54



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 47 

  All trees within 15m of any proposed development, including their root protection areas 
should be clearly and accurately marked on any submitted plan/s and included within any 
AIA/AMS, where appropriate. 

 
 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
 Reason: In order to protect retained trees and hedges in accordance with policy LP16 and 

LP29 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan 2019. Policies DPD.  This is a pre-
commencement condition as measure to protect trees shall need to be agreed prior to 
works commencing on site. 

  
 
C 7 Notwithstanding the details hereby approved,  prior to the laying of the surfacing of the 

proposed cycleway/footpath hereby approved, the details of the surface finished shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 The surface finish shall be tarmac with chipped gravel rolled into the surface. 
  
 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
  
 Reason:  To provide a more natural appearance in keeping with the rural setting and in 

accordance with policies LP16 and LP19 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
    
 
C 8 No development shall take place until a Construction Traffic Management Plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
 The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved detail. 

 
Reason: To minimise and mitigate the impact on Lovers Lane and in accordance with policy 
LP13 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 

 
C 9 No development shall take place until details of the tie in of the proposed cycleway/footway 

to the adopted highway have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
 The details shall include visibility splays at the junction connection with Lovers Lane. 
 

The proposed cycleway/footway shall not be brought into use until all of the works have been 
completed in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 

Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  This is a pre-commencement condition because the off site 
highway works are required to make the development acceptable and in addition to planning 
approval will require permission from the Highway Authority under the Highways Act. 

 
C10 Prior to installation of the cattle grids details of the bar diameter and spacing shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
 The cattle grids shall incorporate features which allow a small animal to escape from under 

the grid in the event it has fallen down between the bars.  
 
 Reason:  In the interests of safety and biodiversity and in accordance with policies LP13 

and LP28 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
C11 The Sheffield cycle stands shall be provided prior to the cycleway/footway being brought 

55



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 48 

into use and shall be retained in perpetuity.  The stands shall be placed no less than 1m 
apart. 

 
 Reason: In order to ensure that sufficient and suitable cycle parking is available in 

accordance with policy LP13 of the adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
C12 Details of the cycle wheel channel shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. 
 
 Thereafter the cycle wheel channel shall be provided in accordance with the approved 

details prior to the cycleway/footway being brought into use.   
 
 Reason:  To ensure the cycle wheel channel shall be of an appropriate design in the 

interests of amenity and safety and to encourage sustainable means of travel in accordance 
with policy LP13 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 
C13 No fencing is to be installed on the public highway. 
 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy LP13 of the Adopted 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

 

 
C14 Prior to the proposed cycleway/footway being brought into use details of appropriate 

signage to warn cyclists that horses are likely to be in the road ahead shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
The approved signage shall be erected prior to the cycleway/footway being brought into 
use. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with policy LP13 of the 
Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
 

 
Copies to Councillor: Gavin Elsey 
 

56



The Site

Print Date: 10/06/2021

Planning Committee Location Plan- 20/01746/LBC-Nene Valley Railway Bridge Sutton Peterborough

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:2,500

0 30 60 90 12015
Meters

Scale
57



This page is intentionally left blank

58



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Planning and EP Committee            Item No. 2 
 
Application Ref: 20/01746/LBC  
 
Proposal: Construction of new steps to Nene Valley viaduct 
 
Site: Nene Valley Railway Bridge, Sutton, Peterborough,  
Applicant: Mr Andrew Nash 
  
Referred by:   Head of Development and Construction 
Reason:  A separate application has been submitted for the construction of a 

footway/cycleway (ref. 21/01026/FUL) which has been referred to 
Planning and EP Committee  

Site visit: 09.02.2021 
 
Case officer: Mrs J MacLennan 
Telephone No. 01733 4501733 454438 
E-Mail: janet.maclennan@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and surroundings 
 
The application site is the Nene Valley Railway Bridge which is Grade II listed (list entry : 1222196  
on 16/11/88), circa 1845 and forms part of a collection of four Listed buildings all connected to the 
railway infrastructure of the wider site and built for the London and North Western Railway L.N.W.R. 
Northampton - Peterborough line. Since its closure this section has been repurposed as a leisure 
attraction which retains the significance of the asset. 
 

The bridge is cast iron with double track and a pedestrian way.  The bridge is formed of two parts. 
The first is the pillars to support the span across the river which are constructed of black engineering 
brick with stone base. The second element crosses the flood plain up to the embankment and has 
stone pillars with an open barrier. 
 
Proposal 
 
The application seeks approval for the construction of a new set of steps to the existing bridge 
structure.  The new steps would be wider and longer than the existing steps to allow easier access 
for cyclists and pedestrians and would include two resting places and a wheeling channel for 
bicycles.  The steps would have lattice work and balustrade to match the existing and would be 
painted ‘Signal Grey’ RAL 7004. 
 
A separate application is also under consideration for ‘Construction of dual use cycle/pedestrian path 
and associated earthworks from Sutton village across the meadows to the Nene Valley Railway 
station’ (ref.  20/01026/FUL). 
 
 

59



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

2 Planning History 
 

Reference Proposal Decision Date 
20/01026/FUL Construction of dual use cycle/pedestrian 

path and associated earthworks from 
Sutton village across the meadows to the 
Nene Valley Railway station at Stibbington, 
including cattle grids, a  new 3m wide 
timber cycle/footbridge over field drain and 
new flight of steps with wheeling channel to 
the footbridge across the River Nene 

Pending 
Decision  

 

 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions  
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
it possesses. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) 
 
Section 16 - Impact on Designated Heritage Assets  
Local Planning Authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining and enhance the 
significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation, 
the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable communities 
including their economic viability and the desirability of new development making a positive 
contribution to local character and distinctiveness. When considering the impact of development 
great weight should be given to the assets conservation. This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less then substantial harm to its 
significance. Any harm to or loss of the significance of the designated heritage assets should 
require clear and convincing justification. Where a proposed development will lead to substantial 
harm to the designated heritage assets permission should be refused unless it can be 
demonstrated that substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits 
that outweigh that harm. Where harm is less than substantial this harm should be weighed against 
the public benefits including securing an optimum use of the asset. 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (2019) 
 
 
LP19 - The Historic Environment  
Development should protect, conserve and enhance where appropriate the local character and 
distinctiveness of the area particularly in areas of high heritage value.  
 
Unless it is explicitly demonstrated that a proposal meets the tests of the NPPF permission will 
only be granted for development affecting a designated heritage asset where the impact would not 
lead to substantial loss or harm. Where a proposal would result in less than substantial harm this 
harm will be weighed against the public benefit. 
 
Proposals which fail to preserve or enhance the setting of a designated heritage asset will not be 
supported. 
 
 

60



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Conservation Officer - No objection subject to details of materials and treatment to be 
secured by condition. 
 
The stair arrangement is not original and is presumed to date from the renovation works in the 1970's.  
Although both planning and LBC permissions are required for the works to replace the stairs, they 
must be considered on their own merits. Issues which are not related to the potential impact of the 
works upon the significance of the Grade II Listed bridge should not be taken into consideration. The 
only exception to this is with regard the vitality and sustainability of the heritage asset. There is no 
suggestion from the applicant that the proposals are necessary for continued productive use of the 
site, however part of the justification of the works is that they will enhance the public interaction with 
the heritage assets on the site. Although no evidence has been submitted regarding the extent of 
this benefit, it is clear there would be a benefit. Due to the lack of information however regarding the 
benefit and the existing viability of the asset this has not been a material consideration within this 
assessment of the proposed works. 
 
The proposal is for the replacement of the existing stairs, while retaining the brick lower section which 
will not form part of the proposed staircase, instead forming the structural platform. There is a 
presumption in favour of the retention of the principle of the staircase however it is accepted that the 
existing staircase has limited significance beyond its function, as its design does not indicate its 
previous arrangement. On the contrary it is incongruous with the existing decorative ironmongery of 
the remainder of the Listed bridge. 
 
The proposed design for the stairs replicates the lattice ironmongery of the main section of the bridge 
and is thus considered a more appropriate design than the existing. An element of the existing 
staircase  is to be retained. This ensures that there is evidence of the previous staircase, which is a 
positive conservation approach.  
 
Wheel troughs on stairs do make the route easier for cyclist and are usually affixed to heritage assets 
in such a way that they are reversible. In this instance the stairs are being replaced to make the use 
of wheel trough more practical. The stairs are not considered detrimental and there is no objection.  
 
PCC Rights of Way Officer – Supports the application as the changes will improve access to the 
prow network from Wansford station. 
 
The Open Spaces Society - No comments received 
 
Ramblers (Central Office) - No comments received 
 
Huntingdon District Council - No comments received 
 
Nene Valley Railway - No comments received 
 
Peterborough Local Access Forum - No comments received 
 
Sutton Parish Council – Objection.  Given the safety concerns, loss of tranquillity and amenity, the 
availability of superior alternatives, weight of inaccuracies, lack of details and misrepresentation, 
Sutton Parish Council Strongly objects to the primary application. 
 
Comments to the listed building application to modify steps on the NVR bridge: 
1. The new steps are considerably larger than those existing and obscures more of the beautiful 

bridge structure and supports. 
2. During special events and weekends the vehicular and pedestrian traffic visiting NVR can be 

considerable.  Many families with young children visit and extra pedestrians with bicycles will 
create additional hazards. We have not seen any Health and Safety study or any 
recommendations relating to the potential change in circumstances. 

61



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

3. Climbing the stairs with cycle wheels in a trough, especially in the wet, will be a further hazard 
to consider. 

1. Given the points listed above Sutton PC believes this application should be rejected. 
 
Wansford Parish Council -  Do not like the idea of use of tarmac and Cattle Grids therefore we 
are generally opposed to this proposal although we are sympathetic with what Cycle West are 
trying to do. 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 0 
Total number of responses: 0 
Total number of objections: 0 
Total number in support: 0 
 
No representations have been received. 
 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The proposal is assessed against Policy LP19 of the Local Plan which places emphasis on the 
protection of designated heritage assets and their settings.  All proposals that would directly affect 
any heritage asset should be accompanied by a Heritage Statement. 
 
The proposal is also assessed against section 16 (heritage considerations) of the NPPF.  Para 189 
requires that applications should describe the significance of any heritage assets affected.  The level 
of detail should be proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to 
understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance and para 192 advises that local 
planning authorities should take account of: a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; b) 
the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable communities 
including their economic vitality; and c) the desirability of new development making a positive 
contribution to local character and distinctiveness. 
 
A Heritage Statement supports the application.  The only change to the listed structure will be the 
replacement of the existing steel steps which extend from the main span of the bridge down on to 
the flood plain, incorporating a brick lower section. The steps are not part of the original 19th century 
structure and presumed to date from the renovation works in the 1970’s.  The new steps would be 
built up to the existing footbridge, with a wheeling channel allowing bicycles to be wheeled up more 
easily and a waiting area.  
 
The new steps would be larger than the current staircase and would extend further along the length 
of the floodspans.  The balustrade of the stairs would match the existing ‘lattice work’ design of the 
bridge parapet both in style and colour.  
 
The Conservation Officer has assessed the proposal and considers that the proposed design for the 
stairs replicates the lattice ironmongery of the main section of the bridge and is thus considered a 
more appropriate design than the existing. It is also noted that an element of the existing staircase 
in terms of the stairs at the bottom are retained. This ensures that there is evidence of the previous 
staircase, which is a positive conservation approach.  
 
The Officer considers that the existing staircase has limited significance beyond its function, as its 
design does not indicate its previous arrangement. On the contrary it is incongruous with the existing 
decorative ironmongery of the remainder of the Listed bridge.  With regard to the wheel trough these 
are usually affixed to heritage assets in such a way that they are reversible. In this instance the stairs 
are being replaced to make the use of wheel trough more practical and is not considered detrimental 
and there is no objection. 

62



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

 
The Officer notes that whilst there is no suggestion from the applicant that the proposals are 
necessary for continued productive use of the site, part of the justification of the works is that they 
will enhance the public interaction with the heritage assets on the site. Although no evidence has 
been submitted regarding the extent of this benefit, it is clear there would be a benefit to the proposal.  
 
The Conservation Officer has responded to comments made by Sutton Parish Council regarding the 
safety of the new arrangement.  As the use of a trough is common, it would be unreasonable to 
require a safety assessment as suggested and in any event this is not a material consideration for 
the listed building application.  
 
The Public Rights of Way Officer supports the application as the changes will improve access to the 
public rights of way network from Wansford station. 
 
Wansford Parish Council are not supportive of the tarmac and Cattle Grids and are generally 
opposed to this proposal. This is not for consideration as part of the Listed building application. 
 
 
 
6 Conclusions 
 
Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been  
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of  
the development plan and specifically: 
 
- It is considered that the work will not have an adverse impact on the character and appearance of  
the listed building and would accord with section 66(1) Planning (Listed Buildings and  
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and is in accordance with Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and the  
National Planning Policy Framework (Heritage considerations) (2019). 
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The case officer recommends that Listed Building Consent is GRANTED subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
  
C 1 Works to which this consent relates shall be begun no later than the expiration of three 

years beginning with the date of the decision notice. 
  
 Reason: In accordance with the provisions of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
  
C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 
 

• Location Plan 

• Proposed route between Sutton and Wansford Station sheet 7 of 7 drg. no.  11965-
DWG-PCW-FC-07 Rev C 

• Proposed New Steps at Wansford Railway Viaduct Images 1 and 2 

• Heritage Statement – November 2020 
  
 Reason:  In  order  to  preserve  the  special  architectural  and  historic  character  of  the  

listed building;  in  accordance  with  the  provisions  of  the  Town  and  Country  Planning  
(Listed Buildings  and  Conservation  Areas)  Act  1990  (as  amended),  Policy  LP19  of  
the Peterborough Local Plan 2019 and Section 16 of the NPPF. 

  
 

63



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

C 3 Prior to the installation of the stairs hereby approved the details of materials and finishing 
colour shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
  
 Reason:  In  order  to  preserve  the  special  architectural  and  historic  character  of  the  

listed building;  in  accordance  with  the  provisions  of  the  Town  and  Country  Planning  
(Listed Buildings  and  Conservation  Areas)  Act  1990  (as  amended),  Policy  LP19  of  
the Peterborough Local Plan 2019 and section 16 of the NPPF. 

 
 

Copies to Councillor: Gavin Elsey 
 

64



The Site

Print Date: 03/06/2021

Planning Committee Location Plan- 20/01070/FUL-35 Westgate, Peterborough PE1 1PZ

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:1,000

0 10 20 30 405
Meters

Scale
65



This page is intentionally left blank

66



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Planning and EP Committee        ITEM NO. 3 
 
Application Ref: 20/01070/FUL  
 
Proposal: Subdivision of ground floor retail shop and associated alterations to form 

6x Class E(a) retail units and taxi cab office (sui generis), change of use 
of second floor to restaurant (Class E(b)) and associated external 
alterations 

 
Site: 35 Westgate, Peterborough, PE1 1PZ,  
Applicant: Gujjar Investments Limited 
Agent: Mr Iqbal 
 
Referred by: Councillor M Jamil 
Reason: Insufficient pick-up space for taxi customers; noise and fumes from taxis; 

no need for a further taxi office 
  
Case officer: Mr M A Thomson 
Telephone No. 01733 4501733 453478 
E-Mail: matt.thomson@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site Description 
The application site comprises a three storey terraced building situated within the core of the City 
Centre on the southern side of Westgate. The buildings along Westgate follow a strong building 
line, situated at the back edge of the footway, however, comprise a variety of building age, style 
and appearance. 
 
The ground floor of the building comprises a fully glazed shop front with a recessed pedestrian 
entrance and large fascia, and the upper floors are concrete panel and pebble dash with 
comparatively small openings off-set from one another. The building has a large two storey flat roof 
extension to the rear, with a fire escape that leads to the rear delivery yard.  
 
The building has historically been occupied as retail use at ground floor with offices/storage above 
(formerly Maplins), however, at the time of writing this report, the building is understood to be 
vacant.  
 
To the immediate east is a former bank (33 Westgate) a locally listed building which has planning 
permission for retail and shop front alterations at ground floor (App Ref: 19/00192/FUL) and prior 
approval to change the use from office to residential on the upper floors (App Ref: 
20/00080/PRIOR). To the west (37 Westgate) is a tattoo shop, with a delivery entrance beyond. 
Situated opposite is Beales Department Store.  
 
This section of Westgate is subject to two-way traffic with a 30mph speed limit.  There are double 
yellow lines on either side of the carriage way, and immediately in front of the application site there 
is a taxi rank capable of accommodating 4x Hackney Carriages.  
 
The application site is situated within the City Centre Conservation Area, and is defined as being 
within a Primary Shopping Frontage.  
 
Proposal 
The Applicant seeks planning permission for 'Subdivision of ground floor retail shop and 
associated alterations to form 6x Class E(a) retail units and taxi cab office (sui generis), change of 

67



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

use of second floor to restaurant (Class E(b)) and associated external alterations.”  
It is understood that the taxi cab office would be for the benefit of a private hire taxi company, and 
is discussed in further detail below.  
 
The proposed shop front alterations comprise the installation of 4x new pedestrian openings 
serving a Cab Booking Office, retail units and the upper floors, as well as he installation of transom 
and stall risers. A smooth white render finish is also proposed for the upper floors on the front 
elevation, facing Westgate, and the installation of an external extraction flue to the rear elevation.    
 
When the application was originally submitted, it sought to extend the proposed restaurant on the 
top floor to form a shisha lounge and storage area. However, further to reviewing this element of 
the proposal, it was noted that No. 33 Westgate to the east had extant consent to convert the 
upper floors from office to residential, and this would have had an unacceptably adverse impact on 
these future occupiers. As such, the first floor extension, forming shisha lounge and storage has 
been omitted from the proposal.  
 
2 Planning History 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
07/01871/ADV Internally illuminated fascia sign, projecting 

sign and non-illuminated window graphics 
Permitted  23/01/2008 

 
03/01347/ADV 

 
Replacement illuminated fascia sign 

 
Permitted  

 
06/11/2003 

 
AD009/76 

 
Illuminated projecting sign and illuminated 
fascia and entrance sign 

 
Permitted  

 
14/04/1976 

 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions.  
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the Conservation Area or its setting, or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) 
 
Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (2019) 
 
LP06 - The City Centre - Overarching Strategy  
Promotes the enhancement of the city centre. Major new retail, culture and leisure developments 
will be encouraged. It is promoted as a location for new residential development and as a location 
for employment development including mixed use. Improvements to the public realm will be 
promoted and the historic environment protected. 
 
LP12 - Retail and Other Town Centre Uses  
Development should accord with the Retail Strategy which seeks to promote the City Centre and 
where appropriate district and local centres. Retail development will be supported within the 
primary shopping area. Non retail uses in the primary shopping area will only be supported where 
the vitality and viability of the centre is not harmed. Only retail proposals within a designated 

68



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

centre, of an appropriate scale, will be supported. A sequential approach will be applied to retail 
and leisure development outside of designated centres. 
 
The loss of village shops will only be accepted subject to certain conditions being met. New shops 
or extensions will be supported in connection with planned growth and where it would create a 
more sustainable community subject to amenity and environmental considerations provided it is of 
an appropriate scale. 
 
LP13 - Transport  
LP13a) New development should ensure that appropriate provision is made for the transport needs 
that it will create including reducing the need to travel by car, prioritisation of bus use, improved 
walking and cycling routes and facilities.  
 
LP13b) The Transport Implications of Development- Permission will only be granted where 
appropriate provision has been made for safe access for all user groups and subject to appropriate 
mitigation. 
 
LP13c) Parking Standards- permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all 
modes of transport is made in accordance with standards. 
 
LP13d) City Centre- All proposal must demonstrate that careful consideration has been given to 
prioritising pedestrian access, to improving access for those with mobility issues, to encouraging 
cyclists and to reducing the need for vehicles to access the area. 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP17 - Amenity Provision  
LP17a) Part A Amenity of Existing Occupiers- Permission will not be granted for development 
which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, public and/or private green space or natural 
daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to 
minimise opportunities for crime and disorder. 
 
LP17b) Part B Amenity of Future Occupiers- Proposals for new residential development should be 
designed and located to ensure that they provide for the needs of the future residents. 
 
LP18 - Shop Frontages, Security Shutters and Canopies  
LP18 a) Shop Frontages (including signage)- Permission will only be granted if the design is 
sympathetic, it would not harm the character and appearance of the street and advertisements are 
incorporated as an integral part of the design. 
 
LP18 b) External Shutters- Permission will only be granted where there is demonstrable need in 
terms of crime; the property is not listed or within a conservation area; the shutter is designed to a 
high standard and is perforated. 
 
LP18 c) Canopies- Will only be acceptable on the ground floor of a shop, café, restaurant or public 
house and only if it can be installed without detracting from the character of the building or 
surrounding area. 
 
LP19 - The Historic Environment  
Development should protect, conserve and enhance where appropriate the local character and 
distinctiveness of the area particularly in areas of high heritage value.  
 
Unless it is explicitly demonstrated that a proposal meets the tests of the NPPF permission will 

69



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

only be granted for development affecting a designated heritage asset where the impact would not 
lead to substantial loss or harm. Where a proposal would result in less than substantial harm this 
harm will be weighed against the public benefit. 
 
Proposals which fail to preserve or enhance the setting of a designated heritage asset will not be 
supported. 
 
LP46 - City Core Policy Area  
Part a General - Within the City Core the council will seek development of the highest quality which 
strengthens the area including the retail, leisure, tourism and civic focus. New development must 
improve the townscape and public realm, protect Cathedral views, preserve or enhance heritage 
assets, protect and enhance existing retail. Additional car parking will only be supported in 
exceptional circumstances. 
 
Peterborough Shop Front Design Guidance SPD (2014) 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Licensing Team (09.03.21) 
Object - The presence of a taxi cab office in this location would serve no identifiable benefit when 
considering that there is a well-established taxi rank located immediately opposite the premises 
and the junction with Park Road.   

As relatively recent history has demonstrated, the private hire booking office (A2B Euro Cars) 
located at 62 Westgate had a detrimental impact on the ability of hackney carriages to effectively 
ply for hire from the taxi rank located in the locality of the bus station due to loss of trade. If the 
same were to happen to the taxi rank located opposite the proposed site, the effect would likely be 
that the hackney carriage trade would migrate to the already congested ranks on Broadway with 
the potential for this to result in issues relating to congestion and traffic flow. Furthermore, and as a 
consequence, should the proposal be granted in its current form, this would doubtless serve to 
heighten tensions between the private hire and hackney carriage trade in the area.    
 
At present there is no information provided regarding parking provision for private hire vehicles. It 
is reasonable to assume that should a taxi cab office be situated at this location then this will 
generate an increase in private hire traffic in the locality with private hire vehicles parking, waiting, 
idling etc. between fares; affecting overall traffic flow and negatively impacting the air quality in an 
area of heavy pedestrian footfall.   

If the proposal is to be granted, then it should be granted subject to conditions that would prohibit 
private hire vehicles from stopping at the site and prohibit members of the public from entering the 
site for the purposes of booking a taxi. Such conditions are proportionate and necessary and have 
been adopted previously when considering proposals for change of use from B1 to a 24-hour taxi 
booking office in a busy commercial/retail area of the city - as was the case with 2 Alma Road (App 
Ref: 19/01137/FUL).  
 
PCC Peterborough Highways Services (29.04.21) 
No objection - No. 35 Westgate is located within the City Core area of Peterborough City Centre 
therefore on-site parking facilities shall not be required as employees and visitors for the retail 
units, restaurant and taxi office shall have easy access to the site via public transport and a range 
of public car parks and cycle parking facilities nearby. 
 
The supporting evidence states that customers book a taxi at the booking office and wait along 
Westgate for the taxi to arrive. It has been confirmed by PCC’s Parking Enforcement Team that it  
is permissible for customers to board and alight a private hire taxi cab in the loading bays and on 
the double yellow lines along Westgate. 
 
If the LPA are minded to approve the proposals, the LHA would request that a temporary  2 year 
planning consent is granted.  This shall allow the situation to be reviewed and to ascertain the 

70



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

impact, if any, upon the nearby public highway. 
 
A planning condition is also sought, securing details of any temporary facilities during construction.  
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer (PALO) (26.02.21) 
No objection - Further to reviewing Police incidents and crimes between January to December 
2019 and 2020 (pre-Covid lockdown), within the vicinity of the application site, incidents were low 
with 9 recorded in 2019 and 7 in 2020.  Of slight concern, is that that this area does attract robbery 
with violence incidents and shoplifting, which has been confirmed following discussions with the 
local policing team. Notwithstanding this, this Office is supportive of the proposed plans, however, 
would ask that security measures for the taxi cab office are secured by condition to protect staff 
and customers, as Officers do see issues of offences outside taxi cab offices late at night/early 
morning.   
 
PCC Pollution Team (14.04.21) 
No objection - The submitted noise assessment and the plant associated with the proposed 
restaurant are noted however, as the type of restaurant has not been confirmed, Officers cannot 
say for certain that the proposed filtration equipment would be sufficient to protect neighbouring 
occupiers from smell, grease or smoke. As such, a pre-occupation condition is requested, which 
shall confirm the type of restaurant and ensure matters of smell, grease and smoke are 
satisfactorily mitigated, and that the plant meets the noise criteria in the acoustic report. 
 
PCC Conservation Officer (17.02.21) 
No objection – There no objections to the shop front alterations as these are considered to be an 
overall betterment when considering what is currently in place, and conform to the Peterborough 
Shop Front Guidance (2014). However, the proposed roller shutters would not accord with the 
Peterborough Shop Front Guidance. There is no objection to the replacement windows, providing 
that these utilise aluminium frames, or the use of render, providing details of which shall be 
secured by condition.  
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 7 
Total number of responses: 41 
Total number of objections: 41 
Total number in support: 0 
 
41x letters of representation have been received from 30 addresses raising the following concerns: 
 

− There is no need for a shisha bar or restaurant 

− The proposed uses would result in noise and pollution, particularly to neighbouring flats 

− The shop front does not need to be altered; the proposed changes would look very odd and out 
of place, especially with the introduction of roller shutters 

− 6x retail units at ground floor would could pose a fire and safety risk 

− Westgate carries a variety of vehicular traffic, including buses and delivery vehicles 

− Westgate already has two taxi-tanks and a taxi office 

− The proposed taxi office would be right next to the Hackney Carriage parking area 

− The proposed taxi office would result in Anti-social behaviour, between drivers and especially at 
late hours 

− The proposed taxi office would result in private hire vehicles touting for illegal taxi business 

− The proposal would increase movement of cars, congestion and pollution in the City Centre 

− There is no dedicated parking for the proposed taxi-office, and there are insufficient disabled 
parking bays within the City Centre  

− There are highway safety concerns during pick-up and drop-off of customers  

− There is no need for a taxi office in this location, there is a taxi rank right outside  

− Competition between businesses and division between drivers 

71



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

− There are already other taxi offices in the area 

− There are historic issues which have been reported to the Council, however these have not 
been resolved and are on-going  

− If the application is permitted, will PCC guarantee that the Taxi Office would abide by all 
conditions and enforce traffic flow, anti-social behaviour and illegal trade  

− A Section 106 legal agreement should be used to prevent vehicles from privately picking up 
from outside the office 

 
Councillor Jamil has asked that the application be referred to Planning Committee, on the 
following grounds: 
 
‘I am doing so on the grounds of not being satisfied that there would be adequate pick up points for 
the mini cabs, the extra noise and fume pollution from additional cars being brought in to the city 
centre to lick up passengers, there is also a Hackney rank just outside the proposed venue and a 
further taxi office around a 100 yards away.’ 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main considerations are: 
- Fall-back position 
- Principle of development  
- Design, layout and the heritage matters 
- Crime 
- Access, parking and highway implications 
- Neighbour amenity 
- Future occupier amenity 
 
a) Fall-back Position 
As detailed in Section 1 above, the application site is presently vacant but was formerly in use as a 
retail unit at ground floor and offices/storage to the upper floors.   Further to changes to the Town 
and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended) (hereinafter called the UCO), the 
following use classes have been re-defined and are now known as: 
 
Class A1 (retail) = Class E(a) 
Class A3 (restaurant) = Class E(b) 
Class B1 (offices) = Class E(g) 
 
As such, the entire existing planning unit is currently considered to be within a lawful use of Class 
E of Pat A of Schedule 2 of the UCO.  Section 55(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended) clearly states that any change of use within the same use class is not to be taken as 
constituting development, and therefore planning permission is not required.  As such, it is possible 
for the current building to change to any use within Class E without the need for planning 
permission.   
 
In addition, Section 55 of the Act states that the subdivision of existing units is only taken to 
constitute development requiring planning permission where this relates to subdivision of a building 
(including any part it) used as a dwellinghouse for use as 2 or more separate dwelling houses.  As 
such, subdivision of a commercial premises does not, in itself, require the benefit of planning 
permission.   
 
The above constitutes the ‘fall-back’ position and is a material consideration in the determination of 
the current application.   
 
b) Principle of development 
The application site is situated within the identified City Core policy area, the Primary Shopping 
Area (PSA) and a Primary Shopping Frontage (PSF).  
 

72



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

Taxi Office and Retail Units 
As detailed in part (a) above, the subdivision of the existing premises does not require the benefit 
of planning permission.  Therefore, whilst 7no. units are to be created on the ground floor of the 
premises, which represents a significant intensification of the use of the site, this in itself does not 
require planning permission and therefore could not reasonably be resisted as part of this 
application.   
 
Similarly, the retail use proposed falls within Class E of the UCO and that is the current lawful use 
of the site.  This therefore does not represent a material change of use for which planning 
permission is required. 
 
However, the proposed taxi office use which is proposed within part of the ground floor of the site, 
does not fall within any defined use classes and is therefore sui generis.  This element of the 
proposal does constitute a material change of use for which permission is required.   
 
As the application site is situated on a Primary Shopping Frontage (PSF), Policy LP12 is engaged.  
This policy advises that the overall strategy is to promote the vitality and viability of the retail 
centre, with retail and restaurant uses acceptable in principle.  It also allows for non-
retail/restaurant uses within PSFs provided that certain criteria are met - namely, that a window 
display is maintained, that the proposal would be likely to maintain or increase footfall along the 
frontage, and that the proposed use would not result in a concentration of non-retail/restaurant 
uses.  
 
The proposal includes the provision of a new shop front which, as discussed in detail below, is 
considered to represent an improvement in terms of the overall design of the building from the 
existing.  An active display window would therefore be maintained.   
 
Turning to the mix of uses, when assessing this section of Westgate, to the immediate west is a 
Tattoo Parlour (sui generis use) and to the immediate east is a former bank which has planning 
permission for retail at ground floor and residential above, with a number of retail units beyond to 
the east.  On this basis, it is considered that the large majority of units within the PSF are within 
retail use and therefore there would be no concentration of non-retail/restaurant uses as a result of 
the change of use of part of the street frontage to a Taxi Office.   
 
Finally, consideration must be given to whether the proposed use would be likely to maintain or 
increase footfall along the frontage.  From the information provided by the Council’s Licensing 
Team, it is evidence that existing Taxi Offices generate regular footfall throughout the day and 
night.  There is no reason to believe that the current proposal would differ from this experience and 
therefore the proposal would maintain footfall along the frontage.   
 
It is noted that considerable concern has been expressed with regards to the potential conflict 
between Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers in terms of competition.  In addition, the 
Council’s Licensing Team and Councillor Jamil have advised that there is adequate provision by 
virtue of an existing call office at No.63 Westgate such that the proposal is not necessary.  These 
views are noted, however, competition is not a planning matter, and is not something that can 
legally be considered in the determination of this application.  Further, there are no specific 
planning policies which preclude the use proposed, and as set out above, it is considered that the 
proposal accords with the policies in place to protect retail frontages.  
 
Restaurant 
The scheme also proposes a restaurant use at second floor.  There are no policies within the Local 
Plan which dictate the use of upper floors in the City Core, which specifically require them to be 
used as incidental storage, office or residential uses. As such, the use of the second floor as a 
restaurant use would also go towards diversifying the range of uses within the City Centre. That 
said, given the range of permitted changes under Class E and that subdivision of a commercial 
premises does not constitute ‘development’ requiring planning permission, the use proposed does 
not require the benefit of planning permission.   

73



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 8 

 
As such, the proposal would not have an adverse impact on the primary shopping frontage, and 
the development would go towards bringing forward a diverse range of uses within the City Centre. 
On this basis, the proposal accords with Policy LP6, LP12 and LP46 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019).  
 
c) Design, Layout and the Heritage Matters 
To facilitate development, alterations to the shop front, as well as the upper levels, are proposed.  
 
The application site is located within the designated City Centre Conservation Area.  Section 72(1) 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) requires that 
special regard be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 
conservation areas. This is further reinforced through the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019) which states that great weight should be given to the conservation of heritage assets. 
 
Significance is one of the guiding principles in relation to assessing the impact of proposals upon 
the historic environment, and is defined in the NPPF as ‘the value of a heritage asset to this and 
future generations because of its heritage interest’. Such interest may be archaeological, 
architectural, artistic or historic, and it may derive not only from a heritage asset’s physical 
presence, but also from its setting. 
 
With regards to the proposed shop front, this is considered to be an overall betterment compared 
to the existing in situ.  The final detailing in terms of materials to yet to be confirmed (and can be 
secured by condition) but the overall composition includes many of the traditional features of shop 
fronts in the City Centre - transoms, stall risers and console brackets - which are actively promoted 
within the Peterborough Shop Front Guidance SPD (2014).  It is considered that this element of the 
proposal would result in an enhancement to the appearance of the property’s frontage and 
therefore the appearance of this part of the Conservation Area, a view shared by the Council’s 
Conservation Officer.   
 
The proposed shop front design does include the provision of external roller shutters to the central 
recessed communal doorway, albeit no details as to the design of these have been provided.  The 
introduction of external roller shutters is only permitted in exceptional circumstances, whereby the 
provisions of Policy LP18 are met.  This is discussed in more detail below, however it is not 
considered that the current proposal meets with this policy requirement and therefore, the shutters 
are not accepted in this instance.  Their introduction would result in the creation of an oppressive 
and ‘dead’ frontage to one of the key streets within the City Core, and would result in unjustified 
harm to the appearance of the Conservation Area.  For the avoidance of doubt, a condition shall be 
imposed which explicitly prevents their installation as part of this proposal.  
 
The proposal also includes replacement of the existing upper floor windows.  There is no objection 
to the replacement of these windows, providing that these utilise aluminium frames, details of 
which shall be secured by condition. With regards to the proposed flue, this would be sited to the 
rear-most area of the building and would project marginally above the existing ridge height.  It 
would be sited within an area which is relatively hidden from the main views of the streetscene and 
Conservation Area, and would have little and no negative impact upon the locality in visual terms.   
 
Finally, the scheme also proposes to utilise a white render finish to the upper floors of the front 
elevation of the building. It is noted that this elevation currently utilises a pebbledash fenestration, 
which is atypical with the era of construction of the building.  However, this is not considered 
suitable for a Conservation Area and the existing building appears tired, and out of keeping with 
the historic core of the city centre. Whilst there are no objections to the use of a smooth render, the 
Conservation Officer has advised that a white render would result a striking appearance on the 
street scene which would also result in some degree of harm to the appearance of the 
Conservation Area and should therefore be avoided. To overcome this concern, a condition is 
recommended, requiring that the render match the adjacent locally listed building (former bank), 
which is an off-white, almost sand coloured render.  Such a condition would ensure that the final 

74



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 9 

finish represents an improvement upon the existing appearance without resulting in harm in itself to 
the appearance and visual amenity of the streetscene and wider area.   
 
Subject to conditions being appended with respect to no roller shutters, as well as details of render 
and openings to be submitted, the proposal would preserve the setting and significance of the 
Conservation Area, and would not have an unacceptably adverse impact on the character or 
appearance of the host building or immediate street scene, and the proposal would accord with 
Policies LP16, LP18 and LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and the Peterborough Shop 
Front Design Guidance SPD (2014). 
 
d) Crime 
The Police and Architectural Liaison Officer has been consulted as part of the application given the 
proposed Taxi Office use.  They have raised no objections to the proposal but have highlighted 
matters which should be considered.   
 
Further to reviewing Police incidents and crimes between January to December 2019 and the 
same period in 2020 (prior to the pandemic lockdown), within the vicinity of the application site, 
incidents of crime were low (9 recorded in 2019 and 7 in 2020).  However, the Police have advised 
that of some concern, is the type of crime that this area attracts - principally robbery with violence 
incidents and shoplifting.  There is the potential that the introduction of the proposed Taxi Office 
could result in more customers within the vicinity of the area which are at risk from robbery.  
Furthermore, such offices can at night-time, result in the generation of offences and anti-social 
behaviour.   
 
Notwithstanding this, the Police have raised no objections to the proposed use subject to the 
introduction of security measures for the Taxi Office which could reasonably be secured by 
condition to protect staff and customers.   
 
Taking the above into account, it is considered that whilst the site has potential to generate late 
night/early morning issues of anti-social behaviour (ASB), whilst customers wait for their taxi, there 
is nothing to suggest that the development would form a site that would result in unacceptable 
levels of ASB. To ensure that this is the case, Officers are recommending a two year temporary 
permission be granted.  This would enable sufficient time for the use to operate and for 
assessment of the crime/ASB risk to be better established.  Subject to conditions being attached 
which would secure security measures for the taxi cab office and a temporary consent, the 
proposal would go toward mitigating crime and ASB, and the proposal would accord with Policy 
LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and Paragraph 91(b) of the NPPF (2019).  
 
Turning to the proposed roller shutters, Policy LP18 requires that there must be a proven crime 
need before their introduction will be supported, alongside evidence that other less obtrusive 
alternative measures have first been used and found to be ineffective.  There has been insufficient 
evidence of sustained crime provided by either the Applicant or Police to justify external roller 
shutters on this site, nor has evidence that other alternative measures have been tried been 
provided.  As such, the proposed roller shutters are unacceptable in principle.  As set out above, a 
condition shall be appended advising these do not form part of the proposal, for the avoidance of 
any doubt.  
 
Officers are conscious that letters of representation have raised concerns of conflict between 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire drivers. However as stated above, competition is not a planning 
matter, and is not something that can be considered in the determination of this application. Any 
matters of conflict of this nature should be directed to the Police.  
 
e) Access, Parking and Highway Implications 
The application site is situated within the City Core, served by a range of public transport means.  
Under the Council’s adopted parking policy, the provision of on-site parking in this area is not 
necessary and therefore, the development is not required to provide dedicated off-street parking 
spaces for staff or customers. 

75



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 10 

 
Turning first to the proposed Class E uses (retail units and restaurant), the fall-back position is 
such that these uses do not require the benefit of planning permission and nor does the 
subdivision of the unit to create smaller Class E units.  Therefore, in planning-terms, whilst it is 
accepted that the proposal could result in an intensification of the use of the site, a refusal on this 
basis could not be sustained at appeal given the fall-back position.  Furthermore, as the site is 
located within the City Centre which is readily accessible by public car parks and sustainable 
methods of travel, and such uses are prevalent within the area, it would not be reasonable to resist 
the proposal on the basis of these uses.    
 
Turning to the proposed Taxi Office use, the Applicant has advised that members of the public 
would be able to walk to the proposed book a private hire taxi in the office, or alternatively using 
the Autocab App. It is understood this provides an alert as to when and where the taxi is due to 
arrive, therefore customers would be on the street waiting to be picked up. It is understood that 
customers could currently use the Autocab App, and be picked up from Westgate irrespective of 
the presence of an office.  
 
It has been confirmed by the Council’s Parking Enforcement team that it would be permissible for 
the boarding and alighting of taxis to legally take place either within loading bays, bays dedicated 
to on-street parking, or on double yellow lines, all of which are present along Westgate.  This is 
however subject to the driver in question undertaking a period of observation, i.e. ensuring that 
there was no loading taking place within the loading bay.  
 
The Council’s Parking Enforcement team has raised the question as to where the private hire 
vehicles would wait in anticipation of picking up from Westgate, as there is concern that there 
would be temptation for taxis to idle illegally within the vicinity of the site.  This concern is noted 
however, taxi vehicles could be situated anywhere within the City when they receive a call for 
collection and where a taxi may wait is the responsibility of the driver, who would be bound by the 
Highway Code and subject to regular review of their license.   In any event, it is not considered that 
the presence of a call office would, in itself, attract vehicles to idle nearby awaiting a fayre.  
However, to ensure that no undue impact to the safety of the surrounding public highway results 
from vehicles awaiting fayres and regularly picking up/alighting customers, the LHA has request a 
two year temporary consent.  This would enable sufficient time to demonstrate that the business 
can operate without resulting in an adverse highway safety hazard. At the end of two year 
temporary period, a fresh planning application would need to be submitted. If the Local Planning 
Authority and Council’s Parking Enforcement team were in receipt of reasonable and upheld 
complaints, this may mean a permanent permission would be resisted.  
 
Officers are aware that immediately in front of the application site is a Hackney Carriage taxi rank, 
and letters of representation have raised serious concerns with regards to the potential for private 
hire vehicles to park in this area, potentially taking business illegally. These concerns are noted 
however, it is understood from the Council’s Parking Enforcement team that private hire vehicles 
are not permitted to park in these spaces, and the enforcement of such would be down to the 
Parking Enforcement team and the Police, which is a matter separate to the Planning process. 
Accordingly, as this matter is covered by alternative legislation, and does not in itself pose a direct 
highways safety danger, this is not a matter that can be considered in the determination of this 
application.   
 
The Local Highway Authority have sought a condition be attached with respect to securing details 
of temporary facilities to facilitate construction works and ensure that no deposits are made onto 
the public highway.  However, were the undertakers to obstruct the public highway, they would 
need to apply for a licence from the Highway Authority. As this matter is covered by separate 
legislation, an informative shall be attached and a condition is not considered necessary.  
 
Further, it is noted that the Council’s Licensing team have objected to the proposal, requesting that 
if the proposal is to be granted, a condition be imposed that would prohibit private hire vehicles 

76



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 11 

from stopping at the site and prohibit members of the public from entering the site for the purposes 
of booking a taxi, as was the case with 2 Alma Road (App Ref: 19/01137/FUL).  
 
It should be highlighted that each case is considered on its individual planning merits. The example 
referred to at 2 Alma Road was situated within Millfield District Centre, on the corner of Alma Road 
and Lincoln Road, whereby conditions were appended stating members of the public could not 
enter the site to book taxis, nor could customers be picked up or dropped off. A further condition 
stated that no taxis shall visit the site at any time. However, further to reviewing he Design and 
Access Statement which accompanied this application, the proposed development was explicitly 
for a satellite taxi office only, and stated that there would be no pickups or drop offs from the 
location. As such, the conditions used at Alma Road reflected what was sought by the Applicant.    
 
Planning conditions must meet the tests set out under Paragraph 55 of the NPPF (2019), which 
states, ‘planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only imposed where they are 
necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and 
reasonable in all other respects’. The application site is situated within the City Centre, where there 
is no requirement for the development to provide dedicated off-street parking for staff as it is 
considered to be a sustainable location, served by a variety of public transport means. Further, the 
proposed booking office would be situated within a Primary Shopping Frontage and Officers would 
not wish to sterilise such a frontage by prohibiting members of the public from being able to enter 
the site particularly so given there is no overriding highway safety reason to do so. As such, it is 
not considered the conditions used at Alma Road would be reasonable or enforceable in this 
instance. That said, Officers have suggested a two year temporary condition, which will allow 
relevant bodies (the Local Highway Authority, Licensing and the Police) to monitor the use, and if 
at the end of this period there has been legitimate complaints, which have been upheld, a 
permanent permission may not be granted.  
 
Letters of representation have also highlighted that Westgate carries a variety of vehicular traffic, 
including buses and delivery vehicles, and the proposal would increase movement of cars, 
congestion and pollution in the City Centre. For the reasons set out above, it is understood private 
hire vehicles may board and alight passengers on double yellow lines if it safe to do so. The onus 
is on the driver of the vehicle, who will be bound by the Highway Code. Officers are mindful that 
this operation could take place currently, however, a temporary consent has been recommended to 
ensure the development would not result in an adverse highway safety hazard.  
 
Taking the above into account, and subject to the conditions set out above, it is not considered that 
the proposal would result in a sever or unacceptable impact upon the surrounding public highway 
network and as such, the proposal is in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019).   
 
f) Neighbour Amenity 
The application has been accompanied by a Noise Assessment (Acoustic Associates, 
SS/J3551/17868-1, February 2021), as well as manufacturer details of the proposed extraction 
equipment which would serve the proposed restaurant. Officers are conscious that this report 
refers to a Shisha bar, however for the avoidance of any doubt, this no longer forms part of the 
proposal.  
 
The Council’s Pollution Control Officer has raised no objections to the proposal, noting the 
submitted noise assessment and the plant associated with the proposed restaurant. However, as 
the type of restaurant has not been confirmed, The Officer cannot say for certain that the proposed 
filtration equipment would be sufficient to protect neighbouring occupiers from smell, grease or 
smoke. As such, a pre-occupation condition has been requested, which requires that the type of 
restaurant be provided alongside details of the extraction equipment to ensure that matters of 
smell, grease and smoke are satisfactorily mitigated, and that the plant meets the noise criteria in 
the acoustic report.  This is noted, however the restaurant use does not require the benefit of 
planning permission and therefore, a pre-occupation condition is not considered to be reasonable 
given this fall-back position.  In the event that the restaurant use began without the correct filtration 

77



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 12 

equipment, this matter would be dealt with by other statutory nuisance legislation.  However, a 
condition to secure the details of the extraction equipment prior to their installation would be 
considered reasonable and directly related to the development which requires permission (i.e. the 
flue itself).   
 
Such a condition is considered to be reasonable and necessary to ensure no harm results to 
neighbouring residential occupants.  Officers are mindful that the adjoining building has prior 
approval for office to residential conversion (reference 20/00080/PRIOR), and this is extant until 
2023. Therefore, there is the strong likelihood that sensitive residential receptors will be in close 
proximity to the proposed flue.   
 
Subject to this condition, the development would not result in unacceptably adverse levels of noise 
or disturbance to neighbouring occupiers, nor would it result in adverse levels of smells, odour or 
smoke, and the proposal would accord with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
g) Future Occupier Amenity 
The taxi office, the front ground floor retail unit, three of the retail units on the west elevation and 
restaurant would be afforded satisfactory levels of natural light and outlook. Officers are mindful, 
however, that 2 of the ground floor retail units would not be afforded any outlook and would be 
wholly reliant on artificial light. Given that the ground floor historically has been used as retail, 
where, given the depth of the building, there was a reliance on natural light, this relationship is 
accepted in this instance. For this reason, the proposal would accord with Policy LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
h) Other Matters 
The following matters were also raised within letters of representation:  
 
Competition and Conflict 
Officer Response: Letters of representation, including comments raised by the Councils Licensing 
team, have raised concerns of competition and potential conflict between Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire drivers, advising that there already exists a taxi office and two taxi ranks on Westgate 
and the Private Hire Office would be situated directly in front of a Taxi Rank. However, competition 
between businesses is not a material planning consideration, and cannot be considered. Any 
conflict should be directed to the Police.  
 
There is no need for a shisha bar or restaurant  
Officer Response: This no longer forms part of the proposal. 
 
The shop front does not need to be altered; the proposed changes would look very odd and out of 
place, especially with the introduction of roller shutters 
Officer Response: The external changes are considered to be a betterment by the Council’s 
Conservation Officer. For the reasons and conditions set out above, the proposal would enhance 
the setting and significance of the Conservation Area.  
 
6x retail units at ground floor would could pose a fire and safety risk;  
Officer Response: This is a matter for building regulations, and is separate to the planning process.  
 
There is no dedicated parking for the proposed taxi-office, and there are insufficient disabled 
parking bays within the City Centre 
Officer Response: As noted above, it is understood Private hire may board and alight passengers 
on double yellow lines if it is safe to do so. The lack of disabled parking bays should be directed to 
the portfolio holder for the City Centre. As the site is situated within the City Core, the development 
is not required to provide dedicated off-street car parking.  
 
There are historic issues which have been reported to the Council, however these have not been 
resolved and are on-going 
Officer Response: On-going and historic issues such as this are the responsibility of the relevant 

78



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 13 

department within the Council, and does not prejudice the granting of planning permission.  
 
If the application is permitted, will PCC guarantee that the Taxi Office would abide by all conditions 
and enforce traffic flow, anti-social behaviour and illegal trade 
Officer Response: It is the responsibility of the landowner to abide by any conditions imposed 
however in the event that a future occupier were in breach of a condition on the planning decision 
notice, this would need to be directed to the council’s Planning Enforcement team.  
 
A Section 106 legal agreement should be used to prevent vehicles from privately picking up from 
outside the office 
Officer Response: It is understood that Private Hire Vehicles are not allowed to pick up, drop off or 
wait within a taxi rank, and this is covered under separate legislation. This therefore cannot be 
duplicated through the planning system.  
 
6 Conclusions 
 
Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically: 
 
- The proposed change of use would go towards providing a diverse range of uses within the City 
Centre, and would not result in a concentration of non-retail/restaurant uses. The proposal would 
therefore preserve the vitality and viability of the City Centre and Primary Shopping Frontage, and 
the proposal would accord with Policies LP6, LP12 and LP46 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019);  
- The proposed external alterations would enhance the setting and significance of the Conservation 
Area and adjacent locally listed building, and would not harm the character or appearance of the 
host building or immediate area, and would accord with Policies LP16, LP18 and LP19 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019); 
- The proposed uses and external alterations would not have an unacceptable harmful impact to 
neighbouring amenity, and would provide satisfactory amenity for future occupiers, in accordance 
with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019); and 
- The proposal would not result in an unacceptable impact to the safety of the surrounding public 
highway network, in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The case officer recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 

 
 
C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans: 
  

- 001 Rev A (Location Plan and Proposed Block Plan) 
- 002 (Existing Floor Plans) 
- 003 (Existing Elevations) 
- 004 Rev F (Proposed Floor Plans) 
- 005 Rev E (Proposed Elevations) 

  

79



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 14 

 Reason: To clarify the approved details and to ensure the development accords with the 
reasoning and justification for granting approval. 

 
 
C 3 The taxi office use hereby permitted shall cease and the unit reverted to a use falling within 

Class E of Part A of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without amendment) no later 
than 2 years from the date that it is commenced.   

 The developer or their successors in Title shall notify the Local Planning Authority in writing 
of the date of commencement of the taxi office use no later than 7 days from the 
commencement taking place.   

 
 Reason:  To enable a period of assessment as to the highway and crime/anti-social 

behaviour impacts of the taxi office use to ensure no unacceptable harm arises, in 
accordance with Policies LP13, LP16 and LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   

 
 
C 4 The taxi call office use hereby permitted shall only take place within the area shown for 

such use on drawing number 004 Revision F.   
 
 Reason:  In order to preserve the vitality and viability of the Primary Retail Frontage and 

ensure the development accords with the reasoning and justification for granting approval, 
in accordance with Policies LP6, LP12 and LP46 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   

 
 
C 5 Prior to their use, details of the following external materials to be used in the construction of 

the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority: 

 
- Render to the upper floors;  
- Windows to the upper floors; and 
- Shopfront at ground floor level. 
 
The details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product 
type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number.  
 
The development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the approved details. 

   
 Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 

accordance with Policies LP16 and LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
  
C 6 Notwithstanding the submitted plans, the roller shutters as shown on Drawing 004 Rev F 

(Proposed Floor Plan) do not form part of this permission. 
  
 Reason: There has been insufficient evidence of sustained criminal activity against the 

property in question to demonstrate a need for the use of roller shutters, in accordance with 
Policies LP16 and LP18 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

  
 
C 7 Prior to the first use of the taxi call office hereby permitted, details of security measures, 

including any internal and external CCTV, shall be submitted to and approved to the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, the approved security measures shall be installed prior to 
first use of the taxi call office and maintained as such throughout the lifetime of the 
permission. 

 
 Reason: In the interest of preventing crime and anti-social behaviour, in accordance with 

Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 

80



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 15 

  
 
C 8 Prior to the installation of the external flue hereby permitted, details of the extraction 

equipment to be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The details to be submitted shall include the relevant manufacturer’s details and 
demonstrate accordance with the noise criteria set out within the submitted ‘Environmental 
noise assessment’ (Acoustic Associates, reference SS/J3551/17868-1).  Thereafter, the 
flue shall be installed in accordance with the approved details and maintained as such in 
perpetuity. 

 
 Reason: In the interest of protecting neighbour amenity, in accordance with Policy LP17 of 

the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) 
  
  
Copy to Councillors: Mahboob Hussain, Amjad Iqbal, Mohammed Jamil  
  
  
  
 

81



This page is intentionally left blank

82



Print Date: 14/06/2021

Planning Committee Location Plan- 20/01707/R4FUL-Nene Park Academy, Oundle Road PE2 7EA

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:2,500

0 20 40 60 8010
Meters

Scale

83



T
his page is intentionally left blank

84



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Planning and EP Committee        ITEM No. 4 
  
Application Ref: 20/01707/R4FUL  
 
Proposal: Proposed air dome covered pitch and supporting facilities building for the 

Peterborough United Football Club Training Academy, associated 
formalisation of existing parking through hard surfacing 

 
Site: Nene Park Academy, Oundle Road, Orton Longueville, Peterborough 
 
Applicant: Mr Kieran Scarff, Peterborough United Football Club 
Agent: Mr Paul Ingle, Portess and Richardson 
 
Site visit: 02.02.2021 
 
Referred by: Head of Planning Services 
Reason: Wider interest and to ensure open and transparent decision-making 
 
Case officer: Mrs Louise Simmonds 
Telephone No. 01733 45(01733) 454439 
E-Mail: louise.simmonds@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: REFUSE   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and Surroundings 
The application site forms part of the wider site currently occupied by the Nene Park Academy 
secondary school and Peterborough United Football Club (PUFC) Academy, situated on land to 
the south of Oundle Road.  The site comprises an informally laid out gravel car park used by the 
PUFC Academy, an area of amenity grassland, and the site formerly occupied by the Lakeside 
building (used for ancillary functions associated with the secondary school but long-since derelict 
and vacant) which was recently demolished. 
 
The site is accessed from Oundle Road via a signalised access which is shared by the PUFC 
Academy, secondary school and St Botolph’s Primary School situated to the north-east.   
 
Oundle Road runs east-west to the north of the site, with Ferry Meadows country park beyond to 
the north. Residential properties in Longfield Gate are located along the north-western boundary of 
the site.  To the east, the site abuts an area of woodland with Orton Hall Hotel (a Grade II Listed 
Building) and the Orton Longueville Conservation Area beyond.  To the south are the existing 
PUFC Academy buildings, with a floodlit all-weather pitch with spectator stands and grass pitches 
beyond.  The Nene Park Academy building and its landscaped grounds form the western/south-
western boundary.   
 
The PUFC Academy is long-established and is an education use in itself, falling within Use Class 
F.1 (local community and learning) albeit there are a number of associated sport facilities including 
the grass pitches and all-weather pitch with spectator stands. 
 
Proposal 
The application seeks planning permission for the construction of an air dome covered football 
pitch with associated two storey accommodation/facilities building.  In addition, formalisation of 
existing gravel parking through hard surfacing is proposed alongside some land re-profiling and 
soft landscaping.   
 
The air dome would be of dimensions: 63 metres (length) x 45 metres (width) x 11.24 metres 

85



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

(maximum height).  It would be finished largely in white polyester fabric membrane, albeit the 
north-western and north-eastern elevations would have the lower 3 metres finished in graduating 
green (from dark to light).  The dome would contain a full-size third generation all-weather football 
pitch with floodlighting.   
 
The accommodation block building would comprise changing rooms and an office space at ground 
floor, with classrooms, meeting rooms and a parent/guest lounge at first floor.  The building would 
be of dimensions: 38.8m (length) x 10m (width) x 6.87m (height).  It is proposed to be of regular 
rectangular form, with a flat roof and would be sited to the west of the air dome.   
 
The proposed car par would be positioned to the west of the accommodation building whilst the 
soft landscaping would be to the north of the air dome, to create a treed screen to the structure.   
 
It should be noted that the proposal originally included the demolition of a building on the site 
known as the Lakeside building.  This however has already been demolished through the 
exercising of permitted development rights and has therefore been removed from this application.   
 
2 Relevant Planning History 
 
Please note that the following is not the complete planning history of the application site. 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
21/00530/PRIOR Demolition of "Lakeside Building" Prior 

Approval 
Permitted  

27/05/2021 

19/01843/FUL Installation of two spectator stands (revised 
design) adjacent to existing football pitches 
 

Permitted  21/02/2020 

19/01292/FUL Installation of two spectator stands adjacent 
to existing football pitches 

Permitted  07/11/2019 

17/00521/R3FUL Proposed construction of three storey 
school building to east of Brunel Building 
with glazed link to existing buildings 
pursuant to the demolition of existing single 
storey building, proposed single storey 
extension to south west elevation of Sports 
Hall building, proposed new drop-off area at 
northern entrance and relocation of cycle 
store to accommodate 300 additional pupils 

Permitted  16/06/2017 

14/02021/R4FUL Construction of all-weather training facility, 
fencing and lighting 

Permitted  12/11/2015 

11/01287/R3FUL Construction of replacement school building 
(Nene Park Academy) and refurbishment of 
retained buildings with associated external 
works including car parking; New pre 
school building with associated external 
works. Demolition of other existing buildings 
and associated external works to reinstate 
land including the creation of grass sports 
pitches 

Permitted  13/10/2011 

 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

86



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

 
Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses. 
 
Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions. 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the Conservation Area or its setting, or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) 
 
Paragraph 38 - Decision-making 
Chapter 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities 
Paragraph 92 - Social, recreational and cultural facilities 
Paragraph 94 - School development 
Paragraph 97 - Existing open space, sport and recreation 
Chapter 9 - Promoting sustainable transport 
Chapter 12 - Achieving well-designed places 
Chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
Chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
Chapter 16 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (2019) 
 
LP7: Health and Wellbeing 
LP13: Transport 
LP16: Design and the Public Realm 
LP17: Amenity Provision 
LP19: The Historic Environment 
LP22: Green Infrastructure Network 
LP23: Local Green Space, Protected Green Space and Existing Open Spaces 
LP28: Biodiversity and Geological Conservation 
LP29: Trees and Woodland 
LP32: Flood and Water Management 
 
Peterborough Flood and Water Management SPD (2019) 
 
Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD (2019) 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Peterborough Highways Services (09.06.21 and 11.06.21) 
No objections - The Transport Statement is acceptable in terms of the predicted impact on the 
highway. From the information contained therein, it is evident that the existing parking is at near to 
capacity, especially when taking into account the traffic generated by the proposal.  The car 
parking surveys submitted indicate that there is sufficient space within the existing car parks for the 
proposed additional facilities, but it is recommended that an area for the potential future expansion 
of car parking is identified to overcome any potential issues. 
 
The existing vehicular access to the parking area does not appear to be wide enough.  The 
proposal would intensify its use and therefore should be widened to 5.5 metres.  Adequate space 
appears available to accommodate this.  
 
The 2 coach parking bays have been changed to mini bus parking bays on this drawing, but they 
still appear difficult to access. Swept path analysis should be provided to show how manoeuvres 

87



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

would take place.   
 
The proposed car park and access lighting is far brighter than the British Standard usually applied 
for highway lighting.  A maximum level of 15 lux for the access road, and 10 lux for the car parking 
area is therefore suggested.   
 
Conditions are requested securing: revision to the access width; parking and turning provision and 
retention; cycle parking provision and retention; a construction management plan/wheel cleansing; 
and revised lighting details.   
 
Lead Local Drainage Authority (15.06.21) 
No objection - Further to clarification provided by the Applicant’s Drainage consultant, the 
proposed surface water drainage scheme is accepted.  Request a condition securing details of the 
existing system that the development is proposed to discharge to and construction / technical 
details of all drainage assets prior to the commencement of development.  
 
PCC Conservation Officer (21.04.21 and 17.02.21) 
No objections - The proposed air dome is located outside an important viewing arc of Orton Hall 
(and its associated buildings) and will only be appreciated in association with the Listed Buildings 
from non-significant locations. As such there is not considered to be a material detrimental impact 
from the development upon the Listed Buildings. 
 
With regard the Orton Longueville Conservation Area, the boundary follows the tree line and will be 
directly adjacent to the air dome proposed pitch. The significance of the Conservation Area to the 
west and south of the site is as part of the historical wooded walkway.  The school has changed 
the character and relationship of the site to the Conservation Area. The character of the site is 
firmly of a school with associated sports facilities and this is considered the established baseline.  
 
Whilst there is no heritage objection to this proposal in terms of its impact on the nearby 
conservation area and listed buildings, planning officers should consider the rather alien 
appearance and prominent siting of this structure upon the public realm of Oundle Road, which is 
considered to be awkward at best. 
 
PCC Archaeological Officer (02.06.21) 
No objections - The site is located within an area of known archaeological interest, with potential 
for the presence of significant archaeological remains.  Whilst the site includes the demolished 
school buildings which originally occupied part of the current gravel car park, there are areas which 
have not been affected by truncation. With reference to the depth of groundwork, levelling may still 
affect upper deposits/features, as indicated by the contour which naturally slopes northwards to the 
River Nene. Therefore, given the archaeological potential of the site, monitoring of groundwork 
operations in the undisturbed/least disturbed areas of the proposed development site is 
recommended. 
 
PCC Wildlife Officer (26.05.21 and 06.04.21) 
No objections - The site chosen for the development is mostly amenity grassland which has poor 
connectivity to the surrounding countryside. This results in habitat which is limited in its potential for 
providing ecosystem services and biodiversity. Any loss in biodiversity will be more than 
adequately compensated for with the native tree screen being planted. 
 
PCC Tree Officer (07.06.21, 21.04.21 and 04.02.21) 
No objection - No object to the proposed development in principle, despite the loss of the early 
mature Beech tree located within the raised brick planter.  Pleased to see and accept the additional 
planting on the highest part of the bund, adjacent to the site fencing and the existing car parking, 
included within the revised Tree Screen Planting Plan. 
 
PCC Pollution Team (12.02.21 and 25.02.21) 
No objections - With regards to external lighting, it is recommended that the Applicants be required 

88



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

to demonstrate compliance with the Institute of Lighting Professionals ‘Guidance Notes for the 
Reduction of Obtrusive Light: Guidance Note 01:20’.  This could be secured by condition.   
 
With regards to noise, it I anticipated that the plant inflating the dome would result in a noise level 
of 29.6dB(A) at the nearest sensitive receptor.  This is accepted.  The issue of games noise was 
considered in the application 14/02021/R4FUL.  The hours of use proposed are also accepted.   
 
Sport England (01.06.21) 
No objections - Whilst the proposal prejudices the use, or leads to the loss of use, of land being 
used as a playing field or has been used as a playing field in the last five years, the proposed 
development is for an indoor or outdoor facility for sport, the provision of which would be of 
sufficient benefit to the development of sport as to outweigh the detriment caused by the loss, or 
prejudice to the use, of the area of playing field.  
 
Request conditions that secure: confirmation that the pitch is certified in terms of the quality of 
artificial turf; has been registered on the Football Association’s Register of Football 
Turf Pitches; and a Community Use Agreement.   
 
Environment Agency (25.05.21) 
No comments. 
 
Orton Longueville Parish Council (04.06.21, 06.04.21 and 05.02.21) 
Observations - The service road needs to be moved away from residential properties and native 
trees should be planted to obstruct the view of both the dome and road. The planting of native 
trees should also help to reduce noise and pollution.  The tree screen plan does not appear to 
have sufficient trees being planted to compensate 
 
There are concerns that formalising the car park could make flooding much worse on Oundle Road 
which is already prone to flooding after heavy rainfall. Can it be ensured that the car park has 
adequate drainage to disperse rainfall and not just leave it to slide over onto Oundle Road. 
 
Peterborough Cycling Forum  
No comments received. 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 70 
Total number of responses: 15 (including the Parish Council) 
Total number of objections: 14 
Total number in support: 0 
Local Residents/ Interested Parties: 
 
Three rounds of public consultation have taken place on the application. 
 
First Round 
A total of 11no. letters of objection were received raising the following concerns: 
 
Flooding 

 drainage of this site regularly causes significant run off down the shared access with the school 
onto Oundle Road. Hard surfacing will make this area less porous and cause a greater flooding 
risk. 

 please ensure the plans for hard surfacing include improvements in site drainage 

 how will the ground cope with the excess rain water  

 what will happen to all the rain water from the dome as at the moment the drain at the entrance 
to new parking overflows and water runs down the road to the main road 

 drainage in general is an issue at the site which can be seen after only limited rainfall at the exit 
from the site onto Oundle Road which is regularly flooded. 

89



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

 what investigations will take place to find out how water is getting into the gardens from the 
school 

 when the Academy was built the old building were to be taken down and grassed over. Instead 
the building were reused and extra car parking was created which must have an effect on rain 
soaking into the land naturally 

 has the council investigated why the surface water drains outside the Academy in Oundle Road 
continue to overflow? 

 are there any plans to install extra drainage? 

 another concern is the very poor drainage from the school site which is an ongoing problem 
causing water to flow into ours and neighbours properties 

 the drainage is already a major issue, with water running down from the school had formed a 
great deal of ice making the area very dangerous. 

 the option to drain away (rain)water freely on the site where you propose to build the air dome 
will be taken away 

 we currently experience water logging in the gardens and we can only assume this will be 
increased. 

 (application) doesn’t provide a clear enough strategy in dealing with the site drainage in periods 
of high rainfall which already causes issues 

 additional hard landscaped car parks would exacerbate the current problem despite storage 
tanks proposed. 

 
Trees 

 How many trees will be placed in front of this air dome? 

 the trees to screen the dome will take years to grow and who will tend to them 

 -Given the potential increase in visits to the site (both in construction and through normal use) I 
would also like to emphasise the necessity to retain, maintain and potentially increase the 
planting schemes between the site and the residential properties to the West, which not only 
help restrict visibility impact, but also provide a necessary sound barrier to the site. 

 double the amount of trees to be planted to reduce noise and pollution 

 trees planted behind houses to obstruct view of car park and Dome 
 
Highway Safety and Parking 

 will there be turning room in the new parking area? 

 parking has consistently been an issue on site and, come home time, our road is full of cars 
regularly blocking the residents driveways. Having further amenities on the school site will only 
exasperate the situation. 

 who would be responsible for any damage caused if there was to be a collapse in future of the 
service road leading to damage to my property? 

 increase in traffic during and after the completion on what is already an extremely busy road 

 the volume of traffic will only increase if the air dome is built, and as the proposal set out 
describes multiple increased facilities will be available, therefore increasing traffic visiting the 
site. 

 omission in the Transport Statement of all the viewpoint from the neighbouring residents and 
the impact these changes will have on them 

 only a brief mention that coaches are one mode of transport coming onto the site but they 
impact us residents when they park the other side of our fences, can there be a formal mention 
in the statement as to where they are going to park and turn round. 

 sometimes coaches return to the site late in the evening and there are more than one coach 
coming onto the site having a greater impact. 

 large vehicles such as coaches and lorries are often entering the site via the exit 

 the new intended positioning of the car park is even nearer to our houses and will have an 
impact 

 the entrance/exit to the Training Academy is directly behind our fences and so any increase in 
traffic will impact on us. 

 
Location and site 

90



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

 the air dome and the 2 supporting facilities will only be detrimental to local residents 

 could easily be built further south east to the rear of the school site. 
 
Design and character 

 the eyesore that is the air dome and the 2 storey supporting facilities will only be detrimental to 
the local residents  

 the sight of the planned dome will be a blot on the landscape and why can it not be further 
back? 

 
Other matters 

 when the new school was planned and built the school and council said they would always be a 
good neighbour, the then plan has changed out of proportion 

 lack of thought and consideration to the properties adjacent to the school site both when putting 
the application together and during the building work 

 lack of thought and consideration during previous applications are sufficient reason to oppose 
this application: Eg: the stipulation of restricted working hours in previous applications were 
ignored, lack of consideration of the contractors used on site, issues such as large industrial 
equipment ignoring signs and damage to fencing 

 concerns about the effect on our view this large construction will have so close to ours and 
neighbours properties 

 the disruption the build itself will cause 

 during the last build we were informed a large bank of trees would be planted to obscure the 
view but they never appeared. 

 failure during the last build to stick to agreed working hours if this build goes ahead this must be 
addressed. 

 extremely poor signage at school entrance and exit 

 the signage is not an attractive thing to view out of people’s windows 

 continuous construction traffic 

 I feel that owners and management of Peterborough United as well as any serving councillors 
would strongly object to this type of development so close to their home environment 

 move the road away from houses to reduce noise and pollution 

 Dome not used at weekends and Bank Holidays 
 
Second Round 
A total of 7no. letters of objection were received raising the following concerns: 
 
Design and character 

 scale of the proposal which would be further extending the built up footprint of the school site 
primarily in close proximity to existing housing  

 the design of the dome is of significant visual impact and is not in keeping with the subtlety of 
the existing school buildings 

 further to the revised plans I can see no improvements what so ever apart from the addition of 
extra trees which would take up to 20 years to mature and in the meantime we will not have the 
unsightly view of the proposed air dome obscured form our property. 

 the changes to the proposed planning application which seem to be mainly around the addition 
of trees and shrubs, which will take year to be established and if not evergreen will not hide the 
huge building from our entire view. 

 -nothing has changed from viewing the latest plan apart a few planted trees which will not 
obscure this ‘out of place’ structure 

 surely this type of building should be away from local housing? 

 along with the aforementioned points raised in my previous objections: which are drainage 
issues, extra vehicles and parking spaces, noise, unattractive signage, construction traffic and 
mere appearance and blocking of the view of many residents living here, this structure should 
not be built on the current site. 

 I do not want to see a Dome (circus tent) behind my house 

 concerns about the size of the proposed build, its impact on the surrounding environment by its 

91



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 8 

imposing nature and on the wildlife that will be impacted. 

 This current application and subsequent revised application, yet again, ignores the land to the 
rear of the school and chooses to impact us, as local residents, again 

 if the facility is deemed necessary and approved, could quite easily be built further south east to 
the rear of the school site 

 
Trees 

 trees planted previously were also ripped up or snapped off 

 trees will take 20-30 years to obstruct the view of the Dome (circus tent) 

 the revised proposal encompasses a number of trees. Are there assurances that the school 
pupils will be respectful of these? or if there is attrition of the trees due to vandalism, will there 
be a means of them to be replaced? 

 the trees that are proposed to appease the original objections will be saplings and not likely to 
reach maturity for a number of years. 

 
Drainage 

 this will not resolve the current problem of the rainwater flowing down that current hill area which 
is creating flooding issues in our gardens. 

 I have serious concerns that changing the car parking to permanent surfacing will worsen the 
already poor drainage from the site 

 when the weather is freezing this is ice and creates a hazard for pedestrians and vehicles. 

 the steady flow of water from the school site into our garden will only get worse with more 
amenities being built there 

 Anglian Water have attended our property and confirmed that the Nene Park Academy site is 
the source of the significant amount of water flowing into our property that not only is starting to 
damage elements of our garden such as a large decked area and the stability of a large block 
paved area, but also the potential to have an impact on our property 

 Drainage in general is an issue at the site which can be seen after only limited rainfall at the exit 
from the site onto Oundle Road which is regularly flooded 

 
Traffic and noise 

 the noise from increased car parking facility and proposed increase in use of the site which 
would have a detrimental effect on residents in Longfield Gate especially where the service road 
runs along the back of the  houses 

 excess traffic visiting the proposed site will create our residential street becoming an overflow 
carpark.  

 -the increased traffic is also not beneficial to the air quality 

 there already seems to be increased activity on a Sunday morning with the front care parks 
behind our houses full. Will this increase further if the proposed dome is constructed? 

 -traffic in front and behind Longfield Gate will double if this goes ahead. 

 the improved facilities are likely to increase in the number of attendees at the facilities. 

 Parking has consistently been an issue on site and, come home time, our road is full of cars 
regularly blocking the residents’ driveways 

 your proposal is to have activities throughout the day and evening, constant throughout the 
whole day. There is concern to the additional noise this will create which again will be constant. 

 
Other matters 

 I note in Peterborough Matters that it states the demolition of the school building to make way 
for the new car park is due to start the 1st May 2021 if permission is granted. I hope therefore 
that this is not a forgone conclusion that our comments and huge concerns over outlook being 
seriously compromised are being considered.  

 it is our opinion that not enough consideration has been given to the residents of Longfield 
Gate. 

 the increase in noise and pollution levels since the easing of lockdown has been significant, in 
front and behind Longfield Gate. 

 we need a reduction in noise and pollution for the sake of everyone’s health and wellbeing 

92



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 9 

 you should first monitor the noise and pollution levels in front and behind Longfield Gate with 
within Environmental Guidelines. 

 With regards to building work in general, the stipulation of restricted working hours in previous 
applications has been ignored 

 Overall, a complete lack of thought and consideration along with the detrimental impact to ours 
and our neighbours’ properties are more than sufficient reason to oppose this application. 

 
Third Round 
2no. letters  of objection was received raising the following concerns: 
 

 a 10m tall camera/light mast has been erected directly behind our property today, and 3 similar 
height flag poles have previously been erected a few years ago, showing total disregard for 
local residents by the school and football club. Can the council confirm if planning permission is 
required for this type of erection please?  

 Where have the trees gone from your latest plan? We need to plant more trees, not building a 
Dome to play football also adding another small football pitch (check your plan). 

 Traffic in and behind Longfield Gate will double if this plan goes ahead. 

 We need to see more trees behind our houses. This is needed to reduce noise and pollution, for 
the sake of health and wellbeing. 

 All trees to be planted in front of fencing not behind (check your plan). 

 Planners and Peterborough City Council don't you care about The Queen's Green Canopy, a 
tree planting initiative to mark The Queen's Platinum Jubilee in 2022 to enhance our 
environment now, and for generations to come. 

 
In addition, whilst not consulted, Anglian Water has made the following comments:  
 
The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Peterborough (Flag Fen) Water 
Recycling Centre that would have available capacity for these flows.  From the details submitted to 
support the planning application, the proposed method of surface water management does not 
relate to Anglian Water operated assets. The Local Planning Authority should seek the advice of 
the Lead Local Flood Authority or the Internal Drainage Board. 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main considerations are: 

 Principle of development 

 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area 

 Heritage considerations 

 Traffic generation, parking and highway implications 

 Drainage  

 Neighbour amenity 

 Ecology 

 Trees 
 
a) Principle of development 
 
Education and community benefit 
The proposed air dome is sought to enhance the existing facilities of the PUFC Academy such that 
it meets with the English Football League’s (EFL) criteria for a Category 2 Academy (there are 4 
categories of football academy, with Category 1 being the highest status) which PUFC has 
ambitions to reach.  The EFL describes Category 2 academies as ‘an elite development 
environment’ where players (typically recruited locally) gain access to additional coaching 
opportunities and education support.  As such, the air dome and its associated accommodation 
building are primarily proposed for education use, with the Applicant advising that during the hours 
of 8.30am – 5pm, Monday-Friday, the facility would be primarily used by Nene Park Academy 
students. 

93



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 10 

 
Paragraph 94 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) highlights the importance of 
ensuring that adequate school places are available to support communities and advises that great 
weight should be given to the need to create, expand or alter schools.  Whilst the proposal would 
not in itself increase the capacity of either the PUFC Academy or secondary school (Nene Park 
Academy) on the site, it would offer enhanced provision of facilities that would improve the offer of 
the Academy which is considered to be broadly in line with the thrust of this paragraph. 
 
Furthermore, paragraphs 91 and 96 of the NPPF highlight the importance of creating healthy, 
inclusive and safe places which secure access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for 
sport and physical activity is important for the health and well-being of communities.  The 
Peterborough Playing Pitch Strategy and Action Plan (2017) identifies that southern central 
Peterborough (within which the application site is located), had a deficiency of 7.5 adult football 
pitches to meet ‘current’ demand.   
 
The proposal would ensure that future generations of academy players and pupils of Nene Park 
Academy have access to elite sporting facilities which are available throughout the year, despite 
inclement weather.  Furthermore, the site would offer community use after 5pm on weekdays and 
during weekends.  The Applicant has advised that the proposal would increase the capacity for 
providing community use by up to 50% above existing levels, with over 500 Peterborough children 
receiving weekly coaching opportunities of between 4 and 12 hours a week.  This would go 
towards meeting the current demands of the southern part of the City and bridging the gap that 
was identified within the Playing Fields Strategy.  
 
It is acknowledged that this would bring about significant benefit to the wider community of the City 
and its sub-region. 
 
Public open space 
At present, the site is used as an open amenity grassed area and surface car park however as part 
of the redevelopment of the Nene Park Academy site whereby the secondary school was rebuilt, 
planning permission reference 11/01287/R3FUL), a condition was imposed (in part at Sport 
England's request) for the provision of 2no. junior pitches on the land subject to this application.  
To date, these pitches have not been provided.  As such, the proposal represents the loss of public 
open space which has been/should be in use as playing fields.   
 
Sport England are the statutory consultee on such applications and they have raised no objections 
as, in their view, the proposal would introduce a new facility that would be of benefit to the club, 
school, and local community such that the benefit outweighs the harm arising from the loss of 
playing field.   
 
The proposed air dome (including the associated accommodation building) would represent high 
quality sporting facilities that would be available not only to the PUFC Academy, but Nene Park 
Academy and the wider community. This is considered to be a betterment in terms of sports 
provision to the 2no. junior grass pitches which should have been provided on the site, and 
accords with the provisions of paragraph 97 of the NPPF. 
 
Taking the above into account, it is considered that the principle of development can be accepted 
in this instance subject to consideration of the proposal against other material planning 
considerations set out below.   
 
b) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area 
The proposed air dome and accommodation block would be sited on land which is readily visible 
from the public realm along Oundle Road.  They would be sited on land which sits higher than the 
public highway, and at present this is relatively open and devoid of landscaping.   
 
Turning first to the air dome, this is considered to be an unusual structure and the proposal would 
be the first seen in Peterborough.  It is acknowledged that the Applicant has given consideration to 

94



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 11 

the finish of the dome, and attempted to assimilate it into its surroundings.  As set out in Section 1 
above, the dome is proposed to be finished predominantly in a white polyester fabric with the 
exception of the lower panels of the north-west (Oundle Road-facing) and north-east (woodland) 
elevation whereby the lower 3 metres would be finished with a graduating green band and white in 
panels.  Furthermore, the proposal includes a detailed scheme of tree planting adjacent to the 
north-eastern elevation of the air dome, between this and the existing surface drop-off area/car 
park.  The scheme proposed includes some faster growing trees to provide early screening with 
the remaining species mirroring the style of planting on the Orton Hall site to the east. 
 
Whilst these attempts to reduce the impact of the proposal are noted, Officers do not consider that 
they would be sufficient to reduce the harm that would result to the visual amenity of the area.  The 
dome, by nature of its finish, height and appearance, would appear a wholly incongruous and alien 
feature within the locality. A large proportion of its stark white plastic membrane would be visible at 
a considerable distance, protruding above any landscaping that would take place (even once 
established which would take a considerable amount of time). This would be compounded by its 
siting, on higher ground that the surrounding public realm, which would only add to the dome’s 
dominance and obtrusive impact.  It is not considered that the proposed planting would be 
sufficient to adequately screen the development, at least not so for a considerable number of years 
whilst the trees mature and establish and even after that time, the dome would stand at such a 
height that much of the planting would not screen.  Even the fastest growing would take years to 
reach a height whereby the dome did not appear dominant or obtrusive.   
 
With regards to the proposed accommodation building, this would be some 5 metres lower than the 
height of the proposed air dome, and of a size and scale which is considered to be respectful of the 
existing buildings and development on the wider site.  Furthermore, the additional hardstanding 
would not be readily visible and would largely serve to formalise parking that is already present 
albeit in a neater and visually attractive manner (changing from hardstanding to a solid-bound 
surface). There is no objection to the proposed accommodation building. 
 
On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposed air dome would represent a wholly 
incongruous and alien feature which would appear unduly dominant and obtrusive within the 
streetscene.  The proposal would result in unacceptable harm to the character, appearance and 
visual amenity of the surrounding area and as such, is contrary to Policy LP16 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019).   
 
c) Heritage considerations 
 
Above-ground heritage assets 
The wider Nene Park Academy site is bound on three and a half sides by the designated Orton 
Longueville Conservation Area, and the western boundary of the school abuts the curtilage of the 
Grade II Listed Orton Hall and its associated buildings. Furthermore, there is a designed view from 
the former Orton Hall across what is now the grounds of the school.   
 
Sections 66(1) and 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as 
amended) require that special regard be paid to the desirability of protecting listed buildings and 
their settings, and also to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance 
of conservation areas. This is further reinforced through the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019) which states that great weight should be given to the conservation of heritage assets. 
 
Significance is one of the guiding principles in relation to assessing the impact of proposals upon 
the historic environment, and is defined in the NPPF as ‘the value of a heritage asset to this and 
future generations because of its heritage interest’. Such interest may be archaeological, 
architectural, artistic or historic, and it may derive not only from a heritage asset’s physical 
presence, but also from its setting. 
 
The City Council’s Conservation Officer has raised no objections to the proposal in terms of the 
impact upon nearby designated heritage assets.  With regards to the Conservation Area (CA), the 

95



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 12 

boundary follows the existing tree line which surrounds the wider school site and this tree line 
would be directly adjacent to the proposed air dome pitch. The significance of the Conservation 
Area to the west and south of the site is as part of the historical wooded walkway (Wellingtonia 
Avenue).  However, the Conservation Officer has advised that the school is located, and takes up, 
the entire open inner section of this avenue and, that this has changed the character and 
relationship of the site to the Conservation Area. The character of the site is firmly of a school with 
associated sports facilities and this is considered the established baseline against which the 
proposal should be assessed.  It is not considered that the proposed air dome or accommodation 
building would alter this relationship, as the development would read as part of the school 
buildings.  On this basis, it is not considered that the proposal would harm the character or 
appearance of the CA.   
 
With regards to the adjacent Listed Buildings, the Conservation Officer has advised that the main 
impact would be to the important view from Orton Hall across the ha-ha within the grounds.  The 
view is appreciated from the Hall looking out at what is now an all-weather pitch, a relationship that 
was previously found to be acceptable through the granting of planning permission reference 
14/02021/R4FUL.  Further, this view has been reduced in scope due to the overgrown nature of 
what is the immediate north of the Wellingtonia Avenue such that it is of limited contribution to the 
significance of the Listed Building.  The proposed air dome would be located to the north of this 
viewing arc and only appreciated in association with the Listed Buildings from non-significant 
locations.  Indeed, even then they will not be viewed in the same view. As such, the Conservation 
Officer has advised there is not considered to be a material detrimental impact from the 
development upon the Listed Buildings, and Officers see no grounds upon which to disagree with 
this view. 
 
On the basis of the above, the proposal would not result in harm to the significance of above-
ground heritage assets and is in accordance with Policy LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019) and paragraphs 193, 194 and 196 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019). 
 
Archaeology 
The application site is located within an area of known archaeological interest, and investigations 
within the wider school site have found assets which suggests Anglo-Saxon activity in vicinity.  
Whilst the proposed air dome, accommodation building and car parking would be located on land 
which has been largely subject to previous development, the Council’s Archaeologist has advised 
that there are areas which have not been affected by truncation and therefore buried 
archaeological assets may remain undisturbed. As such, the associated groundworks and site 
levelling may affect upper deposits/features. Therefore, given the archaeological potential of the 
site, monitoring of groundwork operations in the undisturbed/least disturbed areas of the proposed 
development site is recommended.   
 
Taking this into account, it is considered necessary and reasonable that archaeological 
investigation be secured prior to the commencement of any development on the site.  This could 
readily be dealt with by way of a condition. Subject to this, the proposal would not result in harm to 
potential undiscovered buried heritage and therefore the proposal is in accordance with Policy 
LP19 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019).   
 
d) Traffic generation, parking and highway implications 
The application has been accompanied by a Transport Statement which sets out the predicted 
transport impacts arising from the proposal.  This has been reviewed by the Local Highway 
Authority (LHA) who accept its contents as being an adequate prediction of the likely traffic 
generation arising from the proposal.   
 
The vehicular access from Oundle Road serves not only Nene Park Academy and the PUFC 
Academy, but also St Botolph’s Primary School.  It was subject to significant improvement over 
recent years and includes a large area of parking for drop-off/pick-up and is fully signalised.  A bus 
stop is located immediately outside the site, with a dedicated pedestrian crossing.   

96



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 13 

 
Oundle Road is relatively heavily trafficked and serves as one of the arterial routes into the City 
Centre from the west.  Whilst the Applicant has been unable, due to the current pandemic, to 
undertake accurate traffic counts of this junction, it is understood that at peak times, it operates 
close to capacity whereas for large parts of the day and at weekends it does not.   
 
Traffic generation 
With regards to traffic generation, the existing situation has been assessed with traffic surveys 
carried out. Whilst these were undertaken during the pandemic, they were done at a time when 
both the secondary school and PUFC Academy were operating normally and as such, have 
therefore been accepted.  The surveys show clearly that there are a relatively significant number of 
movements at school peak times (08:00 to 10:00 and 14:00 to 17:00) but also that a relatively high 
number of movements continue throughout the evening.  Indeed, between 18:00 and 20:00 hours, 
72 movements were observed which is generated by the changeover between Academy training 
sessions.   
 
In terms of the proposal, the Applicant has advised that it would result in 10 additional staff 
members (from 27 to 37) who would work form the site during normal school hours.  This would 
result in an additional 7 movements at school peak times.  With regards to student numbers, the 
Applicant has advised that these would largely not increase, as the facility is not intended to 
increase capacity in terms of the number of players on roll in the Academy.  Therefore, there would 
be no significant increase in traffic arriving/leaving the site at drop-off/pick-up during peak school 
hours. 
 
However, the proposal would result in additional usage out of hours and by the community, which 
the Applicant states would be in the region of a 50% increase (at most) above and beyond the 
current community usage of the site.  This would result in an increase in vehicular movements 
to/from the site after the school peak by that amount (a factor of 1.5).  The TS anticipates that this 
would mean an additional 16 vehicles in the highway afternoon peak (i.e. end of the working day) 
and between 19:00 and 20:00 hours, where movements would increase by approximately 26 
vehicles (taking the amount to 98 movements within the hour). The LHA has accepted these 
estimates, advising that they are an appropriate prediction of the likely traffic generation arising 
from the development.  
 
The predicted increase in traffic is not considered likely to result in a significant adverse impact to 
the surrounding public highway network.  At school peak times, the traffic increase would be 
relatively modest (only 7 vehicles) and the largest traffic increase from the proposal would occur 
outside of peak times whereby the junction and highway surrounding the site has adequate 
capacity.   
 
Parking 
There is a significant amount of development within the wider site comprising both education and 
community use.  This includes facilities such as the all-weather pitch to the south-eastern corner of 
the site which, when granted planning permission (reference 14/02021/R4FUL), was subject to a 
condition which secured a parking strategy for the wider site.   
  
There are currently approximately 60 car parking spaces (not demarcated) provided within the 
gravel area to the north of the main PUFC Academy building and these would be removed to 
accommodate the proposed air dome and accommodation building.  However, the proposal seeks 
to re-provide these within the area further to the west, on land upon which a building (known as the 
Lakeside building) once stood (recently demolished).  This would provide 60 new parking spaces 
which would be solid-bound and formally marked out.  As such, the proposal represents no net 
loss of parking spaces.   
 
Parking accumulation surveys were undertaken to identify the current usage of the parking gravel 
parking area.  These identified that the area was utilised at close to capacity throughout the school 
day.  Further, the LHA has advised that aerial photography shows evidence that grass areas 

97



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 14 

adjacent to this gravel car park show evidence of use (tyre marks).  However, the surveys 
identified that there is currently adequate capacity to accommodate the 10no. additional staff 
members that the proposal would generate during school hours. As such, the proposed 60no. re-
provided spaces would be sufficient during normal school hours.   
 
Outside of school hours, the other car parks within the wider site are largely available and these 
are considered adequate to accommodate the additional vehicle parking that would be generated 
by the community use of the pitch/accommodation proposed.   
 
Whilst it is noted that the LHA has advised that additional parking should be considered, with 20no. 
additional spaces generally considered to be needed as resulting from a new pitch, they have 
raised no objection to the proposal nor requested a condition that additional parking be provided.  
This is because, on balance, evidence has been provided to demonstrate that the formalisation of 
the 60no. spaces proposed is capable of accommodating the parking generated by the proposal.   
 
With regards to coach parking, the Applicant has advised that there may occasionally be additional 
trips to/from the site by coach.  However there is adequate space within the wider site to safely 
accommodate drop-off/pick-up such that no undue harm to highway safety would result.  Mini bus 
parking is proposed, with 2no. spaces shown on the submitted car park layout.  The LHA has 
requested tracking of these spaces to demonstrate how mini buses would manoeuvre, however 
Officers are of the view that there is adequate space within the vehicle circulation areas such that 
tracking would not be required.   
 
Lighting 
The LHA has raised concern with regards to the brightness of the proposed lighting to the car park 
and access road.  A detailed lighting assessment has been submitted, advising that the lighting to 
the car parking areas would be 30 lux based upon the Applicant’s assessment of the 
environmental category in which the site falls - zone E3 ‘medium brightness district’.  However, the 
LHA disagrees with this stance, as do Officers.  The lighting is considered to be excessively bright 
for a site which, whilst suburban in its setting, is relatively dark at present and the LHA has advised 
that the lighting could pose a risk to safety of the adjacent highway.  As such, it should be revised 
to be no brighter than 15 lux (access road), and 10 lux (car park).  This could readily be secured by 
condition.   
 
Cycle parking  
Secure covered cycle parking for 20no. cycles is proposed as part of the proposal.  Further, there 
is already significant cycle parking capacity within the wider site that could be utilised at times of 
community use.  This is considered adequate given the amount of development proposed and 
would encourage more sustainable methods of travel to/from the site. 
 
On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal would not result in a severe impact to 
the capacity of the surrounding public highway, safe access would be afforded to all users, and 
adequate parking provision would be retained to meet the demands arising from the development.  
Accordingly, it is considered that the proposal accords with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019) and paragraph 109 of the NPPF (2019). 
 
e) Drainage  
The application has been accompanied by a flood risk and drainage technical note which has been 
reviewed by the City Council’s Drainage Engineer.   
 
The proposal seeks to deal with surface water generated by the proposed development by means 
of infiltration.  The submitted scheme proposes to collect the surface water run-off from the dome 
roof via land drainage on both sides of the roof and convey this into a storage/infiltration tank in the 
car parking area.  In turn, the car parking area is proposed to be constructed of permeable paving 
which would also allow drainage from the roof of the accommodation block directly into it. The 
infiltration tank would then directly infiltrate the water into the underlying gravelly sand, particularly 
in the northern section of the parking area. However due to the varying extent of infiltration across 

98



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 15 

the site, the Applicant proposes to a high level overflow restricted discharge into the existing 
drainage system serving the site. 
 
Broadly, the Council’s Drainage Engineer accepts these proposals.  However, they have advised 
that information remains outstanding with regards to the detail of the existing drainage system and 
the technical drawings of the construction details of the drainage assets.  The outstanding 
information relates to the proposal that overflow from the proposed system would enter the existing 
drainage network for the site.  The Drainage Engineer has however advised that the outstanding 
information could be secured by way of a condition should permission be granted.    
 
It is considered that the proposal has demonstrated that surface water run-off from the 
development would be adequately managed and that the proposal would not result in an 
unacceptable flood risk either on the site or elsewhere.  The proposal is therefore in accordance 
with Policy LP32 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019), paragraphs 155 and 163 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2019) and the Peterborough Flood and Water Management SPD 
(2019).  
 
f) Neighbour amenity 
The proposed development would be sited in relatively close proximity to a number of residential 
properties within Longfield Gate.  At the closest point, the accommodation block (which would sit 
between the residential properties and the air dome) would be sited some 38 metres from the 
shared boundary with No.4 Longfield Gate and 45 metres from that dwelling’s primary habitable 
windows.  Whilst the proposed car parking area would be sited some 5 metres closer. It is 
accepted that this degree of separation, despite the significant ground level difference (whereby 
Longfield Gate properties sit on lower ground), is sufficient to ensure that the proposed building 
would not result in an unacceptable loss of privacy to residential occupants.  The distance would 
be adequate to ensure that sufficient privacy was maintained and prevent undue overbearing.   
 
However, Officers are of the view that the proposal would represent a significant intensification of 
the use of the site, particularly during after school hours, in the evenings and at weekends.  It 
should be noted that at present, the use of the Nene Park Academy and PUFC Academy buildings 
are unrestricted in terms of their hours of use.  The all-weather pitch operated by PUFC is subject 
to restricted hours however, and is only permitted to be in use between 08:00 to 21:00 hours 
Monday to Friday and 09:00 to 17:00 hours on Saturdays, Sundays and Public/Bank Holidays.  
The Applicant proposes that these hours of use would apply to the current proposal.   
 
The Applicant has advised (as detailed above) that the proposed air dome and facilities would be 
capable of increasing the capacity of the Academy out of school hours by 50% and the submitted 
Transport Statement has identified that between 19:00 and 20:00 hours up to 98 vehicle 
movements could result.  This represents the worst level of traffic movements but the submitted TS 
identifies that relatively considerable traffic movements following closure of the facility (at 21:00 
hours) resulting in up to 51 traffic movements.   This is considered likely to result in undue levels of 
noise and general disturbance to neighbouring occupants, and at a time when those occupants 
would reasonably expect a quiet level of amenity.  This disturbance would result from the access 
road which runs immediately adjacent to the garden boundaries of properties in Longfield Gate, the 
opening and closing of car doors within the car park, the revving of engines, and the general noise 
from talking and the congregation of people arriving/leaving the facility.  Whilst it is accepted that at 
present some degree of disturbance occurs to residents, the proposal would bring this closer and 
to a more intensive level such that unacceptable harm to amenity would result.   
 
With regards to the air dome itself, this is constantly inflated using plant/machinery which would be 
sited close to the tree line along the western boundary of the site.  The City Council’s Pollution 
Control Officer has advised that this machinery would not likely result in undue levels of noise to 
neighbouring residential properties.   
 
In addition, whilst Officers are mindful that the dome would ‘glow’ during the hours of darkness, it is 
not considered that the level of light glow would be such that it would constitute an intrusion to 

99



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 16 

residential properties.  The dome would clearly be visible to them, but this would not constitute a 
nuisance.    
 
Turning to the proposed car park lighting, the Applicant proposes relatively bright levels of lighting 
as they consider the site constitutes a ‘medium district brightness’.  However, Officers are of the 
view that the site is presently intrinsically dark and therefore, this characterisation is not correct.  
The Institute of Lighting Professionals Guidance Note 01/21 ‘The Reduction of Obtrusive Light’ 
advises on the design of lighting to ensure that it does not pose a nuisance to neighbouring 
occupants and the overall amenity of an area.  Officers are of the view that the application site 
should be characterised as a ‘low district brightness’ (Zone E2) within this document, which sets 
out lower light levels than those which are currently proposed.  Therefore, at present, the lighting 
proposal would appear unduly bright to neighbouring occupants.  Whilst this would not in itself 
represent light intrusion or amenity harm, a lower brightness level is considered necessary.  This 
could however be secure by way of a condition securing an alternative lighting layout/scheme.  
 
Taking the above into account, it is considered that the proposal would result in an unacceptable 
level of harm to the amenities of neighbouring residential occupants and is therefore contrary to 
Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   
 
g) Ecology 
The majority of the site upon which the development would be situated is not considered to be of 
high biodiversity value.  This view is agreed by the Council’s Wildlife Officer who has advised that 
the site is mostly amenity grassland which has poor connectivity to the surrounding countryside. 
This results in habitat which is limited in its potential for providing ecosystem services and 
biodiversity.  Accordingly, the proposal is likely to result in limited loss of biodiversity.  However, 
any loss is considered to be more than compensated for by way of the proposed planting to the 
front of the air dome.   
 
Notwithstanding the value on the site itself, the woodland to the east of the site for the air dome is 
known to be sensitive in terms of bats (both roosting and foraging).  This has been established 
through numerous bat surveys undertaken in respect of previous applications for development on 
the Nene Park Academy site.   However, the submitted lighting layout demonstrates that light 
levels adjacent to this woodland area would be to 3 lux, which accords with the lighting levels 
previously accepted in respect of previous developments on the site.  As such, the proposal would 
not result in excessive lighting to the woodland which could cause harm to foraging or roosting 
bats.  
 
Taking the above into account, the proposal would not result in any net loss of biodiversity or harm 
to species of principal importance.  It is therefore in accordance with Policy LP28 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019) and the Peterborough Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity SPD 
(2019).    
 
h) Trees 
Within the Nene Park Academy site are a number of mature and established trees, along with 
those which were planted as part of the redevelopment of the site less than 10 years ago.  The 
proposal seeks to retain all but one tree, with the removal of an early-mature beech tree proposed.  
The loss of this tree has been accepted by the Council’s Tree Officer as the proposal includes the 
planting of a substantial, and largely native, tree screen to the north of the proposed air dome.  
This planting includes 59no. trees which is more than adequate compensation for the loss of the 
tree proposed and exceeds the planting requirement set out in Policy LP29 of the Peterborough 
Local Plan (2019).   
 
i) Other matters 
In response to those objections raised which are not discussed above:  
 
- 10m camera pole/light 

100



DCCORPT_2018-04-04 17 

Whilst not a consideration for this application, this was installed to undertake traffic surveys needed 
to inform the Transport Statement.  It is a temporary structure.  
 
6 Conclusions 
 
The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below.   
 
Officers acknowledge that the proposal would result in an elite football academy within the City 
which would offer enhanced sporting facilities for not only the PUFC Academy itself but also Nene 
Park Academy, local schools and the wider community.  Officers further acknowledge that under 
the provisions of the NPPF, this benefit should be afforded considerable weight.   
 
However, harm has been identified as arising from the proposal.  The proposed air dome would 
appear a wholly incongruous and alien feature which harms the visual amenity of the locality, and 
considerable and unacceptable harm would result to the amenities of neighbouring occupants.   
 
It is considered that the harm that has been identified would not be outweighed by the benefits of 
the proposal and therefore, taking account of the planning balance, the scheme is considered to be 
unacceptable.   
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The case officer recommends that Planning Permission (Regulation 4) is REFUSED for the 
following reasons: 
 
  
 R 1 The proposed air dome pitch, by virtue of its design, size, scale and siting, would result in a 

wholly incongruous and alien feature within the surrounding locality.  The proposed tree belt 
landscaping would not afford sufficient screening to prevent the structure from appearing 
unduly obtrusive and visually dominant within the streetscene. The proposal would 
therefore result in unacceptable harm to the character, appearance and visual amenity of 
the surrounding area which is contrary to Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local Plan 
(2019). 

 
 
R 2 The proposal, by virtue of its siting, size and scale, would result in a significant 

intensification of the use of the wider site during evenings and weekends.  This would bring 
about increased levels of noise and general disturbance within the car parking, access and 
circulation areas that currently exist and are proposed in close proximity to residential 
properties in Longfield Gate.  Such disturbance would take place to an unacceptably 
greater level than at present, at times when neighbouring occupants should reasonably be 
expected to enjoy a quiet level of amenity.  Accordingly, the proposal would result in 
unacceptable harm to the amenities of neighbouring occupants and is contrary to Policy 
LP17 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019).   

 
Copies to Councillors: Casey, Skibsted and Walsh 
 

101



This page is intentionally left blank

102



The Site

Print Date: 03/06/2021

Planning Committee Location Plan- 21/00170/FUL- 42 Sherborne Road, Dogsthorpe. Peterborough PE1 4RJ

±© OS Crown Copyright Licence 100024236
1:1,000

0 10 20 30 405
Meters

Scale
103



This page is intentionally left blank

104



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 1 

Planning and EP Committee 29 June 2021      Item No.5 
 
Application Ref: 21/00170/FUL  
 
Proposal: Proposed conversion of dwelling to 2 flats, and erection of fence and gate 
 
Site: 42 Sherborne Road, Dogsthorpe, Peterborough, PE1 4RJ 
Applicant: MR M ASHRAF 
  
Agent: Mr Robert Gooding 
 GOOD-DESIGN-ING LTD 
 
Referred by:  Councillor Chris Ash 
Reason:  Call in if recommended for approval due to highway and neighbour 

impacts 
 
Site visit: 15.03.2021 
 
Case officer: Mr Asif Ali 
Telephone No. 01733 4501733 207123 
E-Mail: asif.ali@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and surroundings 
The application site is a semi-detached dwelling of brick and tile construction in a cul-de-sac 
location. The dwelling is located on a corner plot with a double garage to the rear. The dwelling has 
an open front garden and a fully enclosed rear garden with a detached garage building and parking 
provision to the rear of the site. 
 
Proposal 
The application seeks planning permission for the proposed conversion of the dwelling into 2 flats, 
the erection of a fence and gate, and associated alterations. The proposal would also result in the 
removal of the existing garage to the rear and installation of 2no. 5m x 2.5m parking spaces on 
existing concrete hardstanding.  
 
The proposal was revised to provide an entrance to the ground floor flat on the side elevation 
fronting the public highway.  
 
 
Planning permission 18/01202/HHFUL approved a single storey side, two storey rear extensions 
and dropped kerb. The current proposal application does not propose to extend the property but 
does make use of the extensions previously approved, which are not yet complete, within the 
proposal. The structure of the single storey side and two storey rear extensions is currently up, 
however, works were still required to complete the development.   
 

105



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 2 

2 Planning History 
 
Reference Proposal Decision Date 
18/01202/HHFUL Proposed double storey rear extension, 

single storey side extension & dropped kerb 
(revised scheme) 

Permitted  22/08/2018 

18/00939/NONMAT Non-Material Amendment (Footprint and 
roof type) to Planning Permission 
18/00370/HHFUL 

Determined  21/06/2018 

18/00370/HHFUL Proposed double storey rear extension, 
single storey side extension & dropped kerb 

Permitted  12/04/2018 

 
 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) 
 
Section 2b - There is a presumption in favour of sustainable development  
There is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For decision takers this means 
approving development proposals that accord with an up to date development plan without delay, 
and where there are no relevant policies or a polices are out of date granting permission unless 
there are other policies within the framework which provide a clear rear not to or any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significant and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the Framework as a whole. 
 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019) 
 
LP08 - Meeting Housing Needs  
LP8a) Housing Mix/Affordable Housing - Promotes a mix of housing, the provision of 30% 
affordable on sites of 15 of more dwellings, housing for older people, the provision of housing to 
meet the needs of the most vulnerable, and dwellings with higher access standards 
 
LP8b) Rural Exception Sites- Development for affordable housing outside of but adjacent to village 
envelopes maybe accepted provided that it needs an identified need which cannot be met in the 
village, is supported locally and there are no fundamental constraints to delivery or harm arising. 
 
LP8c) Homes for Permanent Caravan Dwellers/Park Homes- Permission will be granted for 
permanent residential caravans (mobile homes) on sites which would be acceptable for permanent 
dwellings. 
 
LP13 - Transport  
LP13a) New development should ensure that appropriate provision is made for the transport needs 
that it will create including reducing the need to travel by car, prioritisation of bus use, improved 
walking and cycling routes and facilities.  
 
LP13b) The Transport Implications of Development- Permission will only be granted where 
appropriate provision has been made for safe access for all user groups and subject to appropriate 
mitigation. 
 
LP13c) Parking Standards- permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all 
modes of transport is made in accordance with standards. 
 
LP13d) City Centre- All proposal must demonstrate that careful consideration has been given to 
prioritising pedestrian access, to improving access for those with mobility issues, to encouraging 

106



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 3 

cyclists and to reducing the need for vehicles to access the area. 
 
LP16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm  
Development proposals would contribute positively to the character and distinctiveness of the area. 
They should make effective and efficient use of land and buildings, be durable and flexible, use 
appropriate high quality materials, maximise pedestrian permeability and legibility, improve the 
public realm, address vulnerability to crime, and be accessible to all. 
 
LP17 - Amenity Provision  
LP17a) Part A Amenity of Existing Occupiers- Permission will not be granted for development 
which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, public and/or private green space or natural 
daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to 
minimise opportunities for crime and disorder. 
 
LP17b) Part B Amenity of Future Occupiers- Proposals for new residential development should be 
designed and located to ensure that they provide for the needs of the future residents. 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
PCC Peterborough Highways Services (LHA) (Final Comments) 
As the application is to be determined without further revised plans, the LHA makes the following 
comments on the proposals; 
 
 The LHA does not appear to have been consulted on the 2018 application which approved the 
current parking arrangement for 2 parking spaces in the area to the front of the property (accessed 
from Burford Way). 
 
In order for the parking arrangement as shown (and currently being used) to be acceptable to the 
LHA, a low-level fixed boundary treatment (i.e. wall or fence etc.) must be installed around the 
property frontage to prevent vehicles driving over the footway other than at the approved vehicular 
crossing. 
 
This being the case, and as a boundary treatment can be conditioned, the LHA would raise no 
objections to the proposal, subject to the recommended conditions and informatives being 
appended to any permission granted. 
 
PCC Peterborough Highways Services (Initial comments) 
Having reviewed the submitted plans and information, the LHA makes the following comments on 
the proposals; 
 
There is no dimensioned drawing which clearly shows the parking arrangements for the site. 
- A full dimensioned drawing detailing: 
 
- The parking arrangements to the rear, including the dropped kerb vehicular access, available 
vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility splays, and 2 parking spaces. 
 
- The existing garage as shown on these drawings appears to be too small to be considered to 
provide a parking space, therefore 2 parking bays should be shown. Any parking to the front of the 
garage would have to be 6m in length to enable the garage doors to be opened whilst a vehicle is 
parked clear of the highway. 
 
- Any gates would need to be shown for removal. 
 
It is noted that the parking is referred to as existing, but as 2 dwellings would increase the use it 
needs to be demonstrated that the parking and accesses meet current standards. 
 
 

107



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 4 

PCC Pollution Team  
Whilst we have no objections to the principle of the conversion the advice below should be 
considered by the applicant. 
 
Noise - Internal layout -advice 
This section is aware that where kitchens/living rooms/ bathrooms are placed over or adjacent to 
bedrooms, or stairwells/corridors are next to bedrooms, complaints can arise as a result of general 
living noise. There is no provision under the statutory nuisance regime to address these matters. In 
order to control noise design measures need to be considered at the planning stage. 
 
Part E of the Building Regulations contains sound-insulation requirements for separating walls, 
floor sand stairs. The requirements apply to new-build and to conversion dwellings. Where an 
existing wall, floor or stair is to become a separating element between dwellings, it is necessary 
either to show that it already meets the requirements, or to adopt a treatment which will bring it up 
to standard. 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer (PALO)  
No Objections - This office has reviewed the above full application in terms of community safety 
and potential vulnerability to crime. I have noted the addition of fencing and gates which is 
supported. I have also checked police incidents and crimes and whilst no overall concerns I do 
support the comments made by Highways in regarding to parking. This policing area does attract 
reports of neighbour disputes regarding parking issues and there are reports of criminal damage to 
vehicles. Reports received both by Police and Local Authority. 
 
PCC Open Space Officer  
No comments to make. 
 
Archaeological Officer  
No objections. 
 
Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service  
No comments received 
 
Waste Management  
No comments received 
 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 8 
Total number of responses: 7 
Total number of objections: 7 
Total number in support: 0 
 
 
Seven comments were received in total, all were in objection to the proposal. 
 
The comments objecting to the proposal can be summarised as follows: 
- The estate consists of mainly three bedroomed detached and semi-detached family houses. 
There are no flats.  
- Since the last 3 to 4 years the site has been neglected and has had unfinished conversion works. 
The former well-kept gardens, trees, hedges and on garage have been demolished and replaced 
by a weed populated open waste land that is an eyesore to many surrounding residences.  
- Since planning permission was granted to extend the site, there have been period of disruption 
due to conversion works, many times of intense activity, followed by long periods of inactivity. The 
work appears to be unfinished.  
- The proposed and current works will cause safety concerns given the site's location on the corner 

108



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 5 

of the main and only access to Burford Lawns. 
- Proposed parking will lead to reduced sight lines for vehicles approaching the corner especially 
when attempting to leave Sherborne Road.  
- Reasons for objection is that the proposal would overdevelop the site.   
- Devalue my property. 
- Increased noise through the party wall. 
- Increase the fire risk.  
- Additional odours from the kitchen and bathroom.  
- Major loss of our privacy. 
- Loss of our security due to the boundary fences having been removed.  
- Parking will cause a problem as there is only one garage which is in poor condition meaning cars 
will have to park on the road.  
- Site is located on a busy junction, which provides the only junction that allows traffic in and out of 
the estate. 
- Drivers visibility will be obscured by the parked vehicles.   
- Proposal will attract anti-social behaviour and disturb residents.  
- Rear parking area will cause an added nuisance due to a lack of adequate 
parking/loading/turning for surrounding properties.  
- Impact from the noise and disturbance from work that is to be carried out to convert the property.  
- Detrimental effect on the character of the area.  
- Extra use of vehicles will impact on climate change and the plans will need to be adapted again 
as these temporary.  
- The drawing doesn't take into consideration parking standards - parking provision for all modes of 
transport is not adequate with standards, especially to the rear which are not fit for two small 
vehicles.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

109



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 6 

5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
The main considerations are: 
 
- Design and character of the site and surrounding area 
- Neighbour amenity  
- Highway safety and parking provision 
- Pollution control 
 
a) Design and character of the site and surrounding area 
 
The proposal would result in limited external alterations to the dwellinghouse, with the installation 
of an external door on the side elevation to serve the ground floor flat and a proposed close-
boarded fence on the side of the dwellinghouse. It is considered that the proposed external 
alterations to the dwellinghouse would be of a very small scale in nature and so would not 
adversely impact the design and character of the site or surrounding area. 
 
The area does predominantly consist of semi-detached and detached dwelling houses, however, 
due to limited external changes, the only indication of the sub-division would be the additional 
external door on the side elevation to serve the ground floor flat. Objectors raised concerns with 
regards the introduction of flats within the area, however in land use planning terms flats and 
dwellinghouses are compatible land uses. The site can accommodate the required parking for both 
flats, with parking to the front for the first floor flat and at the rear of the site for the ground floor flat. 
The rear garden will give amenity space to the ground floor flat, and whilst the first floor flat will not 
have any private amenity space, it does have outdoor space at its side for the storage of bins. 
Officers are therefore of the view that the proposal would not adversely impact on the character of 
the surrounding area, and that the site can acceptable accommodate the development proposed.  
 
Officers consider that the proposal would not conflict with Policy LP16 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019), or NPPF and would not adversely affect the character or appearance of the 
surrounding area. Whilst the proposal would intensify an existing residential plot into two flats, it is 
considered there is sufficient land available to accommodate the needs of both these plots without 
adverse impact to the site or surrounding area.  
 
In light of the above it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with Policy LP16 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
b) Neighbour amenity  
 
The proposal does not look to extend the building under this planning application, it has already 
been extended under a previous permission, and the works to change the layout will mainly be 
internal. The proposal would have the living/kitchen area for the first floor flat at the rear of the site, 
however, this is mainly contained within the rear extension, beyond the shared boundary wall with 
the adjoining property No.10. The application site does have two windows at first floor level on the 
rear which were approved to serve a bedroom and an ensuite. The use of the rooms would change 
at any time without the need for planning permission and the approved bedroom window and the 
original bedroom window in the house before the property was extended, did allow overlooking into 
neighbours gardens.  The change to a kitchen and living room window, and the oblique overlooking 
into neighbours would not in Officers view result in an unacceptable reduction in the privacy in 
surrounding gardens  
 
Neighbour objections raised concerns over multiple matters which will be addressed in this section, 
although matters regarding design and character have been addressed in the above section, and 
objections over parking and noise will be addressed below. Firstly, concerns were raised over the 
state of the site and unfinished works, unfortunately these are not material matters which can be 
considered within this planning application. Further, should this application be approved a building 
regulations application would be required to ensure the necessary sound proofing and fire safety 

110



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 7 

standards are met. Concerns were also raised over the loss of security due to the boundary fence 
being removed, planning permission would not be required to remove a boundary fence and it is a 
legal responsibility of the developer to ensure compliance with the Party Wall Act and act 
reasonably during any construction works. Finally, the Cambridgeshire Constabulary was 
contacted with regards the proposal, and they supported the addition of fencing and gates, they 
also noted that the area does attract reports of neighbour disputes regarding parking issues and 
criminal damage to vehicles. No comments were made by Cambridgeshire Constabulary with 
regards any potential anti-social behaviour from the proposed development.  
 
Given the above it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with Policy LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
c) Highway safety and parking provision 
 
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) have raised no objections to the proposal subject to the 
recommended imposition of conditions to secure the proposed parking arrangements, access 
width, and visibility splays. It is considered that these conditions would be reasonable and 
proportionate to the development proposed. The LHA have also recommended conditions 
requesting details of the proposed cycle parking and the installation of front boundary treatment to 
prevent dangerous parking manoeuvres, it is considered that these conditions would also be 
reasonable, given the intensification of the use of the site.  
 
The proposed development provides two parking spaces at the front of the site and two parking 
spaces at the rear of the site, which is in accordance with PCC’s car parking standards for the 
number of bedrooms proposed within each residential unit. The parking spaces would measure 5m 
x 2.5m which accords with our parking space standard requirements.    
 
Given the above it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with Policy LP13 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019).  
 
d) Pollution control 
 
The Pollution Control team have raised no objections but provide some general guidance with 
regards to internal layouts, and the positioning of different rooms to help minimise noise 
disturbance. The proposed two flats have been designed as far as possible to follow this guidance 
and have bedrooms positioned above bedrooms and living rooms above living rooms, to help 
minimise noise disturbance between them. And whilst there may be a bit of noise disturbance to 
the proposed bedroom 2, of each flat from the others hall and bathroom, the degree of disturbance 
is not considered to be of such an extent to render the scheme unacceptable.  With regards to the 
proposed rooms sharing a wall with the adjoining property No.10, each flat’s main bedroom shares 
the majority of the party wall, with a shower room at the rear on the ground floor and a small part of 
the kitchen at first floor. This relationship with the adjoining neighbour is considered to be 
acceptable.   
 
In light of the above it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with Policy LP17 of the 
Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

111



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 8 

6 Conclusions 
 
Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically: 
 
- It is not considered the character and appearance of the surrounding area would not be adversely 
impacted by the proposed conversion of the dwelling into 2 flats, in accordance with Policy LP16 of 
the Peterborough Local Plan (2019);  
- The existing levels of neighbour amenity of the adjacent properties would  not be adversely 
impacted by the proposed development, in accordance with Policy LP17 of the Peterborough Local 
Plan (2019); and 
- The adjacent public highway would not be adversely impacted by the development, and sufficient 
car parking is proposed in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Peterborough Local Plan (2019). 
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The Executive Director of Place and Economy recommends that Planning Permission is 
GRANTED subject to the following conditions: 
 
C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended). 
  
 
C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

drawings: 
  
 - Existing Floor Plans and Location Plan (Drawing number 211204-01 Revision A) 
 - Proposed Floor Plans, Existing and Proposed Site Plans (Drawing number 211204-02 

Revision B) 
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
  
 
C 3 The 4no. vehicle parking spaces and turning shall be provided in accordance with the 

approved drawing number 211204-02 Revision B prior to the first occupation of any of the 
dwellings hereby approved. The 4no. vehicle parking spaces and turning areas shall 
thereafter be retained and not used for any other purpose other than the parking and 
turning of vehicles, for use by the occupiers of these properties. 

  
 Reason: In order to ensure that sufficient car parking and turning remains available on site 

in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan. 
  
 
C 4 Prior to the first occupation of development hereby approved, a scheme of cycle parking 

including details of its location, along with details of the type of cycle stands and shelters to 
be provided shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The cycle parking shall thereafter be installed in accordance with the approved details prior 
to first occupation of the dwelling/building to which it relates and thereafter retained. 

  
 Reason: In order to ensure that sufficient and suitable cycle parking is available in 

accordance with Policy LP13 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan. 
  
 

112



 

DCCORPT_2018-04-04 9 

C 5 The accesses hereby approved shall be provided in accordance with the details shown on 
the approved drawing number 211204-02 Revision B prior to first occupation of the 
dwelling/building to be served by them. They shall thereafter be retained in accordance with 
the approved plans. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Adopted 

Peterborough Local Plan. 
  
 
C 6 Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, details of a permanent boundary 

wall (or similar) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted. This boundary 
feature shall be installed around the frontage parking area (access from Burford Way) to 
ensure that vehicles can only access and egress by using the existing dropped kerb vehicle 
access. It shall not exceed 600mm in height within the vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility 
splays, and 1m for the remaining boundary area. The vehicular access must remain 
ungated. 

  
 The wall (or similar approved) must be installed prior to the occupation of the first floor flat 

and shall thereafter be retained. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Adopted 

Peterborough Local Plan. 
  
 
C 7 Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted, vehicle to pedestrian visibility 

splays shall be provided in accordance with the details shown on the approved layout plan 
and kept free of any obstructions over 600mm in height above ground level. 

  
 Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy LP13 of the Adopted 

Peterborough Local Plan. 
  
 
C 8 Any lighting of private roads, driveways or parking areas shall be arranged so that no 

danger or inconvenience is caused to users of the adjoining existing or proposed public 
highway. 

  
 Reason: To avoid glare/dazzle which could lead to danger to highway users, in accordance 

with Policy LP13 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan. 
  
 
 
Copies to Councillors Ishfaq Hussain, Dennis Jones and Katia Yurgutene  

113



This page is intentionally left blank

114


	Agenda
	4.1 20/01026/FUL - Land South Of Lovers Lane Sutton To Nene Valley Railway Station At Stibbington Peterborough
	Item 4.1 20.01026.FUL Foorpath Sutton location plan 2
	Item 4.1 20.01026.FUL Final Committee Report Lovers Lane

	4.2 20/01746/LBC - Planning Application Nene Valley Railway Bridge Sutton Peterborough
	Item 4.2 20.01746.LBC Nene Valley Final Committee Report

	4.3 20/01070/FUL - 35 Westgate Peterborough PE1 1PZ
	Item 4.3 20.01070.FUL FINAL Committee Report

	4.4 20/01707/R4FUL - Nene Park Academy, Oundle Road, Peterborough PE2 7EA
	Item 4.4 20.01707.R4FUL FINAL Committee Report (1)

	4.5 21/00170/FUL - 42 Sherborne Road Dogsthorpe Peterborough PE1 4RJ
	Item 4.5 Sherborne Road CO Committee Report


